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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MR E

Year ended 31 December

HE12B31HLEE
Increase/
(Decrease)
2024 2023 1o/
20244F 20234 GRiZ)
RM’000 RM’000
SEH i
Results (Audited) (Audited)
E$5 | (B %) (B Z)
Revenue W e 96,990 93,763 3.4%
Gross profit EF) 24,332 22,907 6.2%
Loss before tax FRIRATE1E (18,541) (1,465) 1,165.6%
Loss attributable to equity holders of KABIRIERFB AEM
the Company for the year FREIE (21,430) (4,249) 404.4%
Basic and diluted loss per share KABIRERB AEL
attributable to equity holders of the BREAKREEEE
Company (RM sen) (LERFW) (0.75) (0.18) 316.7%
As at As at
31 December 31 December Increase/
2024 2023 (Decrease)
%2024 F220234F 1,/
12A31H 12831H CRIZL)
RM’000 RM’000
FoH ToER
Financial Position (Audited) (Audited)
MR (B #%) (& E1Z)
Total assets M E 311,662 103,620 200.8%
Loans and borrowings B ER 4,290 6,895 (37.8%
Total equity attributable to equity holders of ANAT#EZITAE A
the Company FE(LRE R AR RE 290,485 81,222 257.6%
Current ratio (times)* TRENEEE (£5)* 6.1 5.3 15.1%
percentage
points
B
Gearing ratio (%)** B EAEIEE%) 1.5 8.5 (7.0)
Return on equity (%)*** e 7 [O] 2R (%) (7.4) (5.2) N/ATGEF
* Current ratio is calculated based on the total current assets divided by the — * MALEERDENEREEERZRBEELE

total current liabilities as at the end of each reporting year.
** Gearing ratio is calculated based on the total loans and borrowings divided
by the total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company as at the
end of each reporting year and multiplied by 100%.

e Return on equity is calculated based on loss attributable to equity holders of
the Company for each reporting year divided by the total equity attributable
to equity holders of the Company as at the end of each reporting year and
multiplied by 100%.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Chan Lok Yee (ACG HKACG)

REGISTERED OFFICE

Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 1901, 19/F, Lee Garden One
33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS

No. 1, Persiaran Sungai Buloh
Taman Industri Sungai Buloh
Kota Damansara

47810 Petaling Jaya
Selangor

Malaysia

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai, Hong Kong
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HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISOR

Taylor Wessing
21/F, 8 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

CCTH CPA Limited
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Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with
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Hong Kong
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EFEHRS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Company, | am delighted to
present the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024.

COMPANY OVERVIEW

Our Group’s businesses include (i) the provision of outsourced services,
including the provision of outsourced document management services
and related software applications and enterprise software solutions
services in Malaysia as well as the provision of outsourced insurance risk
analysis services and insurance marketing services in the PRC, (i) the
distribution and sales of medical equipment and pharmaceutical products
in the PRC, and (jii) the provision of internet hospital and brick-and-mortar
clinical services in the PRC. Our outsourced document management
services in Malaysia currently represent the largest revenue stream of the
Group and include (a) electronic document delivery, (b) document print
and mail fulfiment, (c) magnetic ink character recognition cheque print
and mail fulflment, (d) medical ID card print and mail fulfiment, and (e)
document imaging and scanning services.

Having considered the expected level of technological changes required
to meet competition and future requirements across our customer base,
our strategy is to focus on the development in IT applications and services
to give us the technological edge to stay ahead of the competition in this
market segment.

With an experienced management and development team, we will
continue to scale up our products and service capabilities to build on our
competitive strengths in our proprietary technology, process advantage
and extensive customer base. These competitive strengths have
contributed to the Group’s continued recognition as a solution provider for
the financial industry in Malaysia. We will continue to listen to our clients
to develop our products and services and identify more new business
opportunities in the PRC.

We have been expanding our footprint in the PRC in recent years and
have been engaging in outsourced insurance risk analysis services and
insurance marketing services, and distribution and sales of medical
equipment business in the PRC. Furthermore, the acquisition of 100% of
the issued shares of Sun Join on 26 January 2024 allows us to be able
to offer one-stop insurance and healthcare services to our existing and
new customers from the expanded customer base in PRC and diversify
our businesses. We will remain prudent and develop our business at a
steady pace in the PRC, and will review the performance, strategies and
development regularly.

C-Link Squared Limited
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHRS

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year of 2024, our Group recorded an increase in revenue
of approximately 3.4% from approximately RM93.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RM97.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024. The increase was mainly due to the combined
effect of (i) the increase in aggregated revenue generated from the
provision of outsourced insurance risk analysis services and insurance
marketing services in the PRC from approximately RM13.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RM17.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024; (i) the increase in revenue generated
from the provision of enterprise software solutions from approximately
RM5.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
RM®6.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2024; and (jii) the revenue
of approximately RM2.1 million generated from the provision of internet
hospital and brick-and-mortar clinical services, which was partially offset
by the decrease in revenue generated from the provision of outsourced
document management services from approximately RM73.7 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RM67.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

Our gross profit increased by approximately RM1.4 million or 6.2% from
approximately RM22.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately RM24.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.
The increase in gross profit was mainly attributable to the increase in
revenue generated from our provision of outsourced insurance marketing
services in the PRC. Our gross profit margin increased by approximately
0.7 percentage point from approximately 24.4% for the year ended
31 December 2023 to approximately 25.1% for the year ended 31
December 2024. The increase in gross profit margin was mainly due
to the decrease in the portion of our revenue generated from low profit
margin services such as the provision of document mail fulfilment
services.

Our Group recorded a net loss attributable to equity holders of the
Company of approximately RM21.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2024, as compared with a net loss attributable to equity
holders of the Company of approximately RM4.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023, mainly due to the impairment loss of goodwill
of approximately RM23.3 million in relation to the cash generating unit
principally engaged in the provision of internet hospital and brick-and-
mortar clinical services in the PRC.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EFEHRS

INDUSTRY REVIEW AND FUTURE OUTLOOK

The Information Technologies (“IT”) industry is characterized by rapid and
continuous change, driven by factors like cloud computing and Al, the
Group’s customers in the financial industry are increasingly turning to new
technologies not just to modernize their systems but also to integrate a
variety of different solutions within a single platform.

In this dynamic business environment, anticipating market shifts, adapting
quickly, and investing in new technologies are crucial for sustained
competitiveness and growth. This requires constant monitoring of market
trends, customer needs, and competitive forces to identify opportunities
and threats. Agility and flexibility are essential to respond to rapid
changing market conditions, and embracing emerging technologies
can provide the Group with a competitive advantage by enabling new
product development and business models. This capability enables the
Group to seize new opportunities, adapt strategies, and integrate new
technologies.

The Group has experienced a transition from cost-intensive method
document mail fulfilment to digital delivery and IT software solutions
in Malaysia, resulting in a shift in business model. This change leads
to lower revenue but higher gross profit. The transition signals a move
towards more efficient and potentially more lucrative services as this move
could mean higher profit margins because of lower overhead costs and
potentially higher-value services. An added positive effect of this shift
to digital services is the increased adoption of IT software solutions by
banks, including those with overseas branches.

By not simply just reacting to changes, the Group actively and regularly
assessing its performance, strategies and the external environment to
evolve its proprietary enterprise IT software and fuel its competitive edge
in Malaysia and Singapore. This proactive and forward-thinking approach
to the Group’s business strategy with a strong emphasize on continuous
investment in its offerings creates a solid foundation for new product
development and paves the way for long-term sustainable growth.

C-Link Squared Limited
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Company, | would like to take
this opportunity to express my deepest appreciation for the support of
our valued Shareholders and customers. Finally, to the management team
and all staff, | value your commitment and would like to thank you for
your contributions and hard work during the year, and | continue to look
forward to your support in the coming years.

Ma Shengcong
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEwmA D

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

We are principally engaged in (i) the provision of outsourced services,
including the provision of outsourced document management services
and related software applications and enterprise software solutions
services in Malaysia as well as the provision of outsourced insurance risk
analysis services and insurance marketing services in the PRC, (i) the
distribution and sales of medical equipment and pharmaceutical products
in the PRC, and (jii) the provision of internet hospital and brick-and-mortar
clinical services in the PRC. Our outsourced document management
services represent our largest revenue stream which include (a) electronic
document delivery; (b) document print and mail fulfilment; (c) MICR print
and mail fulfilment; (d) medical ID card print and mail fulfiiment; and (e)
document imaging and scanning services. Our subsidiaries in the PRC are
principally engaged in the operation of outsourced insurance risk analysis
services and insurance marketing services business, the distribution and
sales of medical equipment and pharmaceutical products business, and
the provision of internet hospital and brick-and-mortar clinical services in
the PRC.

Over the years, we have successfully developed proprietary enterprise
software applications focused on IT that drive digital transformation
for large companies in the banking, insurance and retail industries in
Malaysia. Our solutions are developed by our team of experienced IT
engineers having longstanding experience in both the IT and the financial
services industries, with the objective of optimising the IT document
management system of our clients. Our strategy centres on driving growth
in our core businesses by continuously developing and enhancing our
successful proprietary enterprise software which fuels our competitive
edge, expands our footprint in banking and insurance industries in
Malaysia and Singapore, and paves the way for long-term sustainable
growth.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEwR D

We have experienced an increased demand for SaaS for software
application solution delivery in Malaysia which has led to an increase in
demand from existing and new customers utilising our Streamline Suite
for enterprise software solutions services. Meanwhile, market demand
has been continuously evolving and the fast-paced development in digital
technologies has further increased the use of advanced technologies
such as Al, livestreaming and video technology to assist in multi-channel
engagement with customers, and automation to enhance business
processes. As we have been continuously strengthening our business
model to be “Future Ready”, we shall continue to invest in scaling up our
solutions and services to take advantage of this opportunity and respond
to changes more purposefully to lay the foundation for the Group’s future
innovation and growth. In addition, as we navigated several challenges
in 2024, such as high costs due to strong United States Dollar and
inflationary impacts, we look to minimize these effects by reducing costs,
reinforce innovation and continuous improvement in Streamline Suite
for enterprise software solutions services. We further look to sustain
momentum through strategic partnerships, positioning us for future
success.

In light of the above, we are upgrading our IT infrastructure and expanding
our capacity to host and provide our Streamline Suite in our Data Centre
in Malaysia, which is expected to be ready for use by the end of 2025.
This new Data Centre will contribute to our Group’s outsourced document
management services and enterprise software solutions services by
allowing our Group to enhance our document hosting capability for
electronic distribution and providing enterprise software solutions to our
customers. Please refer to the sub-section headed “Future Plans and
Prospects” in this report for more details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEwmA D

Furthermore, in recent years, we have successfully expanded and
diversified our business in the PRC. During the Reporting Period, on 26
January 2024, the Company has completed the Acquisition, and further
diversified the Group’s business by entering into the businesses of internet
hospital and providing brick-and-mortar clinical services. Through the
Acquisition of Sun Join, the Group has gained access to a comprehensive
range of services that encompass both the digital and physical aspects
of healthcare, and a ready-made platform is provided to the Group to
enter into the internet hospital market which allows the Group to capitalize
its growth potential in the PRC. At the same time, the brick-and-mortar
clinical services provide a complementary and tangible aspect to the
Group’s business. The Acquisition allows the Company to leverage the
existing infrastructure, facilities, and expertise of the clinics controlled by
Sun Join through its subsidiaries. This combination of virtual and physical
healthcare services ensures a comprehensive and holistic approach to
patient care, catering to a wide range of healthcare needs in the PRC.

FUTURE PLANS AND PROSPECTS

We intend to achieve sustainable growth in our business and create long-
term Shareholder value. To achieve our goals, we propose to implement
the following strategies:

(i) Expanding the Group’s data processing and technical capacity:

- converting an existing building we acquired in 2022 into
the new Data Centre to upgrade our IT infrastructure for
expanding our outsourced document management services
and our enterprise software solutions; and

(i) Expanding the Group’s market presence locally and exploring
expansion regionally to capture further market share:

- maintaining and strengthening our relationship with existing
customers and capturing new customers mainly in Malaysia,
Singapore, Vietnam and the PRC.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BRI th

The Group has applied approximately RM6.2 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$12.0 million) out of its internal resources for the design
and project management of the Data Centre since 2020. However,
as a result of the unprecedented outbreak of the COVID-19 Outbreak
since the beginning of 2020, the Malaysian Government implemented
a series of preventative measures throughout the country, including
put not limited to the MCO. Due to the COVID-19 Outbreak and the
countrywide lockdown measures under the MCO, the construction
plan of the Group’s new Data Centre facility had been postponed, and
as disclosed in the 2021 Announcement, the Company subsequently
decided to acquire and convert an existing building in Malaysia into the
Data Centre instead of building one itself. On 10 January 2022, the Group
entered into a provisional agreement with an independent third party to
acquire a building in Malaysia for such purpose at the consideration of
RM12.0 million (equivalent to approximately HK$22.3 million), of which
RM10.3 million (equivalent to approximately HK$19.5 million) was paid
out of the net proceeds of the Share Offer, further details of which are set
out in the Prospectus and the 2021 Announcement. The Group began
the conversion of the building into the Data Centre in June 2022. As at
31 December 2024, the conversion work was still in progress and it is
expected that the Data Centre will be ready for use by the end of 2025.
The conversion work was delayed mainly due to unexpected factors,
including but not limited to unforeseen longer time required for the (i)
design evaluation due to evolving data centre landscape in Malaysia, (i)
re-application for approval on the building, renovation and construction
plans from the local authorities in Malaysia regarding the conversion of
building usage, and (i) the tender process for appropriate construction
works to reduce cost in light of increasing prices due to inflation.

We expect the construction process of the Data Centre to be completed
by the end of 2025 and ready for use in early 2026. This new Data Centre
will contribute to our Group’s outsourced document management services
and enterprise software solutions services by allowing our Group to
enhance our document hosting capability for electronic distribution and
providing enterprise software solutions to our customers.
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The Group has expanded its footprint in the PRC and has been engaging
in outsourced insurance risk analysis services and insurance marketing
services, and distribution and sales of medical equipment business in the
PRC since July 2021 and April 2022, respectively. The complimentary
integration of the Group’s insurance risk analysis services and insurance
marketing services and the distribution and sales of medical equipment
businesses allows the Group to provide enhanced solutions with greater
operational efficiency in the long term. Furthermore, the Acquisition in
early 2024 allows the Group to be able to offer one-stop insurance and
healthcare services to its existing and new customers from the expanded
customer base in the PRC.

Going forward, the Group expects to develop advanced internet cloud
technology and big data analysis to create a comprehensive and
efficient service system for customers in the insurance and insurance
related industries in the PRC. In addition, the Group aims to further
internationalise and diversify its businesses based on such service
system. Potential business opportunities include (i) the insurance big data
business; (i) the development of health management, equipment sales
and big health business related to insurance data; and (jii) the data cloud
services for various small-to-medium enterprises, such as telemedicine,
video conferencing and other business opportunities.

In addition, in relation to the Group’s internet hospital and brick-and-
mortar clinical services, the Group plans to strategically integrate live
e-commerce with private traffic to build a “Health Science + Sales”
ecosystem, leveraging Al-driven recommendation algorithms to precisely
target consumers. Supply chain efficiency is expected to be enhanced
through partnerships with pharmaceutical logistics firms and the
deployment of regional cloud warehouses to accelerate delivery times.
The Company plans to adopt a new retail model integrating internet
hospitals with live e-commerce, to be supported by a team and scaled
across different cities and various stores through regulatory-compliant
channels. The Company also intends to expand its agent brand portfolio
by partnering with innovative medical device manufacturers, promoting
products such as test kits, wearables, and diagnostic tools through a mix
of online demonstrations and offline experience zones.

The Group will remain prudent and develop its business at a steady pace
in the PRC, and will review its performance, strategies and development
regularly.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue from contracts with customers

Our total revenue amounted to approximately RM97.0 million and RM93.8
million for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December
2023, respectively. Our revenue in 2024 was mainly derived from (i) the
provision of outsourced services mainly to financial institutions and retails
customers, including the provision of outsourced document management
services and related software applications and enterprise software
solutions services in Malaysia as well as outsourced insurance risk
analysis services and insurance marketing services in the PRC, which in
aggregate represented approximately 94.2% (2023: approximately 98.8%)
of the total revenue of the Group, (i) the distribution and sales of medical
equipment and pharmaceutical products in the PRC, which represented
approximately 3.7% (2023: approximately 1.2%) of the total revenue of
the Group, and (jii) the provision of internet hospital and brickand-mortar
clinical services in the PRC, which represented approximately 2.1% (2023:
Nil) of the total revenue of the Group.

Provision of outsourced services
Outsourced document management services

Our revenue generated from the provision of outsourced document
management services represented approximately 69.4% and 78.6%
of our total revenue for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
31 December 2023, respectively. The revenue from the provision of
outsourced document management services decreased by approximately
RM6.4 million or 8.6% from approximately RM73.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RM67.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024. Such decrease in revenue was mainly due to
the decrease in demand for document print and mail fulfilment services
for the year ended 31 December 2024, which was partially offset by the
increase in demand for electronic document delivery services.

Outsourced insurance risk analysis services and insurance
marketing services

We provided outsourced insurance risk analysis services and insurance
marketing services to our customers in the insurance or insurance related
industries in the PRC during the Reporting Period.
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Our revenue generated from the provision of outsourced insurance
risk analysis services and insurance marketing services represented
approximately 17.9% of our total revenue for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: approximately 14.3%) and amounted to
approximately BRM17.3 million (2023: approximately RM13.4 million).
Such increase in revenue was mainly attributable to the gradual
recovery in demand from the economic downturn as an aftermath of
the unprecedented COVID-19 Outbreak and the country-wide lockdown
measures in the past few years in the PRC.

Enterprise software solutions

We have provided enterprise software solutions to our customers using
our proprietary Streamline software and generate revenue mainly from
license fees, maintenance fees and implementation fees during the
Reporting Period.

Our revenue generated from the provision of enterprise software
solutions represented approximately 6.9% and 5.9% of our total revenue
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023,
respectively. Our revenue from the provision of enterprise software
solutions services increased by approximately RM1.1 million or 20.2%
from approximately RM5.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 to approximately RM6.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2024. The increase in revenue generated from the provision of enterprise
software solutions during the Reporting Period was mainly due to the
increase in customised enterprise software solutions services provided
to a financial institution in Singapore.

Distribution and sales of medical equipment and
pharmaceutical products

We have been engaged in the distribution and sales of medical equipment
business in the PRC since April 2022 and the sales of pharmaceutical
products in the PRC through our newly acquired subsidiaries in the PRC
since early 2024. The revenue generated from the distribution and sales
of medical equipment and pharmaceutical products was recognised on
either a net basis when the Group’s subsidiaries acted as an agent in the
transactions or a principal basis when the Group’s subsidiaries acted as a
principal in the transactions.

Our income generated from the distribution and sales of medical
equipment and pharmaceutical products represented approximately
3.7% of our total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
approximately 1.2%) and amounted to approximately RM3.6 million
(2023: approximately RM1.2 million).
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Internet hospital and brick-and-mortar clinical
services

We have engaged in the provision of internet hospital and brick-and-
mortar clinical services through our subsidiaries in the PRC following the
Acquisition since early 2024. Our revenue generated from the provision
of internet hospital and brick-and-mortar clinical services represented
approximately 2.1% of our total revenue for the year ended 31 December
2024 and amounted to approximately RM2.1 million (2023: Nil).

Cost of sales

Our cost of sales increased by approximately RM1.8 million or 2.5% from
approximately RM70.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately RM72.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.
Such increase in cost of sales was mainly attributable to the increase in
service fees charged by third party contractors in relation to our provision
of outsourced insurance marketing services in the PRC, which was
partially offset by the decrease in postage costs incurred in relation to our
document mail fulfilment services in Malaysia.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Our gross profit increased by approximately RM1.4 million or 6.2% from
approximately RM22.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately RM24.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.
Our gross profit margin increased by approximately 0.7 percentage
point from approximately 24.4% for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately 25.1% for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
increase in gross profit was mainly attributable to the increase in revenue
generated from our provision of outsourced insurance marketing services
in the PRC, while the increase in gross profit margin was mainly due to a
decrease in the portion of our revenue generated from low profit margin
services such as the provision of document mail fulfilment services.

Other income

Our other income amounted to approximately RM1.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately RM1.2 million), which
mainly consisted of interest income generated from fixed deposits placed
with reputable banks.
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Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses mainly represented the promotional
expenses and the staff costs incurred for the provision of outsourced
insurance risk analysis services and insurance marketing services, and
distribution and sales of medical equipment in the PRC and amounted to
approximately RM0.5 million in 2024 (2023: approximately RMO.1 million).

Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses increased by approximately RM18.2 million
or 72.7% from approximately RM25.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to approximately RM43.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2024. The increase in 2024 was mainly attributable to (i) the
impairment loss of goodwill of approximately RM23.3 million in relation to
the cash generating unit principally engaged in the provision of internet
hospital and brick-and-mortar clinical services in the PRC, and (i) the
increase in research costs, which was partially offset by the decrease
in staff costs consisting of long-service remuneration and other staff
payments. Details of the impairment loss as abovementioned are set out
in the section headed “Goodwill and impairment loss of goodwill” in this
report.

Finance costs

Our finance costs decreased by approximately RM0.2 million or 31.2%
from approximately RMO0.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately RM0.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2024,
which was mainly due to the decrease in the outstanding balance of a
term loan of the Group.

Loss before tax

Our loss before tax amounted to approximately RM18.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: loss before tax of approximately
RM1.5 million). Such increase in loss before tax was mainly due to
the impairment loss of goodwill of approximately RM23.3 million as
abovementioned.
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Income tax expense

Our income tax expense increased by approximately RMO0.6 million or
31.5% from approximately RM2.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 to approximately RM2.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2024. Such increase in the income tax expenses was mainly due to the
lesser reversal of over-estimated income tax expenses for prior years
during the year ended 31 December 2024 as compared with that for the
year ended 31 December 2023, in relation to the estimated income tax
expenses for the provision of outsourced document management services
in Malaysia and the provision of outsourced insurance risk analysis
services and insurance marketing services in the PRC.

Loss for the year

Our loss for the year amounted to approximately RM21.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: loss for the year of approximately
RM3.4 million). Such loss for the year was primarily due to the impairment
loss of goodwill of approximately RM23.3 million as abovementioned.

Goodwill and impairment loss of goodwill
Background information

On 26 January 2024 (the “Completion Date”), the Company completed
the acquisition of an aggregate of 100% of the issued shares of Sun Join
(together with its subsidiaries, the “Sun Join Group”) by Core Squared
Limited, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Pursuant to
the share purchase agreement dated 28 December 2023 (the “SPA”)
entered into between the Group and Ms. Zou Cheng (‘Ms. Zou”) and
Ms. Le Xian (“Ms. Le"), 284,550,898 and 189,700,599 new shares (the
“Consideration Shares”) were issued and allotted to Sun Join Capital
Investment Limited, which was wholly-owned by Ms. Zou, and Sun
Join Venture Management Limited, which was wholly-owned by Ms.
Le, respectively as consideration of the Acquisition. Sun Join Group is
principally engaged in the provision of internet hospital and brick-and-
mortar clinical services in the PRC. The fair value of the Consideration
Shares based on the market price of the Shares on the Completion Date
was approximately RM232,349,000 and the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed as at the Completion Date
amounted to approximately RM17,115,000. According to the requirement
of IFRS 3 “Business Combination”, the Company recognized the excess
of the fair value of Sun Join Group over the aforesaid net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed as at the Completion
Date as goodwill, which amounted to approximately RM215,234,000 as
at the Completion Date.
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Impairment assessment of goodwill as at 31 December 2024

The Company has engaged an independent valuer (the “Valuer”) to
perform an independent valuation relating to the impairment loss of
goodwill for the year ended 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the details of goodwill and the impairment loss
of goodwill for the cash-generating unit (the “CGU”) of Sun Join Group
(the “Sun Join Group CGU”) are set out as follows:
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Sun Join Group CGU BREEEREESEM 215,234 191,911 23,323

The Directors performed impairment review of the carrying amounts
of goodwill as at 31 December 2024 in accordance with International
Accounting Standard 36 “Impairment of Assets” (‘IAS 36”). IAS 36
defines impairment loss as the amount by which the carrying amount of
an asset or a CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount
of an asset or a CGU is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use.

In addition to goodwill above, property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets that generate cash flows together with the goodwill are
also included in the Sun Join Group CGU for the purpose of impairment
assessment.

Since there are insufficient comparable transactions in the market as at
31 December 2024, the Directors measured the recoverable amount of
the Sun Join Group CGU to which the goodwill had been allocated by
estimating its value in use. According to IAS 36, value in use is defined as
“the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from an
asset or cash-generating unit”.
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Valuation Methodology

In the process of valuing the CGU, the Valuer has taken into account
of the operation and financial information of the CGU and conducted
discussions with the management of the Company to understand the
status and prospect of the CGU. Estimating the value in use of an asset
or CGU involves estimating the future cash inflows and outflows to be
derived from continuing use of the asset or CGU and from its ultimate
disposal, and applying the appropriate discount rate to those future cash
flows. The Valuer has adopted the income-based approach in arriving at
the value in use of the CGU. Accordingly, in determining the respective
recoverable amounts of the Sun Join Group CGU, which is equivalent to
the business value of the Sun Join Group, the Company prepared and
estimated the future cash flows expected to arise from Sun Join Group
based on financial budgets covering a 5-year period as at 31 December
2024 (the “Cash Flow Forecast’), where the key assumptions and
estimates included the growth rates, discount rates applied and the
forecast performance based on the Directors’ view of future business
prospects and the future plans, and the Valuer used the Cash Flow
Forecast as the basis to arrive at the value in use of the Sun Join Group
CGU by using income approach, which is consistent with the requirement
of IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement” and is a commonly adopted
practice of valuers to arrive at the value in use of a CGU.

IFRS 13 states that “the income approach converts future amounts (e.g.,
cash flows or income and expenses) to a single current (i.e., discounted)
amount. When the income approach is used, the fair value measurement
reflects current market expectations about those future amounts”.

Major Assumptions of the Valuation

The Valuer has adopted certain specific assumptions in the valuation,
major ones of which include the following:

(i) all relevant legal approvals and business certificates or licenses to
operate the business in the localities in which the CGU operates or
intends to operate would be officially obtained and renewable upon
expiry;

(i) the projections outlined in the financial information provided
are reasonable, reflecting market conditions and economic
fundamentals, and will be materialized;
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(i) there will be sufficient supply of technical staff in the industry in
which the CGU operates, and the CGU will retain competent
management, key personnel and technical staff to support its
ongoing operations and developments;

(iv)  there will be no major change in the current taxation laws in the
localities in which the CGU operates or intends to operate and
that the rates of tax payable shall remain unchanged and that all
applicable laws and regulations will be complied with;

(v)  there will be no major change in the political, legal, economic or
financial conditions in the localities in which the CGU operates
or intends to operate, which would adversely affect the revenues
attributable to and profitability of the CGU; and

(vi)  interest rates and exchange rates in the localities for the operation
of the CGU will not differ materially from those presently prevailing.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the financial performance
of Sun Join Group failed to meet the cash flow forecast for the year
ended 31 December 2024 mainly due to () changes in the PRC National
Healthcare Security Administration’s policies that (a) reduced the number
of medicines that are reimbursable and sold by Sun Join Group following
an adjustment to the online medical insurance drug catalog in the PRC,
leading to decline in drug sales, (b) led to a decrease in the market prices
of certain drugs, impacting the profit in drug sales, and (c) increased
the regulatory costs related to compliance measures such as digital
prescription tracing; (i) a delay in the relocation of Sun Join Group’s
operations due to licensing requirements that was caused by unexpected
prolonged clearance procedures from the PRC government departments,
which have (a) hindered the business expansion of Sun Join Group, and
(b) negatively affected Sun Join Group’s business operations and storage
capacity for drugs and devices; (i) an increased number of public hospital
promoting their own e-platforms which led to a loss of users in private
internet hospital services; (iv) shifts in current regulations in 2024 that
prohibited internet hospitals from prescribing and delivering injectable
drugs and limited the scope of internet hospital services to online
consultations and the prescription and delivery of orally administered
drugs, food-as-medicine supplements, and exclusive Chinese medicine
patches; (v) new regulatory requirements effective from late 2024 related
to (a) the number of hours required for doctors’ onsite medical practices
in brick-and-mortar medical institutions, (b) unified management and
coordination in doctors’ working hours for onsite medical practices
and internet hospital appointments, and (c) the requirement that any
internet medical services should only be supplemental to doctors’
onsite medical practices, which altogether reduced their availabilities
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for online consultations, decreasing patient engagement; (vi) an influx
of new competitors in the medical device sector employing aggressive
pricing strategies, coupled with rising raw material prices that escalated
production costs, which diminished Sun Join Group’s competitive edge
and revenue from the distribution and sales of medical equipment; and (vii)
a shortage of qualified healthcare professionals in the labor market, which
impeded the establishment of a more competent team to provide internet
hospital and brick-and-mortar clinical services. As a result, in the Cash
Flow Forecast, the Company considered the actual financial performance
of the Sun Join Group CGU for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
management’s expectations for the market development, where key
assumptions and estimates included the growth rates, discount rates
applied and the forecast performance based on management'’s view of
future business prospects and the future plans, and adopted a lower
revenue growth for the five years ending 31 December 2029.

Based on the Cash Flow Forecast, the recoverable amounts of Sun
Join Group CGU amounted to approximately RM192,636,000 as at 31
December 2024. According to paragraph 104 of IAS 36:

“An impairment loss shall be recognised for a cash-generating unit (the
smallest group of cash-generating units to which goodwill or a corporate
asset has been allocated) if, and only if, the recoverable amount of the
unit (group of units) is less than the carrying amount of the unit (group
of units). The impairment loss shall be allocated to reduce the carrying
amount of the assets of the unit (group of units) in the following order: (a)
first, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit (group of units); and (b) then, to the other assets of the
unit (group of units) pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (group of units).”

Accordingly, the Directors have determined impairment loss of goodwill
directly related to Sun Join Group CGU amounting to approximately
RM23,323,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024. No other write-
down of the assets of Sun Join Group CGU was considered necessary.

Final dividend

The Board does not recommend the distribution of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: No final dividend).
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Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2024, total loans and borrowings of the Group
amounted to approximately RM4.3 million (31 December 2023:
approximately RM6.9 million), representing a decrease of approximately
RM2.6 million or 37.8% as compared with that as at 31 December 2023.
The Group’s loans and borrowings were at floating interest rates of 4.75%
10 6.85% (31 December 2023: floating interest rates of 4.50% to 6.85%)
and denominated in RM during the Reporting Period. As at 31 December
2024, the loans and borrowings did not consist of any secured bank loans
(81 December 2023: approximately RM1.6 million) with maturity date of
more than 2 years but not exceeding 5 years, but included secured bank
loans of approximately RM1.6 million (31 December 2023: approximately
RM2.7 million) with maturity date of more than 1 year but not exceeding
2 years, and secured bank loans of approximately RM2.7 million (31
December 2023: approximately RM2.6 million) with maturity date of less
than a year or which were repayable within one year. As at 31 December
2024, loans and borrowings of the Group of RM4.3 million were secured
by first party open charge over the leasehold land, factory building and
shoplot of the Group, and the corporate guarantee by the Company.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and bank balances
of approximately RM59.7 million (31 December 2023: approximately
RM42.7 million), which were denominated in RM, RMB and Hong Kong
Dollars.

The Group maintains a solid financial position and is able to meet its
obligations when they become due in its ordinary and usual course of
business. The current ratio, being the ratio of total current assets to total
current liabilities, was around 6.1 times as at 31 December 2024 (31
December 2023: approximately 5.3 times). The Group’s working capital
requirements were mainly financed by internal resources.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2023: Nil).

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no capital commitments (31
December 2023: approximately RM1.3 million).
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Funding and treasury policy

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policy and thus maintained a healthy liquidity position
for the year ended 31 December 2024. To manage the liquidity risk, the
Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the
liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other commitments
can meet its funding requirements from time to time. For the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group did not use any risk hedging instrument
and would consider using such if the need arises.

Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Malaysia and the PRC with most of its
transactions settled in RM, SGD and RMB. The assets, liabilities and
transactions arising from the operations are mainly denominated in RM,
SGD and RMB. Although the Group may be exposed to foreign currency
exchange risks, the Board believes that the future currency fluctuations
will not have a material impact on the Group’s operations and the Group
did not enter into in any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to
foreign exchange risks for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
Group has not adopted any formal hedging policies and would consider
adopting such policies if the need arises.

Gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s gearing ratio was approximately
1.5% (31 December 2023: approximately 8.5%), representing the total
loans and borrowings as a percentage of the total equity attributable to
equity holders of the Company as at the end of the respective years. The
decrease in gearing ratio was mainly attributable to the increase in total
equity attributable to equity holders of the Company as a result of the
issue of new Shares in January 2024 and the decrease in interest-bearing
bank loans from approximately RM6.9 million as at 31 December 2023 to
approximately RM4.3 million as at 31 December 2024.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

The management adopted a prudent investment strategy to utilise
surplus cash to generate stable interest income from low-risk investment
products. The management also monitored the investment performance
of those products on a regular basis.
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The Acquisition

On 28 December 2023, Core Squared Limited, a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the SPA with Ms. Zou and
Ms. Le, pursuant to which Core Squared Limited conditionally agreed
to purchase, and Ms. Zou and Ms. Le conditionally agreed to sell, an
aggregate of 100% of the issued shares of Sun Join at the aggregate
consideration of HK$474,251,497. The principal businesses of Sun
Join and its group companies are the provision of internet hospital and
brick-and-mortar clinical services. The Acquisition was completed on
26 January 2024 and Sun Join has become an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. Pursuant to the SPA, for the purpose of
settlement of the consideration, the Company issued and allotted
284,550,898 and 189,700,599 Consideration Shares to Sun Join
Capital Investment Limited, which was wholly-owned by Ms. Zou and
Sun Join Venture Management Limited, which was wholly-owned by
Ms. Le, respectively, at HK$1.0 per Consideration Share, representing
an aggregate of approximately 16.5% of the issued share capital of the
Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the Consideration
Shares.

Save as disclosed herein, the Group did not have any significant
investment nor did the Group carry out any material acquisition and
disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Issue of Shares and Use of
Proceeds from the Share Offer” in this report, the Group does not have
other future plans for material investments and capital assets as at the
date of this report.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during the year ended
31 December 2024 (including sale of treasury shares). As at 31 December
2024 and date of this report, the Company did not hold any treasury
shares.

C-Link Squared Limited
26 Annual Report 2024

WBEEIR

1R2023F12H28H A RNBl 2 HEEL2EMRBA
T Core Squared Limited 288 = K44 + 57
R BE B 175% > 1k > Core Squared Limited
ERERAEBE MBLLIh&ELETEHRHYE
BIEHESHI100%EEEETRM > BRE
#A474,251,497TB T - BEMEEERATMNE
DEBRHIEHOIHEBRREEBPMZ R
WEE B I55 2024 F1 526 H Ak MEREE A
RAEARNBIZEBL2ERBAT - RERMDE
Bz REENAE A28 25 \Sun Join
Capital Investment Limited (R L2 E%HH)
KzSun Join Venture Management Limited (F5 %4
ZEt2EHE) FI1TMHECEE284,5650,898 K
189,700,599 KB 1 > BIRAER KD &1.075
T HEBRERERBFTAEROEREERR
BEEITRAGHA16.5%-

PRSP IREEE SN > 8 E20245F 128310 1k
FE AERTEEAEARE ) BAREETE
ETERNEANBERHERBAT BHEQT
REERE-

ERRENEFEERNRRKE

BRARSE TROBTRRNEERERERAR)
BERFIREEN AEEBEAKRSHRLE
HiWERAERRENEREEN RIS -

BE - HEHELELE RGN

HZE2024F12831BIEEE » ARBHEEM
WEARAMEBE HERBELOAREEM L
mES (BREHEEERMD) °512024F12831
HNEEAKRSHE ARBUEEIFETAE
FRAD o



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEwR D

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this report, there are no significant subsequent
events undertaken by the Group after 31 December 2024 and up to the
date of this report.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 191 employees (31 December
2023: 165 employees). The total remuneration cost (including Directors’
remuneration) amounted to approximately RM11.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately RM16.9 million).

The terms of employment of employees conform to normal commercial
practice. The remuneration of the employees, Directors and senior
management of the Group is set and paid on the basis of the relevant
employees’, Director’s and senior management’s qualifications,
competence, work performance, industry experience, relevant market
trend and the Group’s operating results, etc. Discretionary bonuses are
granted to employees based on merit and in accordance with industry
practice. Other benefits including share options, retirement benefits,
subsidised medical care, pension funds and training programmes are
offered to eligible employees.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company had conditionally adopted the Share Option Scheme.
Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in the section headed
“Statutory and General Information — F. Share Option Scheme” in
appendix V to the Prospectus. No share option has been granted by the
Company pursuant to the Share Option Scheme since its adoption.

ISSUE OF SHARES AND USE OF PROCEEDS FROM
THE SHARE OFFER

The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
27 March 2020, with a total of 200,000,000 Shares issued at HK$0.63
each by way of the Share Offer, raising net proceeds of approximately
HK$73.7 million after deducting underwriting commissions and all related
expenses.
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Having considered the then property market and business environment
in Malaysia as affected by the COVID-19 Outbreak and the development
needs of the Group as set out in the 2021 Announcement on 4
November 2021, the Board resolved to, among others, change the use of
the unutilised net proceeds which were originally allocated to building the
Data Centre to acquiring and convert an existing building in Malaysia into
the Data Centre. For details, please refer to the 2021 Announcement.

Subsequently, having duly considered the development needs of
the Group as set out in the 2022 Announcement and the 2023
Announcement, respectively, the Board has, among others, resolved
to (i) reallocate the unutilised net proceeds which were originally
allocated to “strengthening the Group’s technical operation support
system” to another existing use of “engaging external software
development vendor(s) and developing new applications within the
software development plan”, (i) include the development or provision of
livestreaming and video technology capabilities, and Al capabilities for its
existing and new applications in the Group’s software development plan,
(iii) reallocate the unutilised net proceeds which were originally allocated
to “potential strategic acquisition and business opportunities” partially to
the existing use of “stepping up the Group’s marketing and sale efforts
to reach out to new customers” and partially to the existing purpose of
“engaging external software development vendor(s) and developing new
applications within the software development plan”, and (iv) include the
engagement of external service provider(s) to provide marketing, sales,
customer services and other support services for the Group’s Streamline
Suite products and services as part of its existing purpose of “marketing
and sale efforts to reach out to new customers”. For details, please refer
to the 2022 Announcement and the 2023 Announcement.
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A summary of the planned use and actual use of the net proceeds from R & EFFERIEFEAE AR NS RA LT

the Share Offer is set out below: EHHWT :
Intended use of
net proceeds as
stated in the Actual
Prospectus (and amount of
as amended as utilised net Expected
set out in proceeds Actual Actual timeline
the 2021 during the amount of amount of for utilisation
Announcement, Reporting utilised net unutilised of unutilised
the 2022 Period and proceeds net proceeds net proceeds
Percentage  Announcement up to asat asat as at the
of total and the 2023 31 December 31 December 31 December date of this
Purposes of the use of the net proceeds FiRRIESERSR net proceeds  Announcement) 2024 2024 2024 report
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HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million
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To increase technological capability and EMEHENRERAMESR/ 89.8% 66.2 - (30.2) 36.0
capacity to develop into other FIHB0EN
market vertical/parallels
~to acquire and convert an existing buildinginto ~ —E—EBAIET I B EXE 76.7% 565 - (20.5) 36.0 31 December
a Data Centre and upgrade [T infrastructure AEBETP LR RER 2025
R EREH 20254
12A318
- to engage external software development ~EEN R BB HER 13.1% 97 - 9.7) -
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The balance of unutilised net proceeds brought forward to 2024 from
the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to approximately HK$38.7
million. Notwithstanding that the utilisation of the net proceeds has been
delayed as aforementioned, as at 31 December 2024 the net proceeds
have been used and are expected to be applied for purposes which
are consistent with those as disclosed in the section headed “Future
Plans and Proposed Use of Proceeds” of the Prospectus, the 2021
Announcement, the 2022 Announcement and the 2023 Announcement.
The unutilised portion of the net proceeds has been deposited in
reputable banks in Malaysia and Hong Kong.

The business objectives, future plans and planned use of proceeds
as stated in the Prospectus, the 2021 Announcement, the 2022
Announcement and the 2023 Announcement were based on the best
estimation and assumption of future market conditions and industry
development made by the Company at the time of preparing the
Prospectus, the 2021 Announcement, the 2022 Announcement and
the 2023 Announcement, while the proceeds will be applied based on
the actual development of the Group’s business, the industry and the
economic conditions. As at 31 December 2024 and the date of this
report, there was no change in the intended use of net proceeds as
previously disclosed in the Prospectus, the 2021 Announcement, the
2022 Announcement and the 2023 Announcement. The Company will
keep observing the business environments and trends in the industries
which the Group is engaged in, in order to evaluate the use of the net
proceeds from the Share Offer to ensure it is for the best interests of the
Company, and to consider and implement alternative plans as and when
necessary and make any necessary announcements in accordance with
the Listing Rules.

ISSUE OF SECURITIES

The Company had not issued any of the Company’s securities for cash
(including securities convertible into equity securities) or sell treasury
shares for cash during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEREE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ma Shengcong (B4 ), aged 51, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director with effect from 17 November 2021
and redesignated as an Executive Director on 25 October 2022. Mr. Ma
has been appointed as the chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive
Officer, an authorised representative of the Company, the chairman
of the Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee on 1 May 2023. Mr. Ma has over 20 years of experience
in the insurance industry. From March 2017 to March 2021, he served
as the vice president of Aier Medical Investment Group Co., Ltd., an
investment company. From October 2016 to March 2021, he worked as
the preparation team leader and proposed general manager of Aier Health
Insurance Co., Ltd. From October 2014 to March 2017, he was the
general manager of the Community Finance Division in Anbang Insurance
Group (the “Anbang Group”), where he was responsible for managing
and coordinating the affairs of the Anbang Group with the government
of the PRC, and operating and maintaining the corporate, Internet and
community channels of Anbang Group. From October 2015 to December
2016, he served as the deputy general manager of the Inclusive Finance
Division and Innovative Finance Division in Anbang Group, where he was
responsible for risk control, product development, fund management
and comprehensive financial business innovation of microenterprises and
personal online credit business. From October 2010 to October 2014,
he was the deputy general manager of the Bancassurance Division in
Centennial Life Corporation and the deputy general manager of its office
in Shandong, the PRC. Between the period from August 2004 to October
2010, he worked at Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China, Ltd.,
where he took up various positions and responsibilities including the
deputy general manager and general manager of its various business
departments and branches before being promoted to supervisor of the
Bancassurance east area in August 2009. Prior to that, Mr. Ma served
as the manager of the Bancassurance department in China Ping An Life
Insurance Co., Ltd. from December 1998 to August 2004. From July
1994 to December 1998, he served as a business specialist of the Import
Department in a state-owned factory, principally engaged in the airborne
radar military industry.

In July 1994, Mr. Ma graduated from Beijing Technology and Business
University in the PRC with a bachelor’s degree in Industrial and Foreign
Trade. In December 2003, he obtained a master’s degree in Business
Administration from The Open University of Hong Kong (currently known
as Hong Kong Metropolitan University). In October 2020, he obtained
a master’s degree in Executive Master of Business Administration from
the National Development Research Institute of Peking University in the
PRC. As at the Latest Practicable Date , he is a PhD candidate in financial
management of Fordham University in the United States.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEREE

Ms. Zhang Ying (3R%), aged 44, was appointed as an Executive
Director with effect from 1 May 2023. Ms. Zhang has approximately
over 19 years of working experience in the marketing and technology
industry. She has an in-depth understanding of emerging marketing
technologies, especially in the Al field. From January 2019 to May
20283, Ms. Zhang was the marketing director of the Emerging Innovative
Business Division at Beijing SenseTime Technology Development Co.,
Ltd*., a company engaged in Al software innovation in the PRC, in which
she was responsible for product incubation and business development
of intelligent marketing products in new consumer areas. From May
2016 to December 2018, she worked as the assistant vice president
and general manager of the business unit at OpSmart Technology
Co., Ltd*., a company engaged in the development and integration of
intelligent hardware, data management platforms and precision marketing,
commercial application of big data and global network services in the
PRC. From September 2014 to December 2015, she worked as the vice
president of BlueFocus Culture Communication Co., Ltd.*, a marketing
technology company of the BlueFocus Communication Group in the
PRC. From October 2010 to April 2014, she worked as the senior
sales manager at JCDecaux China, an outdoor advertising company in
the PRC. From August 2008 to September 2010, she worked as the
assistant to the chief executive officer at the PRC branch company of
Neo Media Group, a digital marketing company. From May 2006 to
August 2008, she worked as the assistant to the general manager of the
Business Division at Avic Culture Co., Limited*, a company engaged in
public relations, fim and television, and media and outdoor advertising in
the PRC.

In July 2003, Ms. Zhang graduated from Northeastern University in the
PRC with a bachelor's degree in International Trade. In July 2007, she
obtained a master’s degree in International Media Research from the
Communication University of China in the PRC.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEREE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ling Sheng Shyan, aged 63, was appointed as a Non-Executive
Director with effect from 15 February 2019. He is responsible for advising
on the corporate and business strategies of our Group. He is also a
director of a number of subsidiaries of our Company in Malaysia. Mr.
S Ling has been the managing director and chief executive officer of
Compugraphic Forms Sdn. Bhd. (principally engaged in designing and
printing computer forms) since 1985. He had been the executive director
of Rafreq Maschinenbau Sdn. Bhd. (principally engaged in machinery
design & fabrication) for nine years until July 2018. He has also been the
director of Rejoice Home Sdn. Bhd. (principally engaged in investment
holding) and Rejoice Homes Ltd (principally engaged in buying and
seling of own real estate) since December 2005 and February 2017,
respectively.

Mr. S Ling obtained the Secondary School Honour Graduation Diploma
from High Park School and the Ministry of Education, Ontario in Toronto,
Canada in August 1979.

Dr. Wu Xianyi (2 &%), aged 58, was appointed as a Non-Executive
Director with effect from 30 July 2021. Dr. Wu has over 30 years of
teaching and research experience in the fields of actuarial science and
statistics. Dr. Wu has served as Professor of Statistics and Actuarial
Science of the East China Normal University since April 2008. From
September 2005 to February 2006, he was a Postdoctoral Fellow at the
Department of Systems Engineering and Engineering Management at the
Chinese University of Hong Kong. From August 2002 to August 2005,
he was a Postdoctoral Fellow at the Department of Applied Mathematics
of the Polytechnic University of Hong Kong. From July 1992 to August
1998, he was a lecturer at the Guiyang Medical College. From July 1986
to August 1989, he taught as a teacher at the Guizhou Bijie Finance and
Trade School.

Dr. Wu received a bachelor’s degree in Mathematics with concentration
in Pure Mathematics from Guizhou University in the PRC in 1986, and a
master’s degree in Mathematics with concentration in Pure Mathematics
(Mathematical Statistics) from the Guizhou University in the PRC in July
1992. In July 2001, he received a Doctor of Philosophy in Science from
the East China Normal University in the PRC.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEREE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yang Junhui (13 E#&) , aged 56, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director, the chairman of each of the Audit Committee
and the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee, with effect from 21 March 2022. Mr. Yang has over 10 years
of experience in financial management. Since December 2012, he has
been a consultant of various consulting companies and investment
management companies and the director (consultant) of the Investment
Department of the Shenzhen Branch of National Modern Finance
Holdings Co., Ltd.. Since December 2019, he has been a partner of
Cybernaut Hechuang (Qingdao) Industrial Internet Technology Co.,
Ltd. (BH%58 (B8 TEOMAR T ARAE) (a subsidiary of
Shanghai Cybernaut Investment Co., Ltd. (E/BBREEERRAR)),
and a financial adviser of Bestway Marine Technology Co., Ltd. (K&
A BEERMRMBIRAT) (stock code: 300008, a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange) and SOS Limited (37 HrER
T HABR/AT)) (stock code: SOS, a company listed on the New York
Stock Exchange). In the aforementioned positions, he is responsible for
engaging in financial advisory services, managing financial projects, and
reviewing and analysing audited financial statements and internal controls
of companies listed in the PRC, Hong Kong and the United States. From
December 2010 to November 2012, he served as the director of new
business development and manager of financial and tax control products
of IT Services Division of North China District Founder Technology Group
Co., Ltd. (77 IERH2 & B IR 15 A IR 2 F)) (stock code: 600601, a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange), where he was responsible for
managing the market value, equity and debt financing, mergers and
acquisitions, providing financial advice, promoting financial tax system
products, and maintaining internal controls, of the listed company.

In June 1991, Mr. Yang graduated from the College of Resources and
Environmental Sciences, Nanjing Agricultural University in the PRC with an
undergraduate degree in Soil Chemistry.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEREE

Mr. Qian Jianguang ($2%1t), aged 41, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director with effect from 18 August 2022, a
member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
with effect from 25 October 2022 and a member of the Audit Committee
with effect from 4 November 2022. Mr. Qian has over 14 years of working
experience in the financial management and auditing industry. Mr. Qian
has been a member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
(ACCA) since 2020 and a certified management accountant (CMA)
since 2014. He also obtained the intermediate accountant qualification
certificate issued by the Shanghai Municipal Human Resources and Social
Security Bureau in 2014. Since January 2022, he has been serving as
the chief financial officer of Takung Art Co., Ltd. (ticker symbol: TKAT),
an online trading platform operator of international art and collectibles
listed on the NYSE American of the United States. From October 2020
to June 2021, he worked as the chief financial officer of Merit-link Group,
a company engaged in investment consulting and corporate finance
consulting. From June 2018 to June 2020, he was the financial director
of the shared service centre in Shanghai Joyu Culture Communication
Co., Ltd.*, the holding company of the Lvmama Group, a business-to-
consumer based e-tourism platform for DIY tour advisory and booking
in the PRC, where he was responsible for budgeting, cost analysis, tax
management and financial reporting of the company. From December
2014 to June 2018, he served as the financial director at ShopeX Group,
an e-commerce software and service provider in the PRC, where he was
responsible for budgeting, cost analysis, tax management and financial
reporting of the group. From April 2013 to July 2014, he was the financial
manager at Minmetals Condo (Shanghai) Construction Co., Ltd.*, a
subsidiary of Minmetals Land Limited (stock code: 230), a company listed
on the Main Board and engaged in design, fabrication and installation of
curtain wall, cladding wall and roofing system, where he was responsible
for implementing financial information systems and overseeing the
financial reporting process for the business.

In June 2006, Mr. Qian graduated from Lanzhou University of Technology
in the PRC with a bachelor’s degree in finance. In June 2012, he received
a master’s degree in accounting from Shanghai University of Finance and
Economics in the PRC.
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EEREREEEREE

Mr. Xie Yaozu (f2#2%8), aged 35, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director, a member of each of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, with effect
from 25 April 2024. Mr. Xie has over 9 years of experience in legal and
regulatory compliance. Mr. Xie had been a lawyer at the Beijing office of
Jingtian & Gongcheng from May 2022 to October 2023. He had also
been a lawyer at Beijing Tianyuan Law Firm from July 2021 to May 2022.
From August 2020 to July 2021, Mr. Xie had been a legal director at First
Property Services (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (the principal operating company in
the PRC of First Service Holding Limited (the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 2107)). Mr.
Xie had been a lawyer at Beijing Anjie Broad Law Firm from April 2020 to
July 2020, and a lawyer at the Beijing office of Commence & Finance Law
Offices from July 2016 to March 2020.

Mr. Xie obtained a PRC Legal Professional Qualification Certificate from
the Ministry of Justice of the PRC in September 2012. He then graduated
with a Master of Laws in the Zhongnan University of Economics and Law
in the PRC in June 2016.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEREE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Our Senior Management comprises Mr. Ma Shengcong and Ms. Zhang
Ying. For biographical details of Mr. Ma and Ms. Zhang Ying, please refer
to the paragraph headed “Executive Directors” in this section.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chan Lok Yee (BRi#f), ACG, HKACG, was appointed as our
company secretary on 13 November 2018. Ms. Chan has over ten years
of experience in the provision of a full range of company secretarial
and compliance services and has held positions in various corporate
secretarial companies in Hong Kong. She is currently a senior manager
of company secretarial services in Vistra Corporate Services (HK) Limited
and is currently serving a portfolio of clients, including public listed
companies and private companies.

In October 2011, Ms. Chan was awarded her bachelor of arts degree
(with a major in English studies for the professions and a minor in
translation) from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. In July 2015,
she was admitted to the degree of Master of Science in Professional
Accounting and Corporate Governance from the City University of
Hong Kong. She was admitted as both an associate member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries (how known as The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute) and an associate member of The
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators (now known as The
Chartered Governance Institute) in the United Kingdom in September
2015.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFTHRS

The Board of Directors presents this annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

SHARE OFFER AND CAPITALISATION ISSUE

The Company was incorporated on 13 June 2018 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Act. A total of
200,000,000 Shares with nominal value of HK$0.01 per Share were
issued at HK$0.63 each by way of the Share Offer on 26 March 2020
and on 27 March 2020, the Company’s Shares were listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. Further, the Company allotted and issued
a total of 599,999,800 ordinary Shares, credited as fully paid at par, to
Flash Dragon and Jupiter Rain equally on 27 March 2020 by way of
capitalisation of the sum of HK$5,999,998 standing to the credit of the
share premium account of the Company pursuant to the resolutions of the
Shareholders passed on 11 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in (i) the provision of outsourced services, including the provision
of outsourced document management services and related software
applications and enterprise software solutions services in Malaysia as
well as the provision of outsourced insurance risk analysis services and
insurance marketing services in the PRC, (i) the distribution and sales of
medical equipment and pharmaceutical products in the PRC, and (iii) the
provision of internet hospital and brick-and-mortar clinical services in the
PRC. Principal activities of each of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
Note 1 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 which includes an analysis of the Group’s performance
using financial key performance indicators and a discussion on the
Group’s likely future business development, events affecting the Company
that have occurred since the end of the financial year, the Company’s
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Company, the relationships between the Company and its
key stakeholders including its employees, customers and suppliers, and
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may
be facing are provided in the paragraphs headed “Financial Highlights”,
“Future Plans and Prospects”, “Events after the Reporting Period”,
“Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations”, “Relationship with
Employees, Suppliers, Customers and other Stakeholders” and “Principal
Risks and Uncertainties”, respectively of this annual report. The review
forms part of the Directors’ Report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

There are certain risks and uncertainties involved in the Group’s current
operations, some of which are beyond the Group’s control. The following
table shows the principal risks and uncertainties of the Group and how

the Group mitigates those risks:

Principal risks identified

R EERE

FERBRAAAER

FEBEANEESRETARETHAR
FoHPHARRBHAEBBOZEHEE TR
WIAEBEZARETRABREURSEE

gOfPIPRR R LR

Description of the principal risks identified

[EE#IER IR NEpug

Mitigation of risks

PR LB

The Group may not be able
to provide a Data Centre
which can comply with its
customers’ requirements
under the Risk Management
in Technology policy
document issued by Bank
Negara Malaysia (the “RMIT”)
if its lease expires and cannot
be renewed.

i A8 49 /@ wm B A B4 Bl
REEBRIREREHETR
1R 45 B5 2R 78 o8 Bl R IR 1T HE 5
iR EE) (MR
MEE)) BEERNEEEF
ILye

The RMIT, which sets out Bank Negara Malaysia’s
expectations regarding the technology and risk
management framework and practice of financial
institutions, states that production data centres and
recovery data centres used by financial institutions
must be concurrently maintainable which shall be
similar or equivalent to the international standards of
tier 3 requirements.

it EREEEHY T HRAEEKIBITH SRS
ARk EREEERMER S ANRE - EEE
BMEBERANEESERORINEZEP LKA
%ﬁﬁ#%)ﬁ%ﬁiﬁzﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ
HE

In accordance with the RMIT, the Group requires its
computer servers to be housed in a data centre with
access to a stable supply of electricity and internet
connectivity that meets the requirements of its financial
customers and Bank Negara Malaysia.
BRERWEARER  REBBERESTERRBRZ
KEOESRENEHHEEN EMAEZENEER
DR LUREHEEME R R ERADBEKRIBITHE
Ko

As the Group is in the process of converting its
acquired building into the Data Centre (please refer to
the 2022 Announcement for details), the Group has
been leasing rack space of a tier 3 data centre from
a third-party tier 3 data centre owner as a transitional
arrangement (the “Transitional Arrangement”)
until the completion of the conversion. If the lease
expires and cannot be renewed before the Data
Centre is ready for use and if the Group cannot
find an alternative suitable space, the Group may
not be able to provide a data centre to its financial
institution customers that is similar or equivalent to the
international standards of tier 3 requirements.
ERAERETREMMBENEFIEREEFR O
FIBEFE2BR022F A ) 1FRBEZH (TBER
B AEE—BERF=F=REBEFLEEARR
ZHRBURROBRZTER > BEEMUS TN c MIBATE
BROEEFERAERE B LIEERMAERR
EREHEBENEATEE AEEFTEREEZAE T
HEEREHEAZREREENERBENERN
AR Lo

To ensure that the Group’s services
to its financial institution customers
will not be interrupted during the
process of converting its acquired
building into the Data Centre, the
Group has discussed with most of
its financial institution customers
that the Group will continue to be
allowed to adopt the Transitional
Arrangement until the Group has
completed the conversion works
and will renew the lease agreement
before it expires.
RERAERNESREER A/
ARFE S A EL U B RO T 2UE 4 BUR
RORBREPRE R REED
MAEE R EEEERRIBEZHE
EEXREESTASUE TRERAE
DERMEBE R ERSHILSNE
AT EEAE R
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Principal risks identified

E#EEZ R

Description of the principal risks identified

[EEIER:FERA:NEpus

Mitigation of risks

P /L B

The Group’s revenue is mainly
derived from its major customers

FEFWDTIBRETERTR

40
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The Company’s revenue is mainly derived from its
major customers. During the year ended 31 December
2024, the aggregate sales to the Company’s five
largest single customers in aggregate accounted
for approximately 53.4% (2023: 53.1%) of the total
revenue and in particular, sales to the Group’s largest
single customer accounted for approximately 22.6%
(2023: 22.8%) of the total revenue. Accordingly, the
Group’s revenues would be affected by whether these
customers continue to use the Group’s services, as
well as other factors affecting their operations, many
of which are beyond the Group’s control. Where
the customers’ operations are adversely affected by
changes in the market, it may adversely affect the need
for the Group’s services and its business and results of
operations could be affected.
KAFINBEFERBEFERF -NEE20245F1248
SIEBLEFEE REARBRALZLE—F R EH
ERBA T A5 AE IR 1953.4% (20234 1 53.1%) » H
FREAEERAE—FANHEBAGAUEN
22.6% (2023%F : 22.8%) o [H It > NEBAU
NZERRPRTRETRAEENRBURTER
ErBEENAMAENEE  HPHFLRRFLE
EFTAEED - HZERAMNEER I MIZELEN
TR E AIn e HAEBBRHENEREMFF
HE RMBAEENEBNCEXEERTE-

As disclosed in the Prospectus,
the 2021 Announcement, 2022
Announcement and 2023
Announcement, the Company
intends to apply approximately
HK$7.5 million from the net
proceeds of the Share Offer to
step up the Group’s marketing
and sales efforts to reach out to
new customers. The Group is also
committed to attract new customers
in the banking and insurance or
other industries and reduce its
reliance on its major customers.
HUNFBRRETR ~ 2021 F A~ 2022
FRAER02ZFREMMIRE > AR
BRI RMDEEPNESHIBEFER
FAEN75BEETT UNBRAER
HNEHRIEE TIE RMEENE
P o REBIFER SN R SIIRIT R IR
B sl TR0 P > LURD #
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Principal risks identified

SR FllER: I

Description of the principal risks identified

[EE #IER:IERA:NEpus

Mitigation of risks

P R LB

The Group is exposed to
credit risk
AEEEBREE RO

The Group is exposed to
interest rate risk
AEE@BEHER RO

The Group is exposed to credit risk which may cause
financial loss to the Group if its counterparties fail to
discharge their obligations. As at 31 December 2024,
there were one single customers (2023: two single
customers) which accounted for approximately 24%
(2023: 35%) of the total net trade receivables of the
Company.

rEBEEREERRMO HXBZHFRERITE
% Pl AE G R EEIE I 5 E 18 0 10202412831
B> B—EE—FF (2023F . MEE—FF) (15X
NE) B FEIGRIEF EEAREEXI24% (20234 1 35%) ©

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk arising from
bank borrowings as the fair value or future cash flows
of the Group’s financial instruments will fluctuate due
to changes in market interest rates. The Group does
not use derivative financial instruments to hedge its
exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
HRAEREMTAENRAFEIARRESREGH
MISAXESEHMKE FEETERRTEREEN
MR O - AERTEERITESRMIT AR H
HA| SR8 RS o

The Group has adopted a policy
of only dealing with creditworthy
counterparties and depositing with
banks and financial institutions with
good credit rating. The exposure
to credit risk is monitored on an
ongoing basis and action will be
taken by the Company for long
outstanding debts.
FEFCRNEREERFNS
HFZZARERTRBHFNRT
MERMEBFROBER - KRB FH
BEEEERRM O TRE KA
REBHHEITH

It is the Group’s policy to obtain
the most favourable interest rates
available whenever the Group
obtains additional financing through
bank borrowings to minimise its
exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
FEENBR AT AERBBIRT
ERERRINRERT IREERE
B MBS RFVEMEBIFZE
B o
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RESULTS AND FINANCIAL POSITION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set
out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 117
of this annual report.

The financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024 is set out in
the consolidated statement of financial position on pages 118 and 119 of
this annual report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information of the Group is set out in Note 4 of the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the distribution of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

As far as the Company is aware, as at 31 December 2024, there has
been no arrangement under which any Shareholder has waived, or
agreed to waive, any dividends proposed to be distributed for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on the board meeting dated
22 April 2020 that, in recommending or declaring dividends, the Company
shall maintain adequate and sufficient cash reserves for meeting its
working capital requirements and future growth as well as its Shareholder
value. The Board has the full discretion to declare and distribute dividends
to the Shareholders, and any final dividend for a financial year will be
subject to Shareholders’ approval. In proposing any dividend payout, the
Board shall take into account, among other things, the Group’s financial
results, cash flow situation, business conditions and strategies, expected
future operations and earnings, capital requirements and expenditure
plans, interests of Shareholders, any restrictions on payment of dividends
and any other factors the Board may consider relevant. Any payment of
the dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under the
Companies Act and the Articles.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the
2025 AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 24 June 2025 to Friday, 27 June 2025 (both dates inclusive),
during which period no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to
qualify for attending and voting at the 2025 AGM, the unregistered
holder of Shares must lodge all transfer documents, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates, with the Company’s share registrar in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 23 June
2025.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 14 of the
Notes to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

There are no movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2024 and set out in Note 26 of the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on page 120 in this annual report. As at 31 December 2024,
the Company’s reserves available for distribution to the Shareholders
amounted to approximately RM234.9 million (2023: approximately RM8.3
million), as calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Act.

SHARE AND DEBENTURES ISSUED

The Company did not issue any shares and debentures for the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE SHARE OFFER

A total of 200,000,000 Shares with nominal value of HK$0.01 per Share
were issued on 26 March 2020 at HK$0.63 each by way of the Share
Offer, raising a total of approximately HK$126 million. The net proceeds
raised by the Company from the Share Offer, after deduction of the
underwriting commissions and other related listing expenses, amounted
to approximately HK$73.7 million. For information on the use of proceeds
of the Share Offer, please refer to the section headed “Issue of Shares and
Use of Proceeds From the Share Offer” in the Management Discussion
and Analysis of this annual report.

DIRECTORS

The members of the Board during the year ended 31 December 2024
and as at the Latest Practicable Date are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ma Shengcong (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Zhang Ying

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ling Sheng Shyan
Dr. Wu Xianyi

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Junhui
Mr. Qian Jianguang
Mr. Xie Yaozu

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management” on pages 31 to 37
in this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS
OF APPOINTMENT

Mr. Ma Shengcong, an Executive Director, has been re-designated from
an Independent Non-executive Director to an Executive Director on
25 October 2022, and has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial term of three years with effect from 25 October
2022 which shall be terminable by either party by giving not less than
one month’s notice in writing to the other or payment of wages in lieu of
notice.

Ms. Zhang Ying, an Executive Director, has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years with effect
from 1 May 2023 which shall be terminable by either party by giving not
less than one month’s notice in writing to the other or payment of wages
in lieu of notice.

Mr. S Ling, a Non-Executive Director, has signed a letter of appointment
with the Company for an initial term of three years with effect from the
Listing Date which has been automatically renewed for a further term of
three years upon expiration on 27 March 2023. The appointment shall be
terminable by either party by giving three months’ notice in writing to the
other or payment in lieu of notice.

Dr. Wu Xianyi, a Non-Executive Director, has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years with effect
from 30 July 2021 which shall be terminable by either party by giving
three months’ notice in writing to the other or payment in lieu of notice.

Mr. Yang Junhui, an Independent Non-Executive Director, has signed a
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years
with effect from 21 March 2022 which shall be terminable by either party
by giving one month’s notice in writing to the other or payment in lieu of
notice.
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Mr. Qian Jianguang, an Independent Non-Executive Director, has signed
a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years
with effect from 18 August 2022 which shall be terminable by either party
by giving one month’s notice in writing to the other or payment in lieu of
notice.

Mr. Xie Yaozu, an Independent Non-Executive Director, has signed a
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years
with effect from 25 April 2024 which shall be terminable by either party
by giving one month’s notice in writing to the other or payment in lieu of
notice.

The above appointments are always subject to the provisions of
retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the 2025 AGM has
an unexpired service agreement which is not determinable by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory obligations.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Related Party Transactions
and Continuing Connected Transactions” and “Continuing Connected
Transactions” in this Directors’ Report and in Note 28 of the Notes to
the consolidated financial statements, no transactions, arrangement and
contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which any Director (or any entity connected with a
Director) had a material interest, whether directly and indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended 31 December
2024,

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company did not have
any controlling shareholder. No contracts of significance (including
contracts of significance for the provision of services) between the
Company (or any of its subsidiaries) and any controlling shareholder of the
Company (or any of its subsidiaries) subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group entered into certain
transactions with related parties as defined in accordance with applicable
accounting standards, details of which are set out in Note 28 of the Notes
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report. Such related
party transactions fall under the definition of connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules,
and they are fully exempted pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The Company confirms that it has complied with the applicable disclosure
and other requirements in respect of such connected transactions and
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had certain
fully-exempt continuing connected transactions, which are mainly related
1o the purchase by the Group of certain printing materials, and are set out
in Note 28 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

As each of the applicable ratios (as defined in the Listing Rules) in respect
of the continuing connected transactions is less than 5% and the annual
caps for each of the three years ended 31 December 2024 are less than
HK$3,000,000, the continuing connected transactions constitute de
minimis transactions and are exempted from the reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no contracts concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the businesses of the Company were entered into or existed.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY OR ANY OF ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or chief executives
of the Company had registered any interests or short position in the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or which were notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF FERRNIRM KA P rES
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND %8

SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, so far as was known to the Directors, the 122024512831 H » SREEFFA U T AL (I
following persons (not being the Directors or chief executives of the JERATEEHETETHAE) REATRIBH
Company) had, or deemed to have, interests or short positions in the EUIERARR D THEERRAEERIFZ S RBE
Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be  {&HIEXVELFE2/%3D RIE X BBEAA T EE
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of (RSB HRN KA AT REES KASKAIE
Part XV of the SFO, or which would be recorded in the register required to 3361 1F BN E MR IKE !

be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Approximate

Number of percentage of
ordinary Shares shareholding
Name Capacity/Nature of interests held/interest" interest®
#H /A EEN RERERE 49
APt 515 st ZEREa" BLE®
Mr. Wang Yaxian Beneficial owner 522,000,000 18.16%
FoREESE BmEB A
Mr. Wu Xianlong* Beneficial owner 360,000,000 12.53%
RERESE BmESA
Sun Join Capital Investment Limited® Beneficial owner 284,550,898 9.90%
BEEBA
Ms. Zou® Interest of a controlled corporation 284,550,898 9.90%
g to REGEEER
Mr. Li Lianbin® Interest of spouse 284,550,898 9.90%
FEMW LY Aot
Sun Join Venture Management Limited® Beneficial owner 189,700,599 6.60%
BmEBA
Ms. Le® Interest of a controlled corporation 189,700,599 6.60%
- Sogunl) REGEEER
Mr. Wan Shifang Beneficial owner 162,000,000 5.64%
siEsLE BmESA
Mr. Liao Hui* Beneficial owner 153,468,000 5.34%
By BmEBA
* For identification purpose only * 1E #3452 H
Notes: BIEE -
(1) All the above Shares are held in long position. 1 UEARBERGHEUFERE-
(2)  The calculation is based on the total number of 2,874,251,497 Shares in  (2) HBRETEBER2024F12A31HEHE
issue as at 31 December 2024. 2,874,251,497 IR E TR 1EH
(8 These Shares represent Shares held by Sun Join Capital Investment Limited ~ (3) &% i&1745Sun Join Capital Investment Limited
which is wholly-owned by Ms. Zou, and Ms. Zou is deemed to be interested (ALt 2EBHR) FANRG  MRES
in the same pursuant to the SFO. g&ﬂﬂfﬁﬂ% BIBLTHWRANRZERDTES
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(4) Mr. Li Lianbin is the spouse of Ms. Zou, and therefore is deemed to be
interested in the Shares which Ms. Zou is interested in under the SFO.

(5) These Shares represent Shares held by Sun Join Venture Management
Limited which is wholly-owned by Ms. Le, and Ms. Le is deemed to be
interested in the same pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no person had any
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be as recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme was adopted by the Company on 11 March
2020. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant options to Eligible Participants (as defined in the
paragraph below) as incentives or rewards for their contribution or
potential contribution to the Group.

Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the Board is entitled at any
time within the period of 10 years from the date of adoption of the Share
Option Scheme to make an offer to the eligible participants (the “Eligible
Participants”) of the Share Option Scheme including:

0} any full-time or part-time employees, or potential employees,
executives or officers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(ii) any Directors (including executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries;
and

(i) any suppliers and advisers who, in the sole opinion of the Board,
will contribute or have contributed to our Company and/or any of its
subsidiaries.

As at the beginning and the end of the year ended 31 December 2024
and at the date of this annual report, the total number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
shall not in aggregate exceed 240,000,000 Shares (which represented
8.35% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the date of this annual
report). Subject to Shareholders’ approval in general meeting, the Board
may:

0} renew this limit at any time to 10% of the Shares in issue as at the
date of the approval by the Shareholders in general meeting; and/or
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MERARGERN B LRAORD RREFR
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(ii) grant options beyond the 10% limit to Eligible Participants specially
approved by the Shareholders in general meeting and the Eligible
Participants are specifically identified by the Company before such
approval is sought.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted to each Eligible Participant (including both exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue. Any further grant
of options to an Eligible Participant in excess of the 1% limit shall be
subject to approval by Shareholders in general meeting with such Eligible
Participant and his or her close associates (or his or her associates if such
Eligible Participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting.

Each of the grantees to whom an option has been granted under the
Share Option Scheme shall be entitled to exercise his/her option in the
manner set out in his/her offer document, provided that such period of
time shall not exceed a period of ten years commencing on the date on
which the option is granted. The minimum period for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised (i.e., the vesting period) is
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion upon the grant of an
option, provided that such period is not inconsistent with any other terms
and condition of the Share Option Scheme. The exercise of any option
shall be subject to the Shareholders in general meeting approving any
necessary increase in the authorised share capital of the Company.

Upon acceptance of an option to subscribe for Shares granted pursuant
to the Share Option Scheme, the Eligible Participant shall pay HK$1.00
to the Company as consideration for the grant on or before the relevant
acceptance date. The subscription price for the Shares under the Share
Option Scheme shall, subject to the adjustments referred to in the Share
Option Scheme, be a price determined by the Board (or its committee) at
its sole discretion and notified to the Eligible Participants and shall be no
less than the highest of:

(i) the official closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which
must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for business
of dealing in securities;

(ii) the average of the official closing price of the Shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the
five business days (as defined in the Listing Rules) immediately
preceding the date of grant; or

(i) the nominal value of a Share.
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The Share Option Scheme remains valid for 10 years until 10 March 2030
unless otherwise terminated, cancelled or amended. Accordingly, the
remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is approximately 5 years.

No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled and lapsed
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme since its adoption and up to the
Latest Practicable Date. There was no share option outstanding under the
Share Option Scheme at the beginning of, during the year ended and as
at 31 December 2024.

For more information on the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the
section headed “Statutory and General Information — F. Share Option
Scheme” in Appendix V to the Prospectus.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme disclosed above, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into by the Company during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year ended 31 December 2024.

Contractual Arrangement

On 28 December 2023, Core Squared Limited (a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) (the “Purchaser”), Ms. Zou and Ms. Le
(together with Ms. Zou, the “Registered Owners”) entered into the SPA,
pursuant to which the Purchaser conditionally agreed to purchase, and
Ms. Zou and Ms. Le conditionally agreed to sell, an aggregate of 100% of
the issued shares (the “Sale Shares”) of Sun Join. Prior to the completion
of the Acquisition under the SPA, Sun Join was owned as to 60% by Ms.

Zou and 40% by Ms. Le.

The consideration for the Sale Shares was HK$284,550,898 to Ms.
Zou and HK$189,700,599 to Ms. Le, together in the aggregate of
HK$474,251,497, which has been satisfied by the Purchaser procuring
the Company to issue and allot 284,550,898 and 189,700,599
Consideration Shares at HK$1.00 for each Consideration Share (the
“Issue Price”), credited as fully paid, to Sun Join Capital Investment
Limited (which is wholly-owned by Ms. Zou) and Sun Join Venture
Management Limited (which is wholly-owned by Ms. Le), respectively, on
the completion date. Upon completion, the Purchaser holds the entire
issued share capital of the Sun Join and Sun Join becomes an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
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Prior to entering into the SPA, Tianjin Shengji Corporate Management
Co. Ltd. (the “WFOE”) (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Sun Join)
(i) directly owned 50% and 70% of the equity interest in Tian Jin Shengji
Online Hospital Co., Ltd. (“Shengji Online Hospital”) and Shengiji (Tian
Jin) Polyclinic Co., Ltd. (“Shengji Clinic”) (together with Shengji Online
Hospital, the “Medical Institutions”), respectively, and (i) had in place
a series of structured contracts with the Registered Owners, Tian Jin
Ruijinbao Internet Technology Co., Ltd. (the “Operating Entity”, together
with the Medical Institutions, the “Consolidated Affiliated Entities”) and
the Medical Institutions (the “Structured Contracts”) to acquire all the
remaining economic interests and benefits in the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities (the “Contractual Arrangement”). The Medical Institutions are
principally engaged in the business of internet hospital and providing
brick-and-mortar clinical services, which is subject to foreign ownership
restrictions under the PRC laws and regulations.

Through the contractual arrangement, the WFOE would have effective
control over the finance and operation of the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities, and would enjoy the economic interests and benefits generated
by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities (to the extent the equity interest
of which were not already owned by the WFOE). Upon completion of
the Acquisition under the SPA (which the contractual arrangement has
already in place), the financial results of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
has been consolidated into the consolidated financial statements of the
Company and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities has become indirect
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

Particulars of the Operating Entity and its
Registered Owners

The Operating Entity is an investment holding company incorporated
under the laws of the PRC with limited liability. As at the date of this
annual report, the Operating Entity holds 50% of the equity interest of
Shengji Online Hospital, and 30% of the equity interest of Shengji Clinic.
The Registered Owners of the Operating Entity are Ms. Zou and Ms.
Le. As at the date of this annual report, Ms. Zou and Ms. Le own 60%
and 40% of the equity interests of the Operating Entity, respectively. The
Registered Owners are Ms. Zou and Ms. Le, each a PRC national and a
business person.
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Reasons for the Contractual Arrangement

The principal business of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities involves
the provision of internet hospital and brick-and-mortar clinical services
(the “PRC Business”). A foreign entity which intends to operate
businesses in the PRC are subject to certain restrictions under the Special
Administrative Measures (Negative List) for Foreign Investment Access
(2021 Edition) UM E &AL B EIBHEH (B EE B) (2021)) . Foreign
investors shall not invest in any industry forbidden by the negative list for
access of foreign investment. Pursuant to the negative list, the operation
of “medical institution” in the PRC falls within the “restricted category”
for foreign investment under the PRC laws, and foreign investments
are restricted to the form of Sino-foreign equity joint venture. Further,
according to the Interim Administrative Measures on Sino-Foreign Joint
Venture and Cooperative Medical Institutions* ((FRINEE ~ S 1EER B
EEIBEITHEE)), foreign investors are not allowed to hold more than
70% equity interest in a “medical institution”, including institutions with
Practicing License for a Medical Institution such as Shengji Online Hospital
and Shengji Clinic.

In addition, the provision of internet information services and online
data processing and transaction processing services through mini
programmes and websites established falls within the scope of value-
added telecommunication service under the Telecommunications
Regulations of the PRC ((R#E ARZEMEBEEAF)) promulgated
by the State Council on 25 September 2000 and last amended on 6
February 2016, the Catalogue of Telecommunications Business (2015)
(EEXEHDEER) (20155h8R)), and the Regulations for the
Administration of Foreign-Invested Telecommunications Enterprises ({5}
EREBETESERTE)) (the “FITE Regulations”) promulgated by
the State Council, taking effect on 1 January 2002 and last amended in
March 2022 with effect from 1 May 2022. Pursuant to the Negative List,
foreign investors are not allowed to hold more than 50% equity interest
in any enterprise conducting value-added telecommunication services
(excluding e-commerce, domestic multi-party communication services,
store-and-forward services and call center services). According to the
FITE Regulations, foreign investors are not allowed to hold more than 50%
equity interest in enterprises conducting value-added telecommunication
services, except as otherwise stipulated by the state, provided that
the foreign investors shall satisfy with some requirements, including
the minimum amount of registered capital under the FITE Regulations.
Since Shengji Online Hospital’s business involves providing value-added
telecommunication services, it is subject to the aforementioned foreign
investment restriction as well.

* for identification purpose only
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In order to comply with the relevant PRC laws and regulations while
achieving the commercial intention of the parties, the contractual
arrangement has therefore been entered into among the WFOE, the
Registered Owners, the Operating Entity and the Medical Institutions,
pursuant to which Sun Join through the WFOE will have effective control
over 50% and 30% of the finance and operation of Shengji Online
Hospital and Shengji Clinic respectively, and will enjoy 50% and 30% of
the economic interests and benefits generated by Shengji Online Hospital
and Shengji Clinic, respectively despite the lack of registered equity
ownership.

Summary of Major Terms of the Contractual
Arrangement

Set out below are the principal terms of each of the structured contracts
under the contractual arrangement entered into on 19 December 2023:

(i) Exclusive Operations Services Agreement

Parties

the WFOE;

the Operating Entity;

the Registered Owners; and
the Medical Institutions.

CHONCES

Term

Effective for three years from the signing date of the Exclusive
Operations Service Agreement and renewed automatically for
another three years upon the expiry of each three-year term, until its
termination as agreed by the parties.
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Subject matter

The WFOE shall provide the Operating Entity with services related
to shareholder rights and investment management based on actual
business needs of the Operating Entity, and provide management
consulting services to the Medical Institutions on request. Such
services include but are not limited to:

(@)

developing effective plans and be responsible for the
implementation of such plans regarding services involving the
Operating Entity and the Medical Institutions’ existing and
future assets and business operations. Such matters include
but are not limited to strategic investments and project
investment target plans, financing, investment management,
capital expenditure levels, investment parameters, investment
composition, investment returns and benchmarking of
competitors in the same industry;

providing opinions, suggestions and management to improve
the human resources and operational technical level of the
Operating Entity and the Medical Institutions, including but
not limited to the implementation of employee management
improvement measures and continuous employee training
programs;

assisting the Operating Entity and the Medical Institutions
in collecting relevant technical and business information
and market research, and providing industry information
and management decisions to improve medical technology,
operating capabilities and save costs;

screening and introducing customers to the Operating
Entity and the Medical Institutions; providing publicity and
promotion suggestions and decisions, helping them expand
business and cooperative relationships, and strengthening
daily maintenance of customer relationships;
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assigning technical personnel to the Operating Entity and
the Medical Institutions to provide comprehensive technical
operation monitoring, market strategy research, formulate
operational strategies, etc., and regularly formulating and
managing a series of operational plans, collection plans,
preferential policies, procurement plans, etc.;

provide the Operating Entity and the Medical Institutions with
suggestions and opinions on establishing and improving their
corporate structure, management system and department
setup, and assisting them in improving their internal
management system;

providing the Medical Institutions with comprehensive
solutions in the medical industry technology required for their
business, including:

(1) strengthening the provision of management consulting
services in medical technology;

(2)  carrying out medical resource sharing and offering
relevant medical resources owned by the WFOE to
the Medical Institutions according to their business
development plans and needs, including clinical
technology, expert resources, clinical training
opportunities, etc.;

(8) introducing and training professional and technical
personnel needed for the Medical Institutions to carry
out and develop their business;

screening and recommending qualified suppliers for the
Operating Entity and the Medical Institutions, and monitor the
quality of drugs, medical devices and consumables for the
Medical Institutions;
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(i) assigning technical personnel to guide the Medical
Institutions, monitor the quality of medical services, and
improve service quality and satisfaction; and

() other related technical services, operation and maintenance,
equipment and facilities provision, management consultants
and consulting services provided from time to time at the
request of the Operating Entity or the Medical Institutions as
permitted by PRC law.

The Exclusive Service Agreement shall be governed by, interpreted
and construed under the laws of the PRC.

Undertakings

Without prior written approval from the WFOE, the Registered
Owners, Operating Entity and the Medical Institutions shall not enter
into any written or verbal agreements to engage a third party for the
purpose of providing the same or similar services to those provided
by the WFOE, nor enter into any transaction that (a) involves the
disposal, transfer or acquisition of any form of the Operating Entity
and Medical Institutions’ material assets with a value higher than
RMB500,000, (b) may affect the Operating Entity and the Medical
Institutions’ assets, obligations, business operation, shareholding
structure or equity interest and rights in third parties (save as those
transactions entered into in the ordinary course of business and
those that have been disclosed to the WFOE and have obtained
written consent from the WFOE), or (c) cause a change in the
existing shareholding structure of the Operating Entity and the
Medical Institutions.

Fee

The Operating Entity agrees to pay the distributable profits it
obtained from the Medical Institutions (net of costs, expenses,
taxes and payments required by the applicable laws and regulations
to be reserved or withheld) after offsetting the preceding year’s
losses (if any) to the WFOE as the service fee.

) ZREMASREEREB BE
BREZHEHR  KEERBERER
MEE ;&

() RPEDERAFHERT  TRRZ
CEERNBREBEREMHAEM
R ARTS  BE R M B
R RE ~ B IR RE R KA RS o

BRIEBWHRASTBEREE  LAR
BHEDERERERERE

K

R BE R ERLESEALE  cHE
BEAEEERABEEEAEITILTMA
EEOOBE RS UEES = HREEN
BBE MR MELUNRE  FAREET
EMEFRHE RN RS EERE
FEEEECAEANEREE (BES
H AR 500,0007T) 325 > (D) RJ BERZZ
EEERMEBEUENEE B X%
EIE N RSB IR 5 = 7 BV IR R A
MRS (PHEEBBRPITINR S K
EfmBEECEFETESERE D
(¥ZEBAEPRZBHRIN > R(o)BEHEE
ERMBEESENIREREBEBEEE
1EBIZZ 5 o

=4z

EEERERAEREBRRBIENT D
IR (GOBRR A R IREU R B A&
BERERFERRHABBIRID) FRHEHE L
—EEBIE WA BIFRRBES ST
BEETE-

C-Link Squared Limited
2024 F 3R



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFTHRS

(i) Exclusive Options Agreements (ii)

Parties

Two Exclusive Options Agreements have been separately entered
among the following parties:

(@  the WFOE;

(b)  the Registered Owners;
(c)  the Operating Entity; and
(@  the WFOE;

(b)  the Operating Entity;

(¢)  the Medical Institutions
Term

Effective from the signing date of the Exclusive Options Agreements
and until all equity interest and assets in the Operating Entity and
the Medical Institutions have been transferred to the WFOE as
allowed under PRC laws or upon termination by the WFOE.

Subject matter

The Registered Owners grant to the WFOE the exclusive,
irrevocable and unconditional rights to purchase all or part of the
Registered Owners and Operating Entity’s shares and assets in
the Operating Entity and the Medical Institutions, respectively (the
“Options”), at any time during the exercise period thereof. The
exercise period (the “Exercise Period”) of the Options shall be the
same as the term of the Exclusive Options Agreement.

The WFOE may exercise the Options at any time during the
Exercise Period by serving a notice on the Registered Owners or
the Operating Entity. The parties shall then immediately take all
necessary actions, do all things, and cooperate with each other to
effect the sale, purchase and transfer of the shares or assets under
the Options in the Operating Entity or the Medical Institutions to the
WFOE.
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Pursuant to the Exclusive Options Agreements, each of the
Registered Owners and Operating Entity respectively covenants
and undertakes with respect to the Operating Entity and the
Medical Institutions, that during the term of such agreement, it shall
not do the following acts without the prior written consent of the
WFOE:

(@  transfer, dispose of, or create or allow to be created any
security over the Options;

(b)  increase or reduce or change the structure of the registered
capital of the Operating Entity or the Medical Institutions,
or approve the merger of such entities or acquisition of or
investment in any other entity;

(c) dispose or allow the management of the Operating Entity or
the Medical Institutions to dispose of any material assets (i.e.,
assets of any kind with a fair value of RMB500,000 or more);

(d)  terminate or cause the management of the Operating
Entity or the Medical Institutions to terminate any material
agreement entered into by them (i.e., contracts with an
amount greater than RMB500,000) or enter into any other
agreement that conflicts with an existing material agreement;

(e)  appoint or replace any director, manager or management of
the Operating Entity or the Medical Institutions;

M allow the Operating Entity or the Medical Institutions to
distribute any profit, bonus, or dividend to its shareholders;

(@ amend the articles of association of the Operating Entity or
the Medical Institutions;
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(h)  procure or allow the Operating Entity or the Medical
Institutions to create or incur any indebtedness or to provide
guarantees or to assume any substantive obligation outside
the ordinary course of business;

(i) procure or allow the Operating Entity or the Medical
Institutions to engage in any transaction or conduct that may
materially affect such entities’ assets, rights, obligations or
operations; and

() directly or indirectly (either by themselves or by delegating to
any other individuals or entities) engage in, own or acquire
any business that competes or may compete with the
business of the Operating Entity or the Medical Institutions.

The price payable by the WFOE for the exercise of any Options
shall be the lowest amount permitted under PRC law at the time of
exercise.

Powers of Attorney on Shareholder Rights

Parties

Two Powers of Attorney have been separately entered among the
following parties:

(@  the WFOE;

(b)  the Registered Owners;
(c)  the Operating Entity; and
(@  the WFOE;

(b)  the Operating Entity;

(c)  the Medical Institutions
Term

Effective from the signing date of the Powers of Attorney and until
all equity interest and assets in the Operating Entity and the Medical
Institutions have been transferred to the WFOE as allowed under
PRC laws or upon termination by the WFOE.
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Subject matter

Each of the Registered Owners and the Operating Entity shall grant
a power of attorney to the WFOE with respect to the Operating
Entity and the Medical Institutions, respectively, pursuant to which
the WFOE shall act on behalf of the respective grantors with respect
to all shareholder rights allowed under PRC law and applicable
laws and regulations, and the Operating Entity and the Medical
Institutions’ respective articles of association, including but not
limited to the following:

(@  propose to convene and attend the Operating Entity and the
Medical Institutions’ shareholders’ meeting in accordance
with their respective articles of association;

(b)  exercise the voting rights corresponding to the equity of the
Operating Entity and the Medical Institutions held by the
respective grantors on all matters that need to be discussed
and resolved at the shareholders’ meeting, including but not
limited to election of directors, capital and share matters,
amendment of articles of association, business policies
and investment plans, financial budgets and final accounts,
dissolution and liquidation, etc.;

(c) act as a director, manager or legal representative of the
Operating Entity and the Medical Institutions, appoint or
replace senior management, etc.;

(d)  exercise other shareholder voting rights provided under the
Operating Entity and the Medical Institutions’ respective
articles of association;

(e)  exercise any shareholder rights to deal with the Operating
Entity and the Medical Institution’s assets in accordance with
PRC law, including but not limited to the right to manage
and acquire the assets and to obtain the income derived
therefrom;
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() sell, transfer, pledge or otherwise dispose of all or part of
the respective equity interest in the Operating Entity and the
Medical Institutions held by the Registered Owners and the
Operating Entity in accordance with PRC law;

(9  supervise the operating performance of the Operating
Entity and the Medical Institutions and review their financial
information in accordance with PRC law;

(h)  sign notice, minutes, resolutions of shareholders’ meetings of
the Operating Entity and Medical Institutions, and submit any
document required for approval, registration, and filing related
to the Operating Entity and Medical Institutions’ operations to
relevant government departments;

(i) receive the remaining property of the Operating Entity and the
Medical Institutions upon their dissolution or liquidation; and

() any shareholder rights stipulated in other applicable PRC
laws and the Operating Entity and Medical Institutions’
articles of association (as amended from time to time).

The Powers of Attorney and any non-contractual obligations
associated with it are governed by and shall be construed under the
laws of the PRC.

Undertakings

Pursuant to the Powers of Attorney, to ensure that it does not give
rise to a conflict of interest, each of the Registered Owners and
Operating Entity irrevocably undertakes that:

(@  the authorisations under the Powers of Attorney will not lead
to any potential conflict of interests between the WFOE and
the Registered Owners or Operating Entity;

(b) if any conflict of interest occurs during the performance of
the Contractual Arrangement, the WFOE'’s interest shall take
priority; and
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(iv)

(c)  solong as the Powers of Attorney is effective, each of them is
not entitled to and will not exercise or control the exercise of
any powers as set out in (a) to (j) above.

Pledge of Shares Agreement

Parties

Two Pledge of Shares Agreements have been separately entered
among the following parties:

(@  the WFOE;

(b)  the Registered Owners;
(c)  the Operating Entity; and
(@ the WFOE;

(b)  the Operating Entity;

(c)  the Medical Institutions
Term

Effective from the signing date of the Pledge of Shares Agreements
and until all equity interest and assets in the Operating Entity and
the Medical Institutions have been transferred to the WFOE as
allowed under PRC laws, or when all the obligations secured under
the Pledge of Shares Agreements have been paid or performed.

Subject matter

The Registered Owners and the Operating Entity shall
unconditionally and irrevocably pledge all of their respective
equity interest in the Operating Entity and the Medical Institutions,
including any increased share capital after the date of the Pledge
of Shares Agreements (the “Pledged Shares”), in favour of the
WEFOE in order to guarantee the performance of their respective
obligations under the Exclusive Service Agreement, Exclusive
Option Agreements and the Powers of Attorney.
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Upon the occurrence of any default of the obligations under the
Pledge of Shares Agreements, the WFOE may elect to serve
a notice to Registered Owners and the Operating Entity (as
applicable) and exercise its right to dispose of the Pledged Shares.
The WFOE shall be entitled to the proceeds from such sale after
settling the expenses incurred, taxes and statutory fees involved
in the disposal of the Pledged Shares, and after offsetting the
amounts owed by the Operating Entity or the Medical Institutions
(as applicable) to the WFOE.

Pursuant to the Pledge of Shares Agreements, the Registered
Owners undertake that, without the prior consent of the WFOE, as
long as the Pledge of Shares Agreements remain in full force and
effect, the Registered Owners shall not, among other things, (a)
sell or otherwise transfer the Pledged Shares, (b) allow any other
pledge or encumbrance to be created with respect of the Pledged
Shares except in favour of the WFOE as provided under the Pledge
of Shares Agreements, and (c) assign to any party other than the
WFOE any right attached to the Pledged Shares.

During the term of the Pledge of Shares Agreements, any
respective dividends, bonuses and other income received by
Registered Owners and the Operating Entity from the Operating
Entity and the Medical Institutions shall be immediately and

unconditionally given to the WFOE or its appointee.

The validity, interpretation and enforcement of the Pledge of Shares
Agreements shall be governed by the laws of the PRC.

Spouse Undertakings

Parties

The spouse of each of the Registered Owners (each a “Spouse”).

Term

Effective from the date of the Spouse Undertakings and until the
termination of the Contractual Arrangement.
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Subject matter

Each Spouse undertakes the following:

(@)

each Spouse confirmed and agreed that the respective
Registered Owners are entitled to deal with his/her own
direct or indirect equity interest in the Operating Entity and
the Medical Institutions in accordance with the Structured
Contracts;

each Spouse has not and does not intend to participate in
the operation and management of the Operating Entity and
the Medical Institutions in the future, and will not claim any
rights or benefits in relation to the equity interest and assets
of the Operating Entity and the Medical Institutions;

each Spouse confirmed that any mortgage, sale or other
disposal of the equity interest and assets of the Operating
Entity or the Medical Institutions in accordance with the
Structured Contracts, or any amendments or changes to
such contracts, shall not require the consent, signature,
confirmation or affirmation by the Spouse;

each Spouse will enter into all necessary documents and take
all necessary actions to ensure the due performance of the
Structured Contracts as amended from time to time; and

each Spouse confirmed that, if for any reason he/she directly
or indirectly acquires part or all of the equity interest in the
Operating Entity and the Medical Institutions, the Spouse
shall unconditionally agree to be bound by the Contractual
Arrangement as if he/she were a party to the Structured
Contracts. The Spouse agreed to cooperate in taking all
required actions and sign all required documents in this
regard.

The Spouse Undertakings shall be governed by the laws of the

PRC.
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Structure of the Contractual Arrangement BHLHNEE

The following simplified diagram illustrates the structure of the Contractual M TS BIER &4 L HERIZRIE !
Arrangement:

Ms. Zou Ms. Le
2k ES e
100% 100%
Sun Join Capital Investment Limited | | Sun Join Venture Management Limited
(British Virgin Islandls) (British Virgin Islandis) Existing shareholders
Sun Join Capital Investment Limited [ | Sun Join Venture Management Limited RERKE
(RBELEHE) (BEELEHS)
9.9% 6.6% | 83.5%
The Company SJ Venture Management
(Cayman Islands) (British Virgin Islands)
NG| SJ Venture Management
(EEe) (HBELHE)
| 100%
The Purchaser
(British Virgin Islands)
87
(EBERES)
| 100% ——— denotes legal and beneficial ownership
Sun Join FORERBEASR
(British Vir g/n Islands) - - == denotes contractual relationship
B RTANRE
(BBELEHS)
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Sun Join Investment Limited
(Hong Kong)
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(&8) Offshore
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100% Onshore
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The WFOE
(PRC)
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I I services :’ ___________________________________ 1
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For details of the Contractual Arrangement, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 28 December 2023 (the “VIE
Announcement’), 19 January 2024 and 26 January 2024.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other new contractual
arrangements entered into, renewed and/or reproduced between the
Group and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities during the year ended
31 December 2024. There was no material change in the Contractual
Arrangement and/or the circumstances under which it was adopted for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Contractual Arrangement has
not been unwound as none of the restrictions that led to the adoption
of structured contracts under the Contractual Arrangement has been
removed.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had not encountered interference or
encumbrance from any PRC governing bodies in operating its businesses
through the Consolidated Affiliated Entities under the Contractual
Arrangement.

We have been advised by our PRC legal advisors that the Contractual
Arrangement does not violate the relevant PRC regulations.

The aggregate revenue of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities amounted to
RM4.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2024. For the year ended
31 December 2024, the revenue of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
accounted for approximately 4.9% of the revenue for the year of the
Group.

The aggregate total asset of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities amounted
to approximately RM211.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2024
which accounted for approximately 67.9% of the total asset for the year of
the Group.
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Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangement

The Company believes the following risks are associated with the
Contractual Arrangement. Further details of these risks are set out on
pages 36 to 43 of the VIE Announcement.

o if the PRC government deems that the Contractual Arrangement
does not comply with the applicable PRC laws and regulations, or
if these PRC laws and regulations or their interpretation change in
the future, the Group could be subject to severe consequences,
including the relinquishment of the Group’s interests received
through the Contractual Arrangement;

o the Contractual Arrangement may not be as effective as direct
ownership in providing control over the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities;

o the Registered Owners may potentially have a conflict of interests
with the Company;

. the Contractual Arrangement may be subject to scrutiny of the PRC
tax authorities and transfer pricing adjustments and additional tax
may be imposed;

° economic risks the Company bears as the primary beneficiary
of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, financial support to the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities and potential exposure of the
Company to losses;

o limitations in acquiring ownership in the remaining equity interest of
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities;

. certain terms of the Contractual Arrangement may not be
enforceable under the PRC laws; and

o the Company does not have any insurance which covers the
risks relating to the Contractual Arrangement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder.
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Mitigation Actions Taken by the Company

To ensure sound and effective operation of the Group after the adoption
of the Contractual Arrangement, and to safeguard the Group’s assets held
through the Contractual Arrangement, the management of the Group has
taken the following measures:

o as part of the Group’s internal control measures, major issues
arising from implementation and performance of the Contractual
Arrangement will be reviewed by the Board on a regular basis. The
Board will determine, as part of its periodic review process, whether
legal advisers and/or other professionals will need to be retained
to assist the Group to deal with specific issues arising from the
Contractual Arrangement;

° matters relating to compliance and regulatory enquiries from
governmental authorities, if any, will be discussed at such regular
meetings;

o the relevant business units and operation divisions of the Group,
including the business operations of the Operating Entity and the
Medical Institutions, will be reported regularly, which will be no less
frequently than on a monthly basis, to the senior management of
the Company on the compliance and performance conditions under
the Contractual Arrangement and other related matters; and

o the Company will disclose the overall performance of and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangement in its annual reports
where necessary.

The Extent to Which the Contractual Arrangement
Relate to Requirements Other Than the Foreign
Ownership Restriction

All of the Contractual Arrangement are subject to the restrictions as set
out on pages 15 to 16 of the VIE Announcement.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group has joined the MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees in
Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at a rate
specified in the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, which
is currently at 5% of the employees’ relevant income and capped at
HK$1,500 per month. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution
scheme. The contributions by the Group to the MPF Scheme vest
immediately. Therefore there was no amount of forfeited contributions that
could be utilised during the year ended 31 December 2024 nor was there
any available to reduce the Group’s existing level of contributions as at 31
December 2024.

As required by Malaysian law, the Group also makes contributions to
the state pension scheme for all qualifying employees in Malaysia, the
EPF, a social security institution formed according to the Employees
Provident Fund Act 1991 which provides for the retirement benefits for
all local employees. Both the employer and employee are required to
make contributions to the employee’s individual account in the EPF at a
specified percentage of the employee’s monthly income. The EPF is a
defined contribution scheme. The EPF does not have an arrangement
such that forfeited contributions (by employers on behalf of employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in such contributions) may
be used by the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.
Therefore there was no amount of forfeited contributions that could be
utilised during the year ended 31 December 2024 nor was there any
available to reduce the Group’s existing level of contributions as at 31
December 2024.

C-Link Squared Limited
70 Annual Report 2024

BRIREFSHE
FEECAERMEGEREEMAREES
B - BRTFEIRBRHIEATEE S BFH@
TREAMAESHIHEERAM RERES
stE BEREEBREHALBFIME QB E
EHIRIEERN LR m BRI FE HR B
A7 EEMHEBEWBANS% > ER%EH1,500%8
Lo mRE St B R —RERENGE - AEEY
BRIEE St BIRVHAREIR 8RR o R UL & E20244F
12A31HIEFE > WESH BRI MERE
38 1R2024F12B31H A ER AR ERAEE
RAEHMRKTHERNEEE-

FEERFEAREMER KEBIRA SRR
FIEEEREEABRERBHRSBIEREI
BEABESARBIVEREATEEEMAIL
Mt S RERE AEAESIRMEEBKNE
MeRBEREEHNBREERRANIEEED
ttrmREREEARENEAREHER EE
NEEA - BETHEURARFA - BELABSLE
HEUWBEHRRWNHESR EMMEEEERAERTH
HEFMARBEZTE BEFINRESEEN
HE) I EESALUREIRENHEUKFES
ZHEo AL B E2024F 12831 B ILFE > W&
AIE AL HRERE 1£2024F12831H
NEJARBREAEEREHAKTIFNEANE
Bo



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHRS

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC, the subsidiaries
of the Group in the PRC have joined defined contribution schemes
for its employees in the PRC, such as basic pension scheme and
unemployment insurance. The Group makes contributions to the above-
mentioned schemes at the applicable rates based on the amounts
stipulated by the PRC government. The defined contribution scheme
mentioned above does not have an arrangement such that forfeited
contributions (by employers on behalf of employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in such contributions) may be used by the
employer to reduce the existing level of contributions. Therefore there
was no amount of forfeited contributions that could be utilised during the
year ended 31 December 2024 nor was there any available to reduce the
Group’s existing level of contributions as at 31 December 2024.

The Company did not have any defined benefit plans during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE THE
COMPANY’S SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended and as at 31 December 2024 was the
Company, or any of its holding companies or subsidiaries, or any of its
fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or
chief executive of the Company or their respective associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) to have any right to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The emoluments of the Directors were decided by the Board as
recommended by the Remuneration Committee having regard to the
Group’s operating results, the individual performance of the Directors
and the comparable market statistics. The Directors’ fees are in line with
market practice. No individual Director should determine his/her own
remuneration.

Emolument package includes, as the case may be, fees, basic salaries,
housing allowances, contribution to pension schemes, discretionary
bonus relating to the financial results of the Group and individual
performance, ad hoc rewards, share options and other competitive fringe
benefits such as medical and life insurances. Details of the emoluments
of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals of the Group are set
out in Note 12 and Note 11 of the Notes to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report, respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or their
respective associates had engaged in or had any interest in any business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company did not have
any controlling shareholder.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Subject to applicable laws, the Directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they or any of them may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty, in their respective offices, pursuant to the Articles. Such
provisions were in force throughout the year ended 31 December 2024
and are currently in force. The Company has arranged for appropriate
insurance cover for Directors’ liabilities in respect of legal actions that may
be brought against the Directors.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares. If the
Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing,
holding, disposing of, dealing in, or exercising of any rights in relation to
the Shares, they are advised to consult their professional advisers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 December 2024. As of 31 December 2024, the Company did not hold
any treasury shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
laws of the Cayman lIslands, although there are no restrictions against
such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS,
WARRANTS, OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no convertible securities,
options, warrants or similar rights were issued or granted by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, sales to the Group’s largest
single customer accounted for approximately 22.6% of the total revenue
and the aggregate sales to its five largest single customers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 53.4% of the total revenue.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, purchases from the
Group’s largest single supplier (the “Largest Supplier”) accounted
for approximately 62.9% of the total purchase cost and the aggregate
purchases from its five largest single suppliers in aggregate accounted for
approximately 87.2% of the total purchase cost.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of our Directors, any of their
associates or any Shareholders (which to the knowledge of our Directors,
own more than 5% of the issued Share capital of our Company) had any
interest in any of our five largest single suppliers and single customers.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group and its business are governed by certain laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group which are stated in the
section headed “Regulatory Overview” of the Prospectus. To the best of
the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, during the year ended
31 December 2024, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group. The Company has
complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group.
The following are some of the primary laws and regulations applicable to
the Group in Malaysia and the PRC:

Risk Management in Technology Policy

In accordance with the RMIT, the Group requires its computer servers to
be housed in a data centre with access to a stable supply of electricity
and internet connectivity that meets the requirements of its financial
customers and Bank Negara Malaysia. The RMIT, which sets out
Bank Negara Malaysia’s expectations towards the technology and risk
management framework and practice of financial institutions, states that
production data centres and recovery data centres used by financial
institutions must be concurrently maintainable which shall be similar
or equivalent to the international standards of tier 3 requirements. The
Company has adopted measures to mitigate the risk of interruption of
the Group’s services to its financial institution customers. Please refer to
the paragraph headed “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” above in the
Directors’ Report in this annual report for more details.
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Laws and Regulations relating to Intellectual
Property

The Group uses various intellectual property rights such as software
copyrights in its daily business. During the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group complied with all Malaysian laws and regulations
relating to intellectual property, including the Copyright Act 1987 and the
Trademarks Act 2019. The Group was not subject to, or a party to, any
intellectual property rights infringement claims or litigation.

Laws and Regulations relating to Employment

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group complied with
all Malaysian laws and regulations relating to employment, including
the Employment Act 1955, the Employment (Restriction) Act 1968,
the Employees Provident Fund Act 1991, the Employees’ Social
Security Act 1969, the Minimum Wages Order (Amendment) 2018 and
Minimum Wages Order 2020, the Industrial Relations Act 1967 and the
Occupational Safety and Health Act 1994. The Group registered its staff
for social insurance and made all relevant contributions. It did not receive
any penalty from the relevant administrative departments and did not
experience any material disputes with, or claims by, any of its employees.

Laws and Regulations relating to Taxation

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group complied with all
Malaysian laws and regulations relating to taxation, including the Income
Tax Act 1967, Income Tax (Deduction from Remuneration) Rules 1994,
Promotion of Investments Act 1986, and Service Tax Act 2018. With a
view to strengthening its staff’s understanding of tax regulations applicable
in Malaysia, the Group has expanded its finance department with more
staff with accounting and tax expertise to handle matters in relation to
goods and services tax, and its staff is required to seek advice from the
Royal Malaysian Customs Department, other tax authorities and/or tax
consultant whenever there are new tax laws or regulations.
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Laws and Regulations relating to Data Security and
Personal Information Protection

The Group completed its acquisition of 51% of the equity interest in
Qingdao Yongbao in July 2021. Qingdao Yongbao is principally engaged
in the provision of outsourced insurance risk analysis services and
insurance marketing services. Qingdao Yongbao'’s businesses in the PRC
are subject to the PRC Data Security Law, the PRC Personal Information
Protection Law and a series of relevant industry regulations and policies of
the PRC. The PRC Data Security Law imposes data security and privacy
obligations on entities and individuals carrying out data activities (including
activities outside the PRC) that may affect national security, such as
data transmissions. The PRC Data Security Law protects personal data
security in general by requiring internet service providers to collect data
in accordance with PRC laws. The PRC Personal Information Protection
Law sets out the regulatory framework for handling and protecting
personal information and transmission of personal information. The PRC
Personal Information Protection Law protects individual privacy in general
by requiring internet service providers to obtain consents from internet
users prior to the collection, use or disclosure of internet users’ personal
data. The specific requirements of this recent law remain to be clarified by
the Cyberspace Administration of China.

The Group has internal policies in place to comply with the relevant laws
and regulations, and to make corresponding changes in its operations
in accordance with the updates of the relevant regulations and policies
by the government and regulatory agencies to cooperate with those
regulations and policies, so as to achieve legal compliance in its
operations. For the management and control of policy and regulatory
risks, the Group will, if considered necessary, obtain legal advice from
qualified legal entities with relevant industry experience to review the
Group’s business in the PRC to reduce relevant risks. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Group was not subject to any non-
compliance investigations or claims relating to data security or personal
information protection in the PRC.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is not subject to any specific environmental laws and
regulations set by the Malaysian Government with respect to the Group’s
operation. The Directors are of the opinion that the Group’s operations do
not have any material adverse impact on the environment. However, the
Group, as an outsourced service provider, is required to use a substantial
amount of paper for the printing of documents such as leaflets, letters,
envelopes and documentation for our customers, which are sent to
clients of our customers for, among other things, marketing purposes
and record keeping. As part of the Group’s commitment to environmental
sustainability, the Group strives to market our digital solutions to
customers and adopt other sustainable printing options such as the
use of recycled paper instead of virgin paper, the use of energy efficient
equipment and double-sided printing. On the other hand, the Directors
believe that the Group’s software, if accepted and implemented by our
customers, will reduce paper usage as we would enable many of the
outsourced services to be digitised.

Whilst the Group does not directly produce pollutants that directly affect
the environment, we have implemented internal policies to reduce the
Group’s carbon footprint such as reducing energy consumption through:

(i) Installing energy efficient lighting and ensuring lights are switched off
when out of use either manually or through automatic sensors;

(i)  Switching off equipment or using automatic power shutdown
systems; and

(i) Air cooling (actions include but are not limited to: regular
maintenance of air cooling technologies and optimal timing
controls).

For more details of our environmental, social and governance impacts
and practices, please refer to the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” of the Company which is prepared in accordance with Appendix
C2 to the Listing Rules and published on the same date as this annual
report.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS,
CUSTOMERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining good relationships
with its employees, suppliers, customers and other stakeholders to meet
its immediate and long-term goals.

Employees: The Group’s employees are invaluable assets of the
Group and it is dedicated to managing human resources. The Group
remunerates its employees with wages, bonuses and other staff
benefits. The Group offers on the job training, as well as encourages
staff development by providing financial subsidies to selected high
potential employees for external training or courses. For the employees
of the Group, we have registered our staff for social insurance and have
made relevant contributions in accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations.

Suppliers: The Group’s material suppliers which are mainly based in
Malaysia mainly supply paper products such as paper, envelopes, and
printing consumables. The Group also sources services suppliers for its
posting needs and printing needs which cannot be completed in-house.
The Group has not entered into any long-term supply agreements with
any suppliers or service providers and will purchase or engage them
on an as required basis. The length of relationship between the Group
and most of its material suppliers is over 10 years. The credit period
granted by the material suppliers to the Company (if any) is generally 30
days. The subsequent settlement of the trade payables to the Group’s
suppliers since 31 December 2024 and up to 31 March 2025 (the
publication date of the Company’s annual results announcement for the
year ended 31 December 2024) is approximately RM0.9 million, which
accounted for approximately 64.6% of the Group’s net trade payables
as at 31 December 2024. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group had relied on the single Largest Supplier which accounted
for approximately 62.9% of the Group’s total purchases. The services
provided by the Largest Supplier were postal services in Malaysia.
According to publicly available information, the Largest Supplier holds
an exclusive concession to provide mail services through its network
of branches and mini post offices in Malaysia. The Group believes that
its reliance on the Largest Supplier will continue and such reliance will
not have any material impact on the Group’s operations, as the Group
does not believe that it is subject to any different treatment or is subject
to any different risks as compared with its competitors who also require
postal services. In any event, the Group believes that its relationship with
the Largest Supplier is mutually beneficial and the only market practice
available.
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Customers: The Group’s major customers are companies from the
banking, insurance and retail industries which are mainly based in
Malaysia and the PRC and deal with a large volume of end-customers
on a daily basis. The Group’s stable business is based on its long-
term relationship with its major customers and providing them with
outsourced document management services, enterprise software
solutions, outsourced insurance marketing services and outsourced
insurance risk analysis services. As the Group possesses the technical
capability, flexibility of customising its software to meet its customers’
specific needs and ability to provide accurate and efficient processing,
the Group believes that this has led a majority of its customers to return
and continue using its services by renewing the service contracts when
they expire. As such, the Group engages in regular discussions with its
customers to understand their potential needs so as to develop and
customise potential software solutions for them. The length of relationship
between most of our major customers in Malaysia and the Group is over
10 years. The credit period granted by the major customers is generally
30 days. The subsequent settlement of the trade receivables from the
Group’s customers since 31 December 2024 and up to 31 March 2025
(the publication date of the Company’s annual results announcement
for the year ended 31 December 2024) is approximately RM15.9
million, which accounted for approximately 82.8% of the Group’s net
trade receivables as at 31 December 2024. During the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group had relied on its five largest single customers.
The Group’s aggregate sales to its five largest single customers
accounted for approximately 22.6% of the Group’s total revenue and in
particular, sales to the Group’s largest single customer accounted for
approximately 53.4% of the Group’s total revenue. For more details on the
Group’s reliance on its major customers and the measures undertaken to
manage such risk, please refer to the paragraph headed “Principal Risks
and Uncertainties” above in the Directors’ Report in this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its employees, suppliers,
customers and/or stakeholders.
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CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, we have complied with all
applicable Code Provisions set forth in the CG Code, except for the
following deviation from Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code. For further
information on the Company’s corporate governance practices and details
of the deviations, please refer to the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 82 to 108 of this annual report.

Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separated and should not be performed by
the same individual. During the Reporting Period, Mr. Ma Shengcong
(“Mr. Ma”) has been holding the roles of the chairman of the Board and
the chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Ma has been primarily
responsible for overseeing and monitoring the Group’s daily operations
and participating in formulating and assessing the Company’s goals and
objectives. Mr. Ma is also responsible for developing strategic business
plans and exploring new business opportunities for the Company’s
subsidiary in the PRC, which is principally engaged in the operation of
outsourced insurance risk analysis services, insurance marketing services,
and the distribution and sales of medical equipment business. Taking into
account the significance of effective management and the implementation
of our business strategies, the Directors (including the independent non-
executive Directors) consider it is most suitable for Mr. Ma to hold both
the positions of chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of
the Company, and the existing arrangements are beneficial and in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

Under the leadership of Mr. Ma, the Board is and has been able to work
effectively and perform its responsibilities with key and appropriate issues
discussed in a timely manner. In addition, all major decisions are made in
consultation with members of the Board and relevant Board committees,
and there are three Independent Non-Executive Directors on the Board
offering independent perspectives. The Board is therefore of the view that
there are adequate safeguards in place to ensure sufficient balance of
powers and authorities between the Board and the management of the
Company.
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To maintain a high standard of corporate governance practices of
the Company, the Board will review the effectiveness of the structure
and composition of the Board from time to time in light of prevailing
circumstances, and will continue to review and consider splitting the roles
of chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer at a time when it
is appropriate by taking into account the circumstances of the Group as a
whole.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
to the best knowledge of the Directors as at the Latest Practicable Date,
there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s
issued Shares as required under the Listing Rules at all times during the
year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the Latest Practicable Date.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the audited consolidated results and assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 222 of
this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024 have been audited by CCTH CPA Limited, the independent auditor
of the Company. Ernst & Young PLT resigned as the independent auditor
of the Company on 28 September 2023 due to disagreement with the
Company on the proposed audit fee for the year ended 31 December
2023 and CCTH CPA Limited has been appointed as the independent
auditor of the Company to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation
of Ernst & Young PLT with effect from 21 November 2023 and was
reappointed as the independent auditor of the Company at the annual
general meeting of the Company on 23 May 2024. There has been no
change in auditors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed herein, no significant subsequent event was
undertaken by the Group after 31 December 2024 and up to the Latest
Practicable Date.
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CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION ERENEH

There is no change in the information of the Directors pursuant to Rule  1R#E _EH#RAISE13.51B(1)& » B A 520244
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since the date of the Company's interim HHIRE HHEEERZITHE  EF&H
report 2024, up to the Latest Practicable Date. I S E) o

Save as disclosed herein, as at the Latest Practicable Date, the Directors ~ BRARFEIRFAILEEIN R REOIITHER  EEE
confirm that no information is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule R ER#E FHRE)$E13.51BIEREE TR

13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules. BHER -

On behalf of the Board RREET

Ma Shengcong FERITEKES
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer B4

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025 &% 2025F3831H
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The Board of Directors is pleased to present the corporate governance
report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.

MAJOR DEVELOPMENT IN THE GROUP’S
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DURING THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

The major development in the Group’s corporate governance during the
year ended 31 December 2024 is set out as follows.

Pursuant to changes to Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, the following
corporate governance policies have been updated or introduced (as the
case may be) and adopted by the Board effective from 1 January 2022:

0] Board diversity policy;

(i) Shareholders’ communication policy;

(i) Whistleblowing policy;

(iv)  Anti-corruption policy;

(v)  Statement on purpose, values and strategy; and

(vj  Policy on obtaining independent views and input.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to the
Shareholders and protecting and enhancing Shareholder value through
good corporate governance. The Company has developed and
implemented sound corporate governance policies and measures, and
the Board is responsible for performing such corporate governance
duties. The Board will continue to review and monitor the corporate
governance of the Company with reference to the CG Code so as to
maintain a high standard of corporate governance of the Company.

The Company has complied with all applicable Code Provisions as set out
in the CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2024, except the
deviation from Code Provision C.2.1.
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Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separated and should not be performed by the same
individual. During the Reporting Period, Mr. Ma has been holding the roles of
the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company.
Mr. Ma has been primarily responsible for overseeing and monitoring the
Group’s daily operations and participating in formulating and assessing the
Company’s goals and objectives. Mr. Ma is also responsible for developing
strategic business plans and exploring new business opportunities for
the Company’s subsidiary in the PRC, which is principally engaged in
the operation of outsourced insurance risk analysis services, insurance
marketing services, and the distribution and sales of medical equipment
business. Taking into account the significance of effective management and
the implementation of our business strategies, the Directors (including the
Independent Non-Executive Directors) consider it is most suitable for Mr. Ma
to hold both the positions of chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer of the Company, and the existing arrangements are beneficial and in
the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

Under the leadership of Mr. Ma, the Board is and has been able to work
effectively and perform its responsibilites with key and appropriate issues
discussed in a timely manner. In addition, all major decisions are made in
consultation with members of the Board and relevant Board committees, and
there are three Independent Non-Executive Directors on the Board offering
independent perspectives. The Board is therefore of the view that there are
adequate safeguards in place to ensure sufficient balance of powers and
authorities between the Board and the management of the Company.

To maintain a high standard of corporate governance practices of
the Company, the Board will review the effectiveness of the structure
and composition of the Board from time to time in light of prevailing
circumstances, and will continue to review and consider splitting the roles
of chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer at a time when it
is appropriate by taking into account the circumstances of the Group as a
whole.

BEBEEEEBTRTRMRXEC.2.11% £/F
HETHRHNARREERD  TAEE—A
FRRE - RRSHPAN BEE-—BREIE
EEEIRMAADBDTHAERRBE - BRE—
EFXF2a5ERKEEFAERENAEEE
W2RGTRFLEERATHER FRET
BER/EAT RENE AL EHE]REER
SERRRMEFBHRE ZWBLATEEN
EREEN A RERE R DT IRE - REREHR
B BREKBOBERBEEESE TRIAN
EENEZEUREZRENER EX (B85
BIFRTES IR BRERAFETIES
EERKREATDTHREBHBRATE ]
ERHIRAN BN GEA R RERRVELRE

R o

EEAENBRET EFEREMABE—H
SEBRC THELBITHRE  RF 5 HE
RERBEBE I PREERXREHESE
EENENEHMESEZETHE AES
ELE=ZABUFNTESFTRHBULNE
BioEI EFERAHE BHRER > X
BREFGUARFEERE BRI KE
PR e 59 17 -

REFEALNDSRENTEEELRER BF
ERBEEEBFAIANEEEFTEHEERE
PREYE XM TR A AE RS B S A
EEERBENEREENEERGRESTEE
FERITHRHNABEDR-

C-Link Squared Limited
2024 F 3R

=



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEERHRS

COMPANY’S CULTURE

The Board believes that corporate culture underpins the long-term
business, economic success and sustainable growth of the Group. A
strong culture enables the Company to deliver long-term sustainable
performance and fuffil its role as a responsible corporate citizen. The
Company is committed to developing a positive and progressive culture
that is built on its purpose, values and strategy.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company continued to
strengthen its cultural framework by focusing on the following:

84

Purpose:

The Company envisions to become an established multinational
outsourced document management services provider, related
software application and enterprise software solutions developer,
outsourced insurance risk analysis and marketing service provider.

Values:
Technological advancement

The Company creates value and goodwill through technological
innovation.

Engagement

The Company prides itself on keeping its Shareholders engaged
and informed in the markets and communities in which the
Company operates.

Excellence

The Company strives to deliver excellent services in an effective and
efficient manner.

Mutual Respect

The Company strives for working internally and externally in a
collegiate environment based on trust, collaboration and respect.
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e  Strategy:

(i) Grow and enhance our Malaysia core business;

(i) Strengthen our corporate reputation in Malaysia, Singapore,
the PRC and beyond;

@iy  Accelerate our success internationally; and

(iv)  Advocate the importance of harnessing technology in
business processes.

The Board sets and promotes its corporate culture incorporating its purpose,
values and strategy above and expects and requires all employees to
reinforce. All of our new employees are required to attend orientation and
training programs so that they may better understand our corporate culture,
structure and policies, learn relevant laws and regulations, and raise their
quality awareness. In addition, from time to time, the Company will invite
external experts to provide training to our management personnel to improve
their relevant knowledge and management skills.

The Board considers that the corporate culture and the purpose, values
and strategy of the Group are aligned.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct for
securities transactions by the Directors. Following specific enquires with
all Directors (including the existing Directors and the former Directors
who had been Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024), all
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required standard
of dealings as set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31
December 2024.

The Company'’s relevant employees, who are likely to be in possession of
inside information of the Company, have also been subject to the Model
Code for securities transactions. No incident of non-compliance of the
Model Code by the Company’s relevant employees was noted by the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

The Company is committed to the view that the Board should include a
balanced composition of Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors
and Independent Non-Executive Directors so that the Board has a
strong independent element, which can effectively exercise independent
judgement. As at the date of this report, the Board comprises seven
Directors, including two Executive Directors, two Non-Executive
Directors and three Independent Non-Executive Directors. Details of their
composition by category are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ma Shengcong (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Zhang Ying

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ling Sheng Shyan
Dr. Wu Xianyi

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Junhui
Mr. Qian Jianguang
Mr. Xie Yaozu

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report. Save as disclosed in the biographies of the Directors, none of
the Directors has any personal relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationship) with any other Directors or
any chief executive.
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Responsibilities

The Board is the primary decision-making body of the Company. The
Board and the management of the Company are charged with promoting
the success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.
All Directors, including Non-Executive Directors and Independent Non-
Executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. All Directors have full and timely access to all the
information of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Board regularly reviews the contribution from each Director in
performing his/her responsibilities to the Company and whether he/she
has sufficient time and attention to the Company’s affairs. The Board
has general powers for the management and conduct of the Company’s
business, in particularly, decision in all major matters relating to policy,
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant
operational matters of the Company. The day-to-day operations and
management are delegated by the Board to the management of the
Company, who will implement the strategy and direction as determined by
the Board.

Directors’ and Officers Liabilities Insurance

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’
liabilities in respect of legal actions that may be brought against the
Directors.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Code Provision B.2.2 of the CG Code stipulates that every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Each of the Directors is appointed under a service agreement or a letter of
appointment for a term of three years. For more details, please refer to the
paragraph headed “Directors’ Service Contracts” in the Directors’ report
in this annual report.
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In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles, one-third of the Directors
for the time being, or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation at
each annual general meeting provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years and shall be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with Article 108(b) of the Articles, the Directors to retire by
rotation shall include (so far as necessary to obtain the number required)
any Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election.
Any Director who has not been subject to retirement by rotation in the
three years preceding the annual general meeting shall retire by rotation
at such annual general meeting. Any further Directors so to retire shall
be those who have been longest in office since their last re-election or
appointment and so that as between persons who became or were last
re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless they
otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.

In accordance with Article 112 of the Articles, any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be subject
to re-election at such meeting. Any additional Directors appointed by the
Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting
and shall then be eligible for re-election. Any Director appointed under
such Article shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors or
the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at an annual general
meeting.

Accordingly, Ms. Zhang Ying, Mr. Ling Sheng Shyan and Mr. Qian
Jianguang shall retire at the 2025 AGM and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles.
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Directors’ Induction and Continuing Professional
Development

The Directors as at 31 December 2024, namely Mr. Ma Shengcong, Ms.
Zhang Ying, Mr. Ling Sheng Shyan, Dr. Wu Xianyi, Mr. Yang Junhui, Mr.
Qian Jianguang and Mr. Xie Yaozu, had complied with Code Provision
C.1.4 of the CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2024 by
participating in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills, through attending trainings and/or
reading materials relevant to the Company’s business and/or to directors’
duties and responsibilities. In particular, in compliance with Code
Provision C.1.1 of the CG Code, during the year ended 31 December
2024, the Company has arranged in-house trainings on relevant Hong
Kong laws and the Listing Rules in the form of a seminar for all Directors
(including the Director who was newly appointed in 2024), and such
trainings were conducted by the legal advisor of the Company; the
relevant training materials had also been distributed to all Directors, and
all Directors had attended the in-house trainings. The trainings for the
new Director covered topics including the roles, functions and duties of
a listed company director, the disclosure obligations under the laws of
Hong Kong, the requirements of disclosable transactions and connected
transactions etc. under the Listing Rules. In addition, the Company has
provided all the Directors with relevant training materials covering topics
including but not limited to the roles, functions and duties of a listed
company director, relevant Hong Kong laws, the Listing Rules and its
updates, corporate governance, environmental, social and governance
reporting and anti-corruption, and all the Directors have perused such
training materials to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

The Company has appointed Mr. Xie Yaozu as the Independent Non-
Executive Director with effect from 25 April 2024. Mr. Xie Yaozu had
obtained legal advice that are applicable to him as a director of a listed
Company and the possible consequences of making a false declaration
or giving false information to the Stock Exchange as referred to in Rule
3.09D of the Listing Rules on 24 April 2024, before his appointment
became effective. Mr. Xie Yaozu has confirmed that he understood his
obligations as a director of a listed company.
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Meetings of Board, Committees Meetings and
General Meetings

Code Provision C.5.1 of the CG Code stipulates that board meetings
should be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly
intervals with active participation of the majority of the Directors, either in
person or through electronic means of communication.

During the year, there were four Board meetings held, at which the
Directors approved, among other things, the annual results and annual
report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the interim
results and interim report of the Group for the period ended 30 June
2024.

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings on regular
and ad hoc basis where practicable. Notices of no less than fourteen
days are given for all regular Board meetings to provide all Directors with
an opportunity to attend and include matters in the agenda for a regular
meeting. For other Board meetings and Board committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given by the Company.

The agenda and accompanying Board papers are dispatched to the
Directors or committee members at least three days before the Board
meetings or Board committee meetings to ensure that the Directors have
sufficient time to review the papers and be adequately prepared for the
Board meetings or Board committee meetings.

When Directors or Board committee members are unable to attend a
meeting, they are advised of the matters to be discussed and given an
opportunity to make their views known to the chairman of the meeting
prior to the meeting. Minutes of meetings are kept by the company
secretary of the Company with copies circulated to all Directors for
information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail on the matters considered by the Board and
the Board committees and the decisions reached, including any concerns
raised by the Directors or dissenting views expressed (if any). Draft and
final versions of minutes of each Board meeting and Board committee
meeting are sent to the Directors for comments and record within a
reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held. The minutes
of the Board meetings are open for inspection by the Directors.
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Number of meeting(s) attended/number of meeting(s) held during the year TFRZHINNERNEENGEZNE ETHNS

is set out in the below table: EmNE

General Audit Remuneration Nomination
Name of Director meeting’ Board" Committee! = Committee’ = Committee!
BERiL BREAE! BEXg' BRZEY HFHNEEEY RRZEY
Executive Directors: HiTESE
Mr. Ma Shengcong' Bamis 11 4/4  N/ATREH 1/1 1A
Ms. Zhang Ying REZL 11 4/4  N/ATER N/A FEH N/A R EH

Non-Executive Directors:  JEH{TES :

Mr. Ling Sheng Shyan Ling Sheng Shyanst4 11 4/4  N/ATER N/A R EH N/A R EH
Dr. Wu Xianyi REREL 1/1 44 NATER NATBER  NATER

Independent Non-Executive BIIJFHITES :

Directors:
Mr. Yang Junhui BEBRE 11 4/4 4/4 11 11
Mr. Qian Jianguang iEFrl b 1/1 4/4 4/4 11 11
Mr. Xie Yaozu (appointed on  ARIBIE A (7420244 11 2/2 11 0/0 0/0
25 April 2024) 4725 EEHT)
Dr. Zeng Jianhua (resigned on & ZE B+ (7220244 0/0 2/2 3/3 11 11
25 April 2024) 48250 BHT)
U The attendance of the Directors refers to the number of meetings held during REEHFENBIEESEAHENERENTER
their respective tenure. o
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Board Independence

The Company recognises that Board independence is key to good
corporate governance. The Company has put in place effective
mechanisms that underpin an independent Board and ensure that
independent views are available to the Board. The Independent Non-
Executive Directors currently make up more than one-third of the Board
and the members of the Audit Committee are all Independent Non-
Executive Directors, which are in full compliance with the independence
requirements under the Listing Rules. Each of the Remuneration
Committee and Audit Committee is chaired by Independent Non-
Executive Directors. The remuneration of Independent Non-Executive
Directors is subject to regular review to maintain competitiveness and to
ensure that it is commensurate with their responsibilities and workload.
The independence of each Independent Non-Executive Director is
assessed upon his appointment and annually.

The Directors are requested to declare their direct or indirect interests, if
any, in proposals or transactions to be considered by the Board at the
Board meetings and abstain from voting, where appropriate. External
independent professional advice is available to all Directors, including
Independent Non-Executive Directors, whenever deemed necessary. The
Independent Non-Executive Directors have consistently demonstrated
strong commitment and the ability to devote sufficient time to discharge
their responsibilities at the Board.

The Company has also established channels through formal and informal
means whereby Independent Non-Executive Directors can express their
views in an open manner, and, where necessary, in a confidential manner.
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Independence of Independent Non-Executive
Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company at all
times fulfilled the requirement of the Listing Rules that the number of
Independent Non-Executive Directors must represent at least one-third
of the Board and should not be less than three, and that at least one of
the Independent Non-Executive Directors has appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

Each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of independence in writing pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the Board is satisfied that all the Independent Non-
Executive Directors have been independent and met the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules during the year ended
31 December 2024.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has established three Board committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.
Each of the Board committees operates under defined written terms of
reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees are available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee

We have established our Audit Committee in compliance with Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules and the CG Code on 11 March 2020 with its terms
of reference revised on 1 January 2023. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are mainly to assist our Board in providing an independent
view of the effectiveness of our financial reporting process, internal
control and risk management system, overseeing the audit process and
performing other duties and responsibilities as assigned by our Board.

Currently, the Audit Committee consists of three Independent Non-
Executive Directors, namely Mr. Yang Junhui, Mr. Qian Jianguang and Mr.
Xie Yaozu. Mr. Yang Junhui is the chairman of the Audit Committee.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, four Audit Committee
meetings were held at which the Audit Committee, among other things,
the Audit Committee had (i) reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023; (ii)
reviewed the internal control and risk management system of the Group;
and (i) reviewed the interim results of the Group for the period ended 30
June 2024. The Audit Committee has also reviewed the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal audit function (which is outsourced to an external
consultant).

Among which, the Audit Committee had two meetings with CCTH CPA
Limited, the current independent auditor of the Company, to review the
audit plan and strategy for the year ended 31 December 2023 and review
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2023. The Board had no disagreement with the
Audit Committee’s view on the re-appointment of the independent auditor
of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

We established our Remuneration Committee in compliance with Rule
3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code on 11 March 2020 with its
terms of reference revised on 1 January 2023. The primary duties of
the Remuneration Committee are mainly to evaluate the performance of
our Directors and Senior Management and determine the remuneration
package of our Directors and members of our Senior Management.

Currently, the Remuneration Committee consists of three Independent
Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Yang Junhui, Mr. Qian Jianguang
and Mr. Xie Yaozu and one Executive Director, namely Mr. Ma Shengcong.
Mr. Yang Junhui is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, (i) one Remuneration
Committee meeting was held at which the Remuneration Committee
mainly reviewed the remuneration policy for Directors and Senior
Management, the remuneration of Directors and the remuneration of
new Directors of the Company, and assessed the performance of the
Executive Directors.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors for the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in Note 11 of the Notes to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.
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The annual remuneration of the senior management of the Group by band
for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

Remuneration of the Senior Management

KREESHREEEBNREE2024F12H31HLE
FENFEFHFBNSEESHIWOT :

= AR E R RO F

Number of
Senior
Management
=4
FEEAY

HK$1 — HK$500,000

Save as disclosed in this annual report, () no remuneration was paid to
our Directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join,
or upon joining, our Group; (i) no compensation was paid to, or receivable
by, our Directors or past Directors or the five highest paid individuals
during the year ended 31 December 2024 for the loss of office as director
of any member of our Group or of any other office in connection with the
management of the affairs of any member of our Group; and (i) none of
our Directors waived any emoluments during the same period.

Further to the above, no Director or none of the five highest paid
individuals has been paid in cash or shares or otherwise by any person
either to induce him to become, or to qualify him as a Director, or
otherwise for service rendered by him in connection with the promotion or
formation of us save as disclosed in this annual report.

Nomination Committee

We have established our Nomination Committee in compliance with Rule
3.27A of the Listing Rules and the CG Code on 11 March 2020 with
its terms of reference revised on 1 January 2023. The primary duties of
the Nomination Committee are mainly to make recommendations to our
Board on the appointment of our Directors and members of our Senior
Management.

Currently, the Nomination Committee consists of three Independent Non-
Executive Directors, namely Mr. Yang Junhui, Mr. Qian Jianguang and Mr.
Xie Yaozu and one Executive Director, namely Mr. Ma Shengcong. Mr. Ma
Shengcong is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the year, one Nomination Committee meeting was held to review
the Board composition, assess the independence of Independent Non-
Executive Directors and make recommendation to the Board for re-
election of Directors in the 2024 annual general meeting of the Company.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its
sustainable development. In this regard, the Board has adopted the board
diversity policy. In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has
been considered taking into account a number of aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity in the Board.

The Board has also set measurable objectives to achieve board diversity,
which includes the following: (i) the selection of candidates will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service, (i) the Nomination
Committee will discuss and make discussion annually, and, where
necessary, reach consensus on measurable objectives for achieving
board diversity. It will provide its recommendation to the Board for
adoption, which includes at least one of the Directors having appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise, and at least one Director having intensive experience of the
industry on which the business of the Group is engaged in, (i) the Board
shall have at least one Director of a different gender. Such Director shall
possess the skills, experience and talent necessary for the operation of
the Company, and (iv) to achieve and/or maintain gender diversity, the
Nomination Committee will recommend potential candidates for the Board
SO as to realise gender diversity. The ultimate decision will be based on
objective criteria, merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board, taking into consideration of the Company’s corporate
strategies and business operation.

The Board considered that the aforementioned measurable goals have
been achieved satisfactorily during the year ended 31 December 2024,
The Nomination Committee has conducted an annual review of the
board diversity policy and the Nomination Committee is satisfied with the
implementation and effectiveness of the board diversity policy.
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Gender and Workforce Diversity

To achieve and/or maintain diversity (including gender diversity), the
Nomination Committee will identify and recommend potential candidates
to the Board so as to promote and realise gender diversity. Specifically,
when selecting potential candidates for the Board, the Nomination
Committee and the Board will, inter alia, (i) consider the current ability,
diversity and representation level of different gender in the Board and
senior management when making recommendation on nominees and
the succession plan of the Board and Senior Management, and (i) take
reference to the Code of Practice on Employment published by Hong
Kong Equal Opportunities Commission and other manuals in other
applicable jurisdictions from time to time, so as to consider the standards
in promoting diversity. The Group adheres to the principle of fairness in
the recruitment procedures, and does not implement any restriction on
gender, ethnicity, nationality and territory. The Nomination Committee
adopts the above measures and reviews the profiles of the potential
candidates of Board members against the above selection criteria in order
to develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board to achieve
gender diversity.

The gender ratio of male to female in the workforce (including Senior
Management) for the year ended 31 December 2024 is 2:3. The
Company considers that gender diversity is rather balanced and has
been achieved in its workforce generally. The Group aims to continue
maintaining a more balanced gender diversity in the workforce by
promoting such diversity during recruitment.

For further details of gender ratio and initiatives taken to improve gender
diversity, together with the relevant data, please refer to the disclosure
in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of the Company
which is published on the same date as this annual report.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
which aims to:

o set out the criteria and process in the selection, recommendation,
nomination and appointment of Directors;

o ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company; and

o ensure the Board’s continuity and appropriate leadership at Board
level.

Criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria in
evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships:

o character, reputation and integrity;

o qualifications, experience and accomplishments, including
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are
relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy;

o willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a Board
member and other directorships and significant commitments;

° requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidates
would be considered independent by reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

. Board diversity policy and any measurable objectives adopted by
the Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on the Board;

° any other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of Directors and
succession planning; and

° such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.
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Nomination Procedures

(A) Appointment of New Director

0

(i)

(v)

(v)

The Nomination Committee shall, upon receipt of the
proposal on appointment of a new Director, evaluate
the biographical information (or relevant details) of such
candidate based on the criteria as set out in the above
paragraph of “Criteria” to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship.

The Nomination Committee may request candidates to
provide additional information and documents, if considered
necessary.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee shall rank them by order of preference
based on the needs of the Company (including but not limited
to ensuring that the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives) and reference check of each
candidate (where applicable).

The Nomination Committee shall then recommend the
appointment of an appropriate candidate for directorship
and the candidate shall provide his/her written consent (a) to
be appointed as a Director, and (b) to the public disclosure
of his/her personal data on any documents or the relevant
websites for the purpose of or in relation to his/her standing
for election as a Director.

For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for
election as a Director at the general meeting of the Company,
the Nomination Committee shall evaluate such candidate
based on the above paragraph of “Criteria” to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship and
where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board shall make recommendation to the Shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of Director at the general
meeting.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to the recommendation of candidates to stand for election at
any general meeting.
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(B) Re-Election of Director at General Meeting

(i) Retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board to
stand for re-election at a general meeting of the Company.

(i)  The Nomination Committee shall review the retiring Director’s
overall contribution and service to the Company, including
his/her attendance of Board meetings and, where applicable,
general meetings, and his/her level of participation and
performance on the Board.

(i) ~ The Nomination Committee shall also review and determine
whether the retiring Director continues to meet the criteria as
set out in above paragraph.

(iv)  the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall then
make recommendation to the Shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of the Director at the general meeting.

(v)  The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to its recommendation of candidates to stand for re-election
at any general meeting.

Regular Review

The Nomination Committee will conduct regular review on:

(i) the effectiveness of the Nomination Policy to ensure that it remains
relevant to the Company’s needs and reflects both current
regulatory requirements and good corporate governance practice;
and

(ii) the structure, size and composition of the Board and where
appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and business
needs.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in Code
Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. During the year ended 31 December
2024, the Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional development
of Directors and Senior Management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the Model Code and written employee guidelines, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this corporate
governance report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

CCTH CPA Limited is appointed as the independent auditor of the
Company. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the fees for the audit
of the annual financial statements of the Group totalled HK$1,030,000
(excluding the out-of-pocket expenses on the audit service).

The fee charged by CCTH CPA Limited in respect of the non-auditing
services for the year ended 31 December 2024 was HK$120,000.

DIRECTORS’ ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and the results of its operations and cash
flow during the Reporting Period. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors have
selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently,
made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable
and prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis. There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern. A statement from the independent auditors about its
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set
out on pages 114 to 116 of this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control and risk management systems in order to identify, evaluate
and manage significant risks, and safeguard the Group’s assets and
Shareholders’ interests, and reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control and risk management systems on an annual basis so as to
ensure that the internal control and risk management systems in place are
adequate. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.

The Company outsourced its internal audit function to an external
consultant who reports to the Board. The internal audit function primarily
carries out the analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems, and reports their findings to the Board on, at least, an annual
basis.

Z RN &
REXESAMERAREEZETASATH
BT ERET o B E2024F 12831 B ILEE »
MEZAEREEMHFRRNE BEES
1,080,000 7t (FBIEBRFHVBRS
&) o

REZE2024F12831BIEEE - HIEXRIES
AR AT MIEBARBWENERA
120,000 7T ©

EFHEERER
EXAERERREEMATHRMAEE
RBREHAEBRIUREEXERRER
BNGREMBRR -NEREE2024F128
SIHEFENGEVBREFN EFEER
ENEFHRRLEHEA FHEBEMAF
BENFIE RGO URRFEEEEERR
REMHRR - MEADEH AR FHHEL
ERENBAE R BN E SR ARRRE
RAEXRTHEMAR B ZBENE LGS Y
BRERSEENBRANEFERF114E
1168 °

REREE I K R B IR

EFCREMFRE2ANNNEEERAR
BEEGE UH TEREEENRERMU
RREAEEEERRREN D IS FR
AT ERE IR B R B IR K R AR B
HERANEEEREREERNERE BB
AR EEEEMIPHRAREEREREFBRN
ERE 1t B RSt W B RIEERRA N AR IR
HEEMIFEH RS

FABREABEZBEIMNNTFRAEETETR
SERSMNERER - AB BT EHARQT
REEERABEZENENTEE RN
EToMkBUSt TEVDSFREFE
BREREER-

C-Link Squared Limited
2024 F 3R

kS



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEERHRS

The Group’s internal control system includes a well-established
organizational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility and
authority. The day-to-day departmental operations are entrusted to
individual department which is accountable for its own conduct and
performance and is required to operate its own department’s business
within the scope of the delegated authority and to implement and strictly
adhere to the strategies and policies set by the Company from time to
time. Each department is also required to keep the Board informed of
material developments of the department’s business and implementation
of the policies and strategies set by the Board on a regular basis.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the Latest
Practicable Date, the Board has reviewed on an annual basis (i) the
changes in the nature and extent of significant risks and the Group’s ability
to respond to changes in its business and the external environment; (i) the
scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks (including
environmental, social and governance risks) and of the internal control
systems; (i) the extent and frequency of communication of monitoring
results to the Board which enables it to assess control of the Company
and the effectiveness of risk management; (iv) any significant control
failings or weaknesses which have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or
contingencies that have had, could have had, or may in the future have,
a material impact on the Group’s financial performance or condition; and
(v) the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems
of the Group to ensure that a sound system is maintained and operated
by the management in compliance with the agreed procedures and
standards. The review covered all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions.
In particular, the Board considered the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of the
Company'’s accounting, internal audit, financial reporting functions, as well
as those relating to the Company’s environmental, social and governance
performance and reporting. The review was made with reference to
discussions with the management of the Company and the assessment
conducted by the Audit Committee. The Board believes that the existing
internal control system is adequate and effective, in particular, for financial
reporting and Listing Rules compliance.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company takes its obligations
under Part XIVA of the SFO and the Listing Rules seriously. The Company
has adopted a Continuous Disclosure Compliance Policy which sets out
guidelines and procedures to the Directors and officers of the Group to
ensure inside information of the Group is disseminated to the public in an
equal and timely manner. Briefing session is held regularly for officers to
facilitate their understanding and compliance with such policy.
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Anti-corruption Policy

The Company does not tolerate any form of bribery, whether direct or
indirect, by, or of, its Directors, officers, employees, agents or consultants
or any persons or companies acting for it or on its behalf. The Company
adopts an anti-corruption policy in promoting and supporting anti-
corruption laws and regulations, as well as assisting its employees in
recognising circumstances which may lead to or give the appearance of
being involved in corruption or unethical business conduct, so as to avoid
such conduct which is clearly prohibited, and to promptly seek guidance if
necessary.

The anti-corruption policy will be reviewed on a regular basis, and any
convicted cases will be reported to the Audit Committee or the Board.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company expects and encourages employees of the Group and
those who deal with the Group (e.g., suppliers, customers, creditors
and debtors) to raise concerns to the Audit Committee, in confidence
and anonymity, any suspected impropriety, misconduct or malpractice
concerning the Group. The Company adopts a whistleblowing policy
that provide () reporting channels; (i) guidance on reporting possible
improprieties; and (i) reassurances to whistleblowers of the protection
that the Group will extend to them in the formal system.

The whistleblowing policy will be reviewed on a regular basis, and any
suspected cases will be reported to the Audit Committee.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Directors have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary of the Company to ensure that the Board procedures, and
all applicable law, rules and regulations, are followed. The company
secretary of the Company is Ms. Chan Lok Yee. Ms. Chan has over ten
years of experience in the provision of a full range of company secretarial
and compliance services and has held positions in various corporate
secretarial companies in Hong Kong. She is currently a senior manager
of company secretarial services in Vistra Corporate Services (HK) Limited,
and is currently serving a portfolio of clients, including public listed
companies and private companies. In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules, Ms. Chan has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year ended 31 December 2024. Our
Senior Management, Ms. Zhang Ying, is one of the contact persons and
the primary contact person of the Company for Ms. Chan.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

The Company’s annual general meeting remains the principal forum for
dialogue with the Shareholders. The Shareholders are encouraged to
participate in the proceedings and ask questions about the resolutions
being proposed and the operations of the Group. The Articles allows a
Shareholder entitled to attend and vote to appoint more than one proxy
to attend and vote on behalf of the Shareholder and also provides that a
proxy needs not be a Shareholder.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange after each
Shareholders’ mesting.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles, the Board may, whenever it thinks
fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting. Extraordinary general
meetings shall also be convened on the requisition of one or more
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less
than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right
to vote at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to
the Board or the company secretary of the Company for the purpose
of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board to convene such
meeting shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company. The
said written requisitions can be addressed to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company by mail to Room 1901, 19/F, Lee Garden One,
33 Hysan Avenue, Causeway Cay, Hong Kong.
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PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETING

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Act. However,
Shareholders who wish to propose resolutions may follow Article 64 of the
Articles for requisitioning an extraordinary general meeting and including
a resolution at such meeting. The requirements and procedures of Article
64 are set out above. As regards proposing a person for election as a
Director, the procedures are available on the website of the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING ENQUIRIES TO THE
BOARD AND CONTACT DETAILS

Shareholders may, at any time, direct questions, request for publicly
available information and provide comments and suggestions to the
Directors or management of the Company. Such questions, requests and
comments can be addressed to the Company by mail to Room 1901,
19/F, Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong or
by email to investor_relations@cgroup.com.my.

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings by
mail to the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong or by
telephone at (852) 2862 8555, who has been appointed by the Company
to deal with Shareholders for share registration and related matters.

POLICY ON OBTAINING INDEPENDENT VIEWS
AND INPUT

In March 2022, the Board adopted a policy on obtaining independent
views and input (the “Obtaining Independent Views Policy”), reflecting
the Company’s commitment to high corporate governance standard,
and making good corporate governance an essential component of our
corporate culture. Details of the Obtaining Independent Views Policy are
as follows:

o The Board, Board committees or individual Directors may
seek such independent professional advice, views and input
as considered necessary to fulfill their responsibilities and in
exercising independent judgement when making decisions in
furtherance of their Directors’ duties at the Company’s expense (the
“Mechanism’);
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o In the event that independent professional advice, views and
input are considered necessary, the Board, Board committees
or individual Directors shall communicate with the Senior
Management or the company secretary of the Company to initiate
the Mechanism, providing background and details of the relevant
incidents and/or transactions, and the issues involved which
would require independent views and input. They may direct any
questions, queries, concerns or specific advice to be sought to the
Senior Management or company secretary of the Company who
will then contact the Company’s professional advisers (including
lawyers, accountants, external auditors, internal control advisers) or
other independent professional parties to obtain such independent
professional advice within a reasonable period of time;

. Any recommendation obtained through the Mechanism should be
properly recorded and provided to other Directors of the Board;

o The Board can have full access to all explanation and information
provided by Senior Management which the relevant Board member
considers appropriate for the purpose of making an informed
assessment of the financial and other information put before his/her
for approval, and performing his/her duties; and

o The Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of the
Obtaining Independent Views Policy annually.

All Directors are aware of this policy and the Mechanism. An annual
review of the Obtaining Independent Views Policy has been conducted.
The Board is satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of the
Obtaining Independent Views Policy.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company believes that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding
of the Company’s business performance and strategies. The Company
also recognises the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which enables Shareholders to make the most
informed investment decisions. The goal of our communication activities is
to provide a true and fair view of the Company.

As such, the Company has established a Shareholders’ communication
policy and a range of communication channels between itself and its
Shareholders, investors and other stakeholders. These include (i) the
publication of interim and annual reports and/or dispatching circulars,
notices, and other announcements; (i) the annual general meeting and/or
extraordinary general meeting providing a forum for Shareholders to raise
comments and exchanging views with the Board; (i) updated and key
information of the Group available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company; (iv) the Company’s website offering communication
channel between the Company and its stakeholders; and (v) the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong serving the Shareholders
in respect of all share registration matters.

Under the Company’s Shareholders’ communication policy, the Company
will take steps to solicit and understand the views of its Shareholders
and other stakeholders (including employees, customers, suppliers and
investors). Shareholders may direct questions and communicate their
views on various matters affecting the Company, request for publicly
available information and provide comments and suggestions to the
Directors or management of the Company by mail to Room 1901,19/F,
Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong or by
email to investor_relations@cgroup.com.my.

The annual general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors. Under normal
circumstances, the chairman of the Board and the Independent Non-
Executive Directors and the chairmen of the Board committees will
attend the annual general meetings to answer Shareholders’ questions.
The external auditor of the Company will also attend the annual general
meetings to answer questions about the audit works, the preparation
and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and the
independence of the auditor.
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The Company has assigned dedicated employees to be in charge of
investor relations, including but not limited to the ensuring of effective
and timely dissemination of information to Shareholders. Furthermore,
any corporate communication issued or to be issued by the Company,
including but not limited to annual reports, interim reports, notices
of general meeting, circulars and proxy forms, will be written in plain
language and provided to Shareholders in English and Chinese versions
for easy understanding.

An annual review of the Shareholders’ communication policy has been
conducted by the Company during the year ended 31 December
2024. Several communication channels between the Company and the
Shareholders are there and they have been working properly. There is
no evidence of unsatisfactory communication between the Company
and Shareholders. The Board is satisfied with the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ communication policy.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

The third amended and restated Memorandum and Articles of Association
are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B HENER S

CCTH CPA LIMITED
RIEXEEENBERLE

Independent auditors’ report to the members of
C-Link Squared Limited
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of C-Link Squared
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) set out on pages 117 to 221, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

VR 2 CTE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

(1) Impairment assessment of goodwill

(Refer to Note 2.7 - Material accounting policy information:
Goodwill, Note 3.2(a) - Key sources of estimation uncertainty
- Impairment of goodwill, and Note 17 — Goodwill)

As detailed in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had impaired goodwill at 31 December 2024 and impairment
losses on goodwill amounted to approximately RM23.32 million
was recognised in profit or loss in respect of the current year.

We have identified the impairment assessment of goodwill as a key
audit matter due to their significance to the Group’s total assets
and significant judgement exercised by the management when
performing the impairment assessment. Determining the amount
of impairment for goodwill requires an estimation of recoverable
amount, which is based on the value in use (“VIU”) of the relevant
cash-generating units (“CGUs”) to which goodwill have been
allocated. The calculation of value in use requires management to
make assumption and exercise judgement about the future results
of the related business, including revenue growth rate and gross
profit margin, long-term growth rate and appropriate discount rates
applied to future cash flow forecast.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B HENER S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Impairment assessment of goodwill (Continued)

(1)

(Refer to Note 2.7 — Material accounting policy information:
Goodwill, Note 3.2(a) - Key sources of estimation uncertainty
- Impairment of goodwill, and Note 17 - Goodwill)
(Continued)

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment of the
goodwill included:

a)

We evaluated and challenged the composition of the Group’s
future cash flow forecast in each CGU, and the process by
which they were drawn up, including testing the underlying
VIU calculation;

We assessed the reasonableness of key assumptions such
as revenue growth, future profitability and discount rates with
reference to the business and industry circumstances;

We considered the reasonableness of these forecasts
of future profits by comparing them against past results
achieved; and

We considered the adequacy of the disclosure of impairment
assessments of the goodwill set out in the consolidated
financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

VR 2 CTE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
(2) Revenue from contract with customers

112

(Refer to Note 2.18 — Material accounting policy information:
Revenue from contracts with customers and Note 5 -
Revenue from contracts with customers)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024, revenue from the
provision of outsourced document management services which
amounted to RM91.34 million, represented approximately 94%
of the Group’s total revenue. Provision of outsourced document
management services include coding of the format/presentation
of the document; converting raw data into the desired format/
presentation; and delivering the document to the end customers in
an agreed mode.

The provision of outsourced document management services
involves large volumes of job orders and billings, which consist
of individually low value transactions. In addition, the provision of
outsourced document services involves the performance of a series
of works in phases which revenue is recognised at a point in time
when a performance obligation is satisfied.

We identified revenue on the provision of outsourced document
management services as a key audit matter due to the above
factors which gave rise to higher risk of material misstatement in the
timing and amount of revenue recognised.

Our procedures in relation to the revenue from contracts with
customers included:

a)  We obtained an understanding of the management’s internal
controls over the timing and amount of revenue recognised;

b) We reviewed samples of contracts between the Group and
its customers and inspected samples of documents which
evidenced the rendering of services to customers;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B HENER S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

(2) Revenue from contract with customers
(Continued)

(Refer to Note 2.18 — Material accounting policy information:
Revenue from contracts with customers and Note 5 -
Revenue from contracts with customers) (Continued)

C) We performed cash anchor testing by selecting
samples of cash receipts during the year and traced to
acknowledgement of services by customers and documents
evidencing the delivery of goods or services to customers;

d) We tested samples of documents to establish whether
transactions were recorded in the correct accounting period;
and

e) We reviewed the appropriateness of journal entries for
revenue recognised for completed job orders where billings
have not been issued at the period-end.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND AUDITORS’ REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

VR 2 CTE

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this annual report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B HENER S

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

VR 2 CTE

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the current year and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

CCTH CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 31 March 2025

Ng Kam Fai
Practising Certificate no.: P06573

Unit 1510-1517, 15/F., Tower 2,
Kowloon Commerce Centre,

No. 51 Kwai Cheong Road, Kwai Chung,
New Territories, Hong Kong
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FEEENmR

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

2024 2023
20244 20234
Group Note RM’000 RM’000
E Ff s <TER SEHE
Revenue from contracts with customers FEHEFTPTII AR 5 96,990 93,763
Cost of sales THE AR (72,658) (70,856)
Gross profit EF 24,332 22,907
Other income Hlk A 6 1,148 1,224
Selling and distribution expenses HHE K D tHRE 2 (519) (130)
Administrative expenses THRREX (43,186) (25,007)
Finance costs BB A 7 (316) (459)
Loss before tax PRI AIESIE 8 (18,541) (1,465)
Income tax expense Fri8fMB 9 (2,569) (1,953)
Loss for the year FRHEE (21,110) (3,418)
Loss for the year attributable to: MR IEEGERNES
Equity holders of the Company KRBIREFEA (21,430) (4,249
Non-controlling interests JEIER T 320 831
(21,110) (3,418)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hih2m (§518) s
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss in R BAEHIREI S & EF H$EEE
subsequent periods: mhAYEE
Exchange differences on translation of foreign &GN EFSE ERE R =5E
operations (1,901) 1,397
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the FRHEMEPE (5518) Uk
year, net of tax (0BRFRIAE) (1,901) 1,397
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREHEEEEEE (23,011) (2,021)
Total comprehensive loss for the year UTREEEGERZEEE
attributable to: 4o
Equity holders of the Company BABIRIERFEB A (23,086) (3,339)
Non-controlling interests JEER T 75 1,318
(23,011) (2,021)
Loss per share attributable to the equity holders Z<A B & EIF B A FEILE SR
of the Company: 18
- Basic and diluted (RM sen) —BEARREE (SFRW) 10 (0.75) (0.18)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an

integral part of the financial statements.

B e

8 I & 51 ISR T R FEE Y 5 48 A A F5 iR R RO AE AR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Ra M BIRR

As at 31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

2024 2023
20244 20234
Group Note RM’000 RM’000
TEE Fff 5 FoEHE TR
Assets BE
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment L ERN =Y 14 22,693 20,728
Right-of-use assets FHEEEE 15 3,976 3,819
Intangible assets BEE 16 4,745 6,392
Goodwil mE 17 191,911
Prepayments FEfTRIE 19 830 3,068
Deferred tax asset RIEFIEE 25 575 736
224,730 34,743
Current assets REEE
Inventories 758 18 2,089 617
Trade receivables B 5 R WRIE 19 19,211 19,675
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables ~ FEIIIE & R EMEWEIE 19 5,546 5,026
Income tax recoverable A Y [EIFT1EH 363 886
Cash and bank balances e MIR1TAER 20 59,723 42,673
86,932 68,877
Total assets BEHEE 311,662 103,620
Equity and liabilities EEkaE
Current liabilities Bt =Nl
Trade payables B ZENIE 21 1,405 4,864
Other payables HMEARIE 21 5,792 3,316
Contract liabilities EHERE 22 3,694 1,535
Income tax payable EIFT13iR 93 243
Loans and borrowings EEVSEEEN 23 2,731 2,605
Lease liabilities HEaRE 24 457 324
14,172 12,887
Net current assets REBEERE 72,760 55,990
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mREMBIRRR

As at 31 December 2024 }£2024%F12531H

2024 2023
20245 20234
Group Note RM’000 RM’000
TEE i FLEE TLEH
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Loans and borrowings EE VSR 23 1,559 4,290
Lease liabilities HEas 24 491 353
Deferred tax liabilities IEIEARIB S (B 25 264 252
2,314 4,895
Total liabilities BE4%E 16,486 17,782
Net assets BEEE 295,176 85,838
Capital and reserves attributable to TATIREREAELZ
equity holders of the Company B s B (i
Share capital [N 26 5,189 4,233
Reserves B 285,296 76,989
290,485 81,222
Non-controlling interests JEVERG M 34 4,691 4,616
Total equity HEmARER 295,176 85,838
Total equity and liabilities EnkaEEEE 311,662 103,620

PN BENTE221BREGRE M B IWRKRN 2025634
SIHEESSSHAREETE WA TIALR

The consolidated financial statements on pages 117 to 221 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 31 March 2025 and

were signed on its behalf by: REEZEHEE .
Ma Shengcong Zhang Ying
B4R RE
Director Director
BE EZE

C-Link Squared Limited
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CONSOLlDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
n‘l-F *E "&@J%

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

Attributable to the equity holders of the parent

BARREREAER
Non-
Share Share Merger Capital Exchange Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve earnings Total interest equity
Note 26 27(a) 27(b) 27(c) 34
-2 RIFEE At BAffk ER R REEH Ay JEERiER RmlE
WizE 2 27(a) 27(b) 27(c) 34
Group RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
*E@ TLEH FLER TLER TLER TLEH FLER TLER TLER FLER
At 1 January 2024 1#202451818 4233 47,227* 4,800 92" 2,073 22,797 81,222 4,616 85,838
(Loss)/proft for the year % (518) /&7 - - - - - (21,430) (21,430) 320 21,110)
Exchange differences on BN ERBNERZTE
translation of foreign
operations = = = = (1,656) = (1,656) (245) (1.901)
Total comprehensive EE2E (BB /BWALE
(loss)/income for the year - - - - (1,656) (21,430) (23,086) 75 (23,011)
Issue of shares on IEEN B AT B EITRA
acquisition of a subsidiary 956 231,393 - - - - 232,349 - 232,349
At 31 December 2024 12024125318 5,189 278,620* 4,800* 92t 4“7 1,367 290,485 4,691 205,176
Attributable to the equity holders of the parent
BARRESEAER
Non-
Share Share Merger Capital Exchange Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve earnings Total interest equity
Note 26 27(a) 27(b) 27(c) 34
B RIFEE At N1 ERRE REEH Ay JHERER RBEEE
MizE 2 27(a) 27(b) 27(c) 34
Group RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
K%M TOEE  TYEE  TOEE  TYEE  TeEE  TOES  TEE  TeEE TR
At 1 January 2023 1#20235181H 4233 47,227 4,800 92 1,163 27,046 84,561 3,298 87,859
(Loss)/profit for the year 45 (£548) /i) = - - - - (4,249) (4,249) 831 (3.418)
Exchange differences on BB ERBNER ZTE
translation of foreign
operations - - - - 910 - 910 487 1,397
Total comprehensive EE2EBKA/ (58 85
income/(loss) for the year - - - - 910 (4,249) (3,339 1,318 (2,021)
At 31 December 2023 120235126318 4,233 47,221* 4,800* 92+ 2,073* 22,797* 81,222 4,616 85,838
* The reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserve of RM285,296,000  * SHEROEREVBERRRAZGRESH#HE
(2023: RM76,989,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 285,296,000 =4 (20234 © 76,989,000%
) o

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an  Bg M & 5+ B 58 K AR FE BT 53 18 A BA F5 3R R BV A AR
integral part of the financial statements. i
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mRRERER

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

2024 2023
20244 20234
Group Note RM’000 RM’000
EME i FoER ToER
Cash flows from operating activities REEHFABRERE
Loss before tax FRIRRIES 18 (18,541) (1,465)
Adjustments for: TTFIBEEEHAE
Interest income ) B WA 6 (1,124) (1,068)
Interest expense on term loan THIERF S 7 271 374
Interest expense on overdraft EEZHNEMAZ 7 - 1
Interest on lease liabilities HESEME 7 45 13
Amortisation of transaction costs R 5 A 8 7 - 71
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ~ #)¥ R &R HITE 8,14 1,158 1,147
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 8,15 610 215
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESE 8,16 1,647 771
Impairment loss on goodwill EERERE 8,17 23,323 =
Written-off on property, plant and equipment WEEZE BB &R B 14 3 S
(Reversal of)/allowance for unutilised leave RINEVERAR (&) #E 8 (66) 35
Bad debts written off EE IR AR
— trade receivables - BEEWERIE 8 - 590
Net unrealised losses in foreign currency REIFIME 5182 5B 8 38 253
Allowance for expected credit losses on trade B ZFEUWRIETEARS B 518
receivables tedi 8,19 47 245
Operating cash flows before changes in EESEERKERERE
working capital 7,411 1,182
Increase in inventories FEEMm (1,148) (615)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables B 5 R IE R, () 293 (546)
Decrease in other receivables Hfth e kg R 21,688 1,460
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables B REHRIE (Rl /18 (3,377) 1,785
Increase/(decrease) in other payables HAhFE(I TRIEE I, CRt2L) 228 (1,107)
Decrease in contract liabilities =E o)=L v (66) (121)
Decrease in amounts due from/to related e, FEAS R B 75 =R IE i
parties - (80)
Cash flows generated from operations REEHFAFRERE 25,029 2,008
Tax paid, net of tax refunded BRI NREERR (2,016) (2,639)
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) BEEHFRS FrA) R/E
operating activities TREFEE 23,013 (631)
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CONSOLlDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

2024 2023
20244 20234
Group Note RM’000 RM’000
wER ffi s FLEHE TLaH
Cash flows from investing activities REZHFAFRERE
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired W EEHMIEBA ST > HIFRFTULEE 32
BE 176 -
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEYE -BEARE 14 (2,644) (1,684)
Purchases of intangible assets BEETEE 16 = (2,857)
Interest received BFHIE 1,124 1,068
Withdrawal of fixed deposit BEIEEEFR = 2,065
Net cash flows used in investing activities & Z EHFIAEREEHEFE (1,344) (1,408)
Cash flows from financing activities BEEBFRGRERE
Interest paid BEENFHIE 31 (316) (375)
Repayment of loans and borrowings BEEMRER 31 (2,605) (6,559)
Repayment of lease liabilities BiEAEAE 31 (504) (182)
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEEBFAREREFEE (3,425) (7,116)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash RERIBEZEIEM,
equivalents GRiZL) 7B%E 18,244 (9,159)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FURERAEEEY
beginning of the year 42,673 51,861
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net SNEEERE S R 25 (1,194) (33)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of EXRFEERREZEY
the year 20 59,723 42,673

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an [ i & 5T BUSE K R 2 MY s 18 B B 75 3R R AU AR AR
integral part of the financial statements. =i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company is an exempted company with limited liability
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The registered office of the
Company is located at Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO
Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The
headquarters and principal place of business of the Company is
located at No. 1, Persiaran Sungai Buloh, Taman Industri Sungai
Buloh, Kota Damansara, 47810 Petaling Jaya, Selangor, Malaysia.
The principal place of business of the Company in the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (“Hong Kong”) of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) is located at Room 1901, 19/F, Lee
Garden One, 33 Hysan Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
During the Reporting Period, the Company’s principal subsidiaries
were mainly engaged in (i) the provision of outsourced services,
including the provision of outsourced document management
services and related software applications and enterprise software
solutions services in Malaysia as well as the provision of outsourced
insurance risk analysis services and insurance marketing services in
the PRC (which for the purposes of this annual report only, excludes
Hong Kong, Taiwan and the Macau Special Administrative Region
of the PRC, unless otherwise specified), and (i) the distribution and
sales of medical equipment and pharmaceutical products in the
PRC, and (jii) the provision of internet hospital and brick-and-mortar
clinical services in the PRC.

1.

REEE

KRB RB—XNHASHESEMRILNE
HRRERAB - AABNEMPEER
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box
1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman
Islands o 72 B) B 48 1 25 5 Ke I B2 2
25%No. 1, Persiaran Sungai Buloh, Taman
Industri Sungai Buloh, Kota Damansara,
47810 Petaling Jaya, Selangor, Malaysia ©
RABRHREANRENR (THE)) FRF
TG (&) NEEZEEMBAEE
7] #8275 (R IE 33 M E — HA19181901 F ©

ARBNEBEHRAREER - FREH
N AABNEIENBABR EEZRE1R
HONAIBRES - H &R SR fE Ao
HXHEERBRAEBRGERRERF X
EERMRRTT B LUK HE (5
KERME > FAARBEIN TEESE
BB KRTERFSRTHRE) RHI
F IR B2 R R 0 4 AR 75 e AR B 8 AR 5 U
Ra(ii) B FR B0 23 8 Je 85 B8 B R ek 1 T B |
a5 A R R (H B R A B e K B AR P
IR

C-Link Squared Limited
2024 F 3R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

nv'R

BMBHwRMEE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

1.

124

CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued) 1. AFER®

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 R2024F128318 FEMB AR Z25)%

December 2024. e

Issued
Place and date of ordinary  Effective proportion
incorporation and place of share of ownership
Company name operations capital Jnterest Principal activities
SRR B _BEfT EEFER :
A4 MR £ LEkRE R EA TEEY
%
2024 2023
20245 2023F

Coeus Systems Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia RM2,400,000 100 100 Outsourced data and
(“Coeus System”) 12 July 2002 document management

services

Coeus Systems Sdn. Bhd. BRAD 2,400,000 100 100 SMUZERR XM

("Coeus System ) 200278128 L5 BERE

Compugraphic Media Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia RM2,400,000 100 100 Outsourced data
(“Compugraphic Media’) 10 February 2000 and document management

services

Compugraphic Media Sdn. Bhd. EXRAD 2,400,000% 545 100 100 SMIEBERXHER

(" Compugraphic Media ) 2000%2A 108 k%

Qingdao Yon?bao Cloud Technology The PRC RMB2,050,000  51.2195 51.2195 Insurance risk analysis,

Co., Ltd. ("Qingdao Yongbao")* 22 September 2020 marketing services and
distribution and sales of
medical equ ment

BEXRENRBRAR i ARKE 512195 512195 RBERD TR EH

BBk 2020498221 2,050,000 RRFLUR D K
’H = %% 1’%

Tian Jin Shengji Online Hospital The PRC RMB4,222,000 100 - Distribution and sales of
Co., Ltd. 29 June 2021 pharmaceutical products
(“Shengji Online Hospital)* and provision of internet
. hospital services

XEREEMBRRERAT e AR 100 - DHNHERTIELK

(TEE B E R 4R B R )) - 202146H29H 4,222,0007 R T HE R AR

Shengji (Tian Jin) Polyclinic The PRC RMB2,679,000 100 - Distribution and sales of

Co., Ltd. (“Shengji Clinic")* 27 May 2021 pharmaceutical products
and provision of brick-and-
i . mortar clirligzal services

BE (KF) AP E I AR 100 - ﬁfﬁ&fﬁ‘%%j&%&
BRAT (&M 2021558270 2,679,0007 REERMZRS

* The company was established as a limited liability company in the * NEARFERIINERETAE

PRC.
Note: P -
0] None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during the (i) BEMBABDNREANRFERZTEMAME

year or at the end of the year.

The above list includes the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the
year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued) 1. AFER@®
Subsidiaries controlled through contractual BRENZHERINHB AT
arrangements

FEERNBARRETRELCXEEAR
Ras (FRBEHEE)) EEXRIRERE
BREARAR (REWRER) BEE
Hﬁﬁ%ﬁgﬁn\m%?ﬁ o HEEMBER ASTIL
BN BRRTRE R EEEESN

Tianjin Shengji Corporate Management Co. Ltd. (“Tianjin
Shengji”), the subsidiary of the Group, has entered into contractual
arrangement with Tian Jin Ruijinbao Internet Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Tian Jin Ruijinbao”), Shengji Online Hospital, Shengji Clinic and
its registered owners, which enables Tianjin Shengji and the Group

Receive substantially all of the economic interests and
returns generated by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities in
consideration for the technical support, consulting and other
services provided exclusively by Tianjin Shengji, at Tianjin
Shengji’s discretion;

Obtain pledges over the entire equity interests in the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities from its registered owners to
secure, among others, performance of their obligations under
the contractual arrangement;

Obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase all
equity interests in the Consolidated Affiliated Entities from its
registered owners at a nominal consideration.

to:

o Exercise effective control over Tian Jin Ruijinbao (the . HREHER (TEEER)) UKE
“Operating Entity”), and Shengji Online Hospital and BB AR M RE P (TEE R
Shengji Clinic (the “Medical Institutions”, together as B o AEAsIRAHBER O UH
“Consolidated Affiliated Entities”, to the extent the equity FARXEHRERBNRESR K
interest of which are not already owned by Tianjin Shengji); A BIES ;

. Exercise equity holders’ voting rights of the Consolidated . TEGREHBERBNERRAAR
Affiliated Entities; -

o WRERECHBEERFELNEKRE
DIEBMNmE R EHR - FRREHRE
EEREHRORME BHRE
thARFHAE (BREHRE 2R
)

e HRGRCHBERIMER AREMH
NEERELR WRE (Hha
B EBTENZHIETHER

e HBAUHHEERBRENULENR
EnGonEERIMEEABE
He MR-

C-Link Squared Limited
2024 F 3R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR MR M EE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

1.

126

CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

Subsidiaries controlled through contractual
arrangements (Continued)

The Group does not have any equity interest in the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities. However, as a result of the contractual
arrangement, the Group has rights to variable returns from its
involvement with the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities and is considered to have control
over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. Consequently, the
Company regards the Consolidated Affiliated Entities as controlled
structure entities and consolidated the financial position and
results of operations of these entities in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024.
Nevertheless, there are still uncertainties regarding the interpretation
and application of current and future PRC laws and regulations.

The Directors of the Group, based on the advice of its legal counsel,
consider that the use of contractual arrangements does not
constitute a breach of relevant laws and regulations.

C-Link Squared Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (‘Companies Ordinance”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Ringgit Malaysia (‘RM”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand, except when otherwise indicated.

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following

amendments to IFRSs issued by IASB for the first time, which

are mandatorily effective for annual periods beginning on or

after 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated

financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7 and
IFRS 7

The amendments to IFRSs in the current year have had
no material effect on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current or prior financial years and/or
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

EXESEERER
21 RNBE

2.2

REMBRERDREER S ER
g (EREHENEES) R
B R R 5 2R (TR 5
BEER) REBABE (TAE
155) BIIRERAR E MR B o

REMBRENDEELERAEER
B0

BRRAERN REMBREUSE
REDSER (LR 25 BFHR
BRBEONEBEEREANTUH -

A5 o ) A R AEET Z B PR
MR E LR

RAREE XEBMBBUEESH
RREXNEAN2024FE181H8H
BB EERBEARGERZ ER
G EREEGEMGZ U TEET
EPR AT PSR 5 2E A

B RS 2R &RHAERRKNE

$E169t (1Bs14x) E&E
Bl S=g= 2] BEDERR
158 (BRI ) B IERE
EIFR & 5t 28] By A5 22 EERYIF
E15% (15T ) nEaE
Bl R & 5t 2R HEERE
BT Z5F
B EERFETR
CHES)

RAFEETERY RS ZER
HEAERAFEHBEVHEEDN
MBRRARRRR RZEREY
BRAFABREENTEETERY
%,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘l-F j- ?ﬂ #E%B{jﬂhi

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. ERGHEEREH®
INFORMATION (Continued)
2.3 Amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet 23 EREMEHKRERZEIETE
effective PREAFS RS AR
The Group has not early applied the following new and KREFBTHEIEEERUTEBMKE
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet BARERZ ] REKIEFT RS
effective: REZER
Amendments to IFRS 9 Amendments to the ERPEREE SHTASER
and IFRS 7 Classification and B REIR stE2E:]3
Measurement of Financial BT IR &S %
Instruments® BT (BFTAK)
Amendments to IFRS 9 Contracts Referencing HERMEREE SRIKBEA
and IFRS 7 Nature-dependent IO RER  RERNE NN
Electricity® B #5522 BH
BT (BFTA)
Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets B P B 755 R 5 2 %ﬁ}i%iﬁi,ﬁ\ﬁﬁﬁﬂ
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its BIE1058 &= NAHEET
Associate or Joint Venture' R st 285 ECENEE
285k (f&517%) HEHEE
Amendments to IFRS Annual Improvements to IFRS FR R ERE BHEMEHREE
Accounting Standards Accounting Standards — Al & 5% 0) =534
Volume 112 (BET ) FEXRE-F
1158
Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability? Bl SR I - S v Y e
215k (IBET7%)
IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in FERMBREE REBEREZ
Financial Statements* A% 1858 SRR B
U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 1 NETHHRSN 2 BRENEER
determined. Sl
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 FR2025F1B1H 2 BB E
2025. EEARAE -
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 3 R2026FE1B1HR 2 BFHBHNE
2026. EREEN-
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 4 R2027F1B1H R 2 BFRENE
2027. EHRR AR -
Except for the new and amendments to IFRs mentioned PN XFrat#rs] BRI RS sR &S 2 81
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the EEESTRIN RACIEETEHAE
application of these amendments to IFRSs, which are not yet A K& BRI 7SR & %8
effective, will have no material impact on the consolidated YARAENE BREHESMBERE
financial statements in the foreseeable future. EREARFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. EXRGHHEREH®

INFORMATION (Continued)

2.3 Amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet 23 BREMERKRERZEETE
effective (Continued) PREAF5#R &5 42 A1) (8)
IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial [ P2 BA F5 3R &5 #E Bl 55185 BA FS 3R R
Statements 25| RiHE
IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements, RIS IR S ZE R 18R M IR R
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures NEFNRIEE  $#EBRUBERS
in financial statements, will replace IAS 1 Presentation of ZE2EHRIHERTE > B REE
Financial Statements. This new IFRS Accounting Standard, @ ERFE1 S FRRRNEG o35
while carrying forward many of the requirements in IAS 1, B 5] B PR B 75 HR &5 22 Bl & 51 #E 8
introduces new requirements to present specified categories FIEERRE R S15Eh T 23
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; TR SIAREBERRB 294
provide disclosures on management-defined performance THEAARERE/NEHNHIEBEE ; I
measures in the notes to the financial statements and M ERERNFPREERBFARATEN
improve aggregation and disaggregation of information to be BEWET2RMERE > U RERR
disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, some IAS BFREABFITHRENERNEHK
1 paragraphs have been moved to IAS 8 and IFRS 7. Minor SEEo ML BIR E st ERIE15EHY
amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IAS 33 BN ECRERR T T 2R]E85E
Earnings per Share are also made. BB RS E7H -FHEE

SHERAETRIRE NER KB G
2 R 553358 &5 IR UL A TR 1F MR S

5Te

IFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be MREFFS RS 2B 1858 R H th &
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January BB ET AR B 2027F1B1HE 2
2027, with early application permitted. The application of BRBTEEHBEN TAHFIRER
the new standard is expected to affect the presentation FEFR - -FERAFEATEERE &£
of the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the RN EY UK R KB FE R TRV
future financial statements. The Group is in the process of B o REBEIETTEHBRBSIEZREG
assessing the detailed impact of IFRS 18 on the Group’s HEHIE18E N RNERGSESMBRE
consolidated financial statements. BIsFARE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M HRRMEE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. BEREHHBREH®@
INFORMATION (Continued)
2.4 Basis of consolidation 24 ZEEE
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial REVBERREELAEEREKEB
statements of the Group and its subsidiaries as at the NERRE BT FERT
reporting date.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, EAEEHSEELEHRERNT
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and O AERMIZEREN UK
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over FRHKEHRNE NI EZED
the investee. HREF > BPEVIS EEHIRE
Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting —RIERT BE—EETE  BZHK
rights results in control. To support this presumption and ERETFC R IESIRE o AL E ML
when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or HWAREBEGDNREEHRAZH
similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant WERIAUREF R B AE
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power R GEEHETHEEHREHRWE
over an investee, including: NEgEE—EEEERBER
BiE
. the contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote . HEXEHREMBERFTE A
holders of the investee NEHNZH
. rights arising from other contractual arrangements . HM &4 LT E £ R R
. the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights . AEENKERRBERE

T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation
of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control
of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the
date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) are attributed to the equity holders of the
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. FEAGHEEEHR®
INFORMATION (Continued)
2.4 Basis of consolidation (Continued) 24 ZEEE®

HMEERBERLR®R =ZEZEHERE
F-ENZENE AAEREE
BREMAENRERR - AEH
AT A B 42 I FE B 40 R By
BREEE AR 7R KRR
A& LE A BR o £ PO PR IR B H 5 Y
BRAEMNEE &B8F WAKASZR
FERESZEFNRERESARS
MHERR BEEAEERTBENZ
MEBAB &L

SR FEREaHRaE B
mAEMETWE (TEM2E K
M) RERBOBBEREERF
REREFAEANRIFERED - &
2R BHNBRDHNMFHREAE
HARE WEHEFHERALER
NEABRRFE—R-AREEER
MEABZEXRZHNREERRAR
AREE -8R BE WA X
RIBEREHTELE S ARG EEY
i o

MEABNFAREZES (TR
REER) BRERZH AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘l-F j- ?ﬂ #E%B{jﬂhi

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. EAEHHEEER @
INFORMATION (Continued)
2.4 Basis of consolidation (Continued) 24 EEEEW
Business combinations EIESH

132

Acquisitions of business are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the “Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements”.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except
that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with IAS
12 “Income Taxes” and IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”
respectively;

. liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2
“Share-based Payment” at the acquisition date;

C-Link Squared Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. EAGHEHREN®@®
INFORMATION (Continued)
2.4 Basis of consolidation (Continued) 24 FEEE®B
Business combinations (Continued) E£BEE6 (@)
. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as ° RIEE R TSR &5 2B £ 558
held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 “Non-current HFIEHEZIERBBEERE

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are
measured in accordance with that standard; and

. lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in IFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months
of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is
of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and
measured at the same amount as the relevant lease
liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after reassessment, the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in
the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

RIEEERR D EAKFY
E2EE FHEMR) BZE
AlEtE &

« HEERERHBETHEMR(E
ERBERMBREERE16
%) IREMD KT8 - JBnprE
BRAERWEAMAATEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR MR M EE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially
recorded at cost. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably.

Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment
are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated based on the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Factory building
THEF

Shop lot

A e 1
Renovation of building
BT

Plant and machinery
o 55 Re 1 ik
Computer and software
B REY

Motor vehicles

AE

Furniture and fittings
REREE

Office equipment

MARE

Data centre in progress are not depreciated as the asset is
not yet available for its use.

C-Link Squared Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PE:

ma MR R

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. FEAGHEEEHR®

INFORMATION (Continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 25 YE- -BERRZE @
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment WHBSHRBEREEFBRYE
are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in T B2 e 5% 8 RR B0 1B A A /A Uk (o)
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be BB HEREEETRERE]
recoverable.
The residual value, useful life and depreciation method AEBRESMBRELEBDHRGE
are reviewed at each financial year-end, and adjusted B A ERFRRITE L AETE
prospectively, if appropriate. T WEBERETRIEE B
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised ME -BEARXKEBEENEERE
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are ST L {88 FA 3 & A A A R 2R A A
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on mFRIEER - RIEERBEEES
derecognition of the asset is included in the profit or loss in FEIU R S B st AR LR E
the period the asset is derecognised. ERARIEE o

2.6 Intangible assets 26 BEEE

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is their fair value at the date of
acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets
are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated
intangibles, excluding capitalised development costs, are not
capitalised and the related expenditure is reflected in profit or
loss in the period in which the expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either
finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over
the estimated useful lives and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may
be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method are reviewed at least at each financial year-end.
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern
of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the
asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period
or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes
in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on
intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in profit or loss.

B WIRENETLEEY D ERIRIZ
A E  EBEHPWBHNET
BEENMARRKBEBEBNRT
B -ENTHERR BILEERME
R B R RS ERREYIR
ABEENETLEE FEIEELRTL
RIRREE R ) A EE A BRI
AL NIRRT KR o

BREENDERFHETERA
FREVER

BEARIERFHINETLEETMG
StEIfEAERANEHE TR ETR
BTEBETLEEYERERT G
HE-BERERBESEEDR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘l-F j- ?ﬂ #E%B{jﬂhi

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. ERGHEEREH®

INFORMATION (Continued)

2.6 Intangible assets (Continued) 26 EREE®
Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for Ao ERANELEESFETR
impairment annually, or more frequently if the events and BRE HEHRBELEBREKEE
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be ARSI EREELEEMER L
impaired either individually or at the cash-generating unit IRE B FIREMETRE &
level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. ERTLEETGETEN
An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal (i.e., at BEREETHER BB HESE
the date the recipient obtains control) or when no future Bz H) RFEFEFERRHER T
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. R RSB m BF AR IEESY o 42 1E
Any gain or loss arising upon derecognition of the asset REEEENTAKRGE NS (2
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal HEMSBRIBEZFHEAEENKREE
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in WM&z BNELESTE) st ABme
profit or loss.
Other intangible asset HtEmREE
Other intangible asset of the Group comprise of source code AEBEMBTEEECRERBKE
acquired separately. The asset is not depreciated as it is not HRAE ZEEFFINE BRRS
yet available for its use. His Kol

2.7 Goodwill 27 BE

136

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGU”) (or
group of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY EREHBERER @
INFORMATION (Continued)
2.7 Goodwill (Continued) 27 HE®
A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been EokmEzREESSEM E—A
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently REELEN) EEFETHER
when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. HoARESREBTZEMIRED
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, HEREARMETRERNR -5
the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been NE—RESHRERKEMEE 2™
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that EMs BREEEZREELEN
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its (H—EREEFEN ENZRE
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to HARSAE R 2 AIETTRVE R &L o 8 /]
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to WhelsfmPOHRHEKREE IlgiT
the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying DERERBE UARTAEER
amount of each asset in the unit (or group of CGUs). HE ABUZEM (H—HREE
BN REEEZRAEAEE
BN EEEREMEE-
On the disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within REERBRESESEE M (HzA
the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is REEFBEUAZERNRESELS
included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss i) METHERBEER g5t A
on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation within FEENEmECH BAEENEZ
the CGU (or a CGU within a group of CGUSs), the amount of HeEEFBURNZ —BER (F—4A
goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative REELFBURNz—EREELS
values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed of and the i) R FTHEBEREIRZE
portion of the CGU (or the groups of CGUS) retained. ¥ ZEBEeELBEN AZREESE
B (RZARSELEN) REE
SRR EEE
2.8 Right-of-use assets 28 FREEE

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of
the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognised
right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.
Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment.

FEBRRBERKBAN BIERE
ERMERZH) BRAEHAEEE-
EREEERMABEMRITE
RBEBEE UAEaERN
EREMAEBFHARE - EREE
ENNEBECRINEEE RS
BEBEENVBERNS UK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024412/531 H LF BT F/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. FEAGHEEEHR®

138

INFORMATION (Continued)

2.9

2.10

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group
recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of
lease payment to be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate.
The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as expense in the period on which
the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In
addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change
in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether
there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an
asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable
amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s or a CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal and its
value in use (“VIU”). The recoverable amount is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an
asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable
amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. FEAGHEEEHR®
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

210 JEERAE ER(E (@)

(Continued)

The fair value less costs of disposal calculation is based on
available data from binding sales transactions, conducted
at arm’s length, for similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. In
determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market
transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions
can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.
These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples,
quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other
available fair value indicators.

The VIU calculation is based on a Discounted Cash Flows
(“DCF”) model. In assessing VIU, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. The
cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years
and do not include restructuring activities that the Group is
not yet committed to or significant future investments that will
enhance the asset’s performance of the CGU being tested.
For longer periods, a long-term growth rate is calculated and
applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year. The
recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for
the DCF model as well as the expected future cash-inflows
and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. FEAGHEEEHR®

140

INFORMATION (Continued)
2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

2.11

210 JEERAE ER(E (@)

(Continued)

An assessment is made at each reporting date whether there RERSEBH BTEERETETR
is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses BRNBTFERRBZAEBERAEE
may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication EHRERL MEEZETR > A&
exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or CGUs recoverable B lmEENREEEBUNA

amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
only if there has been a change in the assumptions used
to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last
impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so
that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its
recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
Such reversal is recognised in the profit or loss.

Financial instruments - initial recognition
and subsequent measurement

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a
financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity.

(a) Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value

2.11

KRl - BEEHEDBZHMELSE
BB ERERBEBIRRALUE
EEENWOERZRREERS
ERE -HOAER RAEEER
EETEBHE KR EEE 7R
EHEBMEBTFEEL ENEERES
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through other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair FFAEMEERGD (HtE2mE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. FEAGHEEEHR®
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.11 Financial instruments - initial recognition 211 ERMTR-¥VFTHBREEH
and subsequent measurement (Continued) ==l )

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash
flow characteristics and the Group’s business model
for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient, the Group initially measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which
the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under

(a)

EMEE (B

B R st 2 ()

R HERE > TMEEDR
HX?%E@%%E%EEE’J:./JE%
MREBRHAFAEREEZSE
TREENEBRI  (RIE
EAMEMNINEEHERE
BEfTRERENEZ B
RIS AEBA L RATE
MmE (HERMEELIFIZAF
Bt ABTE XZMEES
MEE-ITEBAREADH
FEEERBATRESE
B9 & 5 B R IR % 1R 15 B R
MBEREERBI1REEDN

IFRS 15. RGERTE
In order for a financial asset to be classified and AESHREERBHEM AR

measured at amortised cost or fair value through
OClI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely
payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the
principal amount outstanding. This assessment is
referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an
instrument level. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model

BAFESAEME2E KT
ETPERFE BEE M
BBaENERERREERE
FE (AEERZNEERF

B)INRERE - ZTERA
@ RN PNy ISP v
THRIEBENIT - RERE
WA R AT RF] R
NEMEEDERRATE
sTAEG ) FPmEEBEAS
fa e

FEREETMEENED
BAEHENAEEASME
EUNELEREREB-EHFER

determines whether cash flows will result from BEREREZERE W
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial EHNRERE-HEESME
assets, or both. B IMERA -

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within a time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place (regular
way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR MR M EE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
2.11 Financial instruments - initial recognition
and subsequent measurement (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial
assets are classified in four categories:

(1)  Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

(2)  Financial assets at fair value through OCI with
recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt
instruments)

(8)  Financial assets designated at fair value through
OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and
losses upon derecognition (equity instruments)

(4)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

This category is the most relevant to the Group. The
Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if
both of the following conditions are met:

o The financial asset is held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets
in order to collect contractual cash flows

and

° The contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2.
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.11 Financial instruments - initial recognition

EXEHHEREN @

211 ERMITE-VTHEIBREE

and subsequent measurement (Continued) 2@
(@) Financial assets (Continued) (a) SMEE @)
Subsequent measurement (Continued) Bi#:E (48)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) N R G E R 2 A E
(Continued) EEILA (&
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently W AT ENSREE

measured using the effective interest (EIR) method
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is

HEERBERMNEAFE I
AERRETE -SEEEKLE
BESD B BT SR B B - W e &

derecognised, modified or impaired. EoiER B el o

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost includes SEBZBISRASENS

trade and other receivables. RMEECQHEESZ REMER
FRIF o

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
2.11 Financial instruments - initial recognition
and subsequent measurement (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a Group of similar financial
assets) is derecognised when:

° The rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

° The Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.11 Financial instruments - initial recognition
and subsequent measurement (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to
what extent it has retained the risks and rewards
of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the
asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the asset
is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group
has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and
the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘l-F j- ?ﬂ *E%B{Téi

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. FEAGHEEEHR®
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.11 Financial instruments - initial recognition 211 £ TRV RIREHBH

146

and subsequent measurement (Continued) = (@)

(@) Financial assets (Continued) (a) SMEE @)
Impairment of financial assets THEERE
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit AEFMILIERAFEST A
losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair BREEENFEERITAR

value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12-months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for
credit losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

For trade and other receivables, the Group applies a
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore,
the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. FEAGHEEEHR®
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.11 Financial instruments - initial recognition 211 £ TRV mIREHBEH

and subsequent measurement (Continued) =0=))

(@) Financial assets (Continued) (a) ZRBEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) THEERE (1B)
The Group considers a financial asset in default when HME N~ ZmE365K > B &
contractual payments are 365 days past due. However, EEDPASHEEELY R
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a M EEFIERTF AR
financial asset to be in default when internal or external SNERE R BB ) NEBE AT
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to BERBSMENEREESYHIE
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full. A Bl AERTIZEATHEE
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable B oMEESETERKES
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows. WIS RE BMETHE

o

(b)  Financial liabilities (b) =@AEE
Initial recognition and measurement R,
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, STRHEBERYTRIEFDE

as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and borrowings, payables as appropriate.

REAFEFAREZNER
BE ERKRERHENRE
(nEA) -

Al financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value FrEEHMaElTEAT
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly BRI HAERRER ]
attributable transaction costs. PR BEIZE (LR Z A o

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, loans and borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification, as described below:

Loan and borrowings

This is the category most relevant to the Group.
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation
process.

FEENEREEREES
REMBNRE ERRE

=+
o

HigstE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘l-F j- ?ﬂ #E%B{jﬂhi

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. FEAGHEEEHR®
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.11 Financial instruments - initial recognition

2.11 EE*IE_*Bﬁﬁwu&E@ n'l'

148

and subsequent measurement (Continued) = (@

(b) Financial liabilities (Continued) (b) =R&RE &
Subsequent measurement (Continued) HigztE (48)
Loan and borrowings (Continueq)) B REN ()
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account BHEAAT S RWEITER
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or BHEERBREBEMNEARAT S
costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR EONERFMAE LB
amortisation is included as finance costs in profit or FMENEIFETAE R
loss. =%
This category generally applies to interest-bearing ZENEEEARGEER
loans and borrowings. R &R e
Derecognition AR IFFESR
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation EEENETERFRIEUS
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or HEM BNRLEIEHE
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced BeomRTEmMEaBEUBRAER
by another from the same lender on substantially ERANZIBETERRIESL
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability NHE—EEmmaEmR - ®R
are substantially modified, such an exchange or TREZEFHKREEE] AE
modification is treated as the derecognition of the B S B ET 1R E 4R IE 53
original liability and the recognition of a new liability. FREaBRERMEE %EE
The difference in the respective carrying amounts is HEBNEBRIERER
recognised in profit or loss.

(c) Offsetting of financial instruments (c) IEEESRMTA

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.12 Foreign currency

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

The Group’s financial statements are presented in
Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”). The Company’s functional
currency is Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD”), i.e., the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which it operates. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using
that functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the
respective functional currencies of the entities within
the Group and are recorded on initial recognition in the
functional currencies at exchange rates approximating
those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the
reporting date. Non-monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies that are measured at historical
cost are translated using the exchange rates as at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair
value are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was determined.

2,12 Y

(a)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR MR M EE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.12 Foreign currency (Continued)
(b) Foreign currency transactions (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items or on translating monetary items at the
reporting date are recognised in profit or loss except
for exchange differences arising on monetary items
that form part of the Group’s operations, which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
accumulated under foreign currency translation reserve
in equity.

Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in
profit or loss for the period except for the differences
arising on the translation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised
directly in equity. Exchange differences arising from
such non-monetary items are also recognised directly
in equity.

(c) Group companies

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign
operations are translated into RM at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their
statements of profit or loss are translated at exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
The exchange differences arising on translation for
consolidation are recognised in OCI. On disposal of a
foreign operation, the component of OCI relating to that
particular foreign operation is reclassified to profit or
loss.

2.13 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost of inventories is determined on a weighted
average basis and comprises materials, direct labour and an
appropriate portion of production overheads. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale.

C-Link Squared Limited
150 Annual Report 2024

EXEHEREN @

2.12 SpEE (48)

(b) SMERH (4B)
RBREREEEBERSR
MEEBIERESMERZ
BERIEEET R AEE
R -_MANESKEBEL
B BE R Z= 2B SN a%EA#
X H R E At 2 Uk S R
I#F“M%%#%ﬁﬁ%
ﬁ‘|’°

BERATEIRNIFER
EEELMERE AH
WED HRE AR E R
BEENBOREBNIFEE
BEELEEBERI - ZFIF
‘“%IEEEEE’JIE@%EEUT\
BHEN T

(c) &ERAF
EHE BIEENEERE
BEERBREHHEEANEXR
BARASER HEBEAaRERS
HEAE BHWEXIRE - 5Hi
HELEAWEREBHEIHMS
W PSS o HE BN ET
B B2 4 R B A E TS HRREAY
HME2ER GBI FETD

EEEH.

213 78
TERAARDT S EERE PR
BEFR - FEMALZRMETY
%%E’EQ%MHAE%MI&L

EWA T EERS D HIEERE
@Ezﬁﬁﬁgmﬁﬁﬁﬁnmm
ARERNE 2 NERS -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY BAGHEEER @
INFORMATION (Continued)
2.14 Cash and cash equivalents 214 HEKRIREEEY

2.15

2.16

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial
position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term
deposits with a maturity of three months or less, which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits, as
defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are
considered an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will
be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the
obligation can be estimated reliably.

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer probable
that an outflow of economic resources will be required to
settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of
the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted
using a current pre tax rate that reflects, where appropriate,
the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used,
the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as a finance cost.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date.

215

2.16
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘l-F j- ?ﬂ *E%B{Téi

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. FEAGHEEEHR®
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.17 Employee benefits 2.17 EE=EF

152

(@) Short-term benefits (a) sEHAFEF
Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security TE - #Ha TEaAxtERE
contributions are recognised as an expenses in the HERAERESIZHER
reporting period in which the associated services RIS IR S HARI SR AR ©
are rendered by employees of the Group. Short EEERERMEMNRFBIEMESR
term accumulating compensated absences such as RSB B R B > B FESR
paid annual leave are recognised when services are SO R AR RN (Bl &S 5
rendered by employees that increase their entitlement FR) cfTHRIE B s+ A AR
to future compensated absences. Short term non- BUHRR RREES R
accumulating compensated absences such as sick o
and medical leave are recognised when the absences
oceur.

(b) Defined contribution plans (b) TEREMREE
As required by law, companies in Malaysia contribute BEEEHET ERAIHIN
to the state pension scheme, the Employees Provident BARBERERTSTEREE
Fund (“EPF”). Such contributions are recognised as NES(EEATES)) ERH
an expense in the profit or loss as incurred. Once the o EMINELARNIESR
contributions have been paid, the Group has no further NEDAEL  —BS
payment obligations. M KEFREE S

o

The Group also operates a defined contribution AEBTBERSEATES
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme SEEB AESBRILE RS
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident AR RKERN R (TR
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees £HE ) NZLREEBERT
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. MR TE S8 o TL IR E
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the EEAFENE—BTOLEE
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit 4o R ERERESE 2R
or loss as they become payable in accordance with B R EERIG oS
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF STEMNEEEARNEERNEE
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group SHEEEEBEIEENES
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s NoAREBMWNET MR EA
employer contributions vest fully with the employees BEEstaHEHERYEER
when contributed into the MPF Scheme. BE o

() Employee leave entitlement (c) EEFEZ=RHA
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised EBEZERIINEEEEZAR
when they accrue to employees. An accrual is made REFED -EMEEHER

for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the reporting
date.

C-Link Squared Limited
Annual Report 2024

SRMRURBMEZASF
Bz Esta B



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.18 Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group is involved in the business of providing outsourced
data and document management services. Revenue from
contracts with customers is recognised when control of
the goods or services is transferred to the customer at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services. The Group has generally concluded that it is
the principal in its revenue arrangements except for the
distribution and sales of medical equipment.

(a) Outsourced services

@

Document management

The Group enters into contracts with customers
for the provision of outsourced document
management services and works are performed
upon receipt of job orders from the customers,
typically on a monthly basis. Outsourced
document management services include coding
of the format/presentation of the document;
converting raw data into the desired format/
presentation; and delivering the document to the
end-customers in an agreed mode.

Such contracts comprise a single distinct
performance obligation because the Group’s
promise to transfer the services to the customer
is not separately identifiable as each service
within the series is in fact a phase within the
outsourced document management services
that are highly interdependent and highly
interrelated to each other in producing an
integrated/combined output to the customer,
i.e., to deliver the document in the desired
format to its customers with a copy kept as
record. Besides, the Group has not and will not
provide part of the services as the customer is
not likely to engage multiple parties to perform
different phases of the outsourced document
management services as each phase is highly
interdependent and highly interrelated with each
other.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘l-F j- ?ﬂ #E%B{jﬂhi

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. EXRGFHHEREH®
INFORMATION (Continued)
2.18 Revenue from contracts with customers 218 FHEE BT 49U
(Continued) (€:59)
(a) Outsourced services (Continued) (a) ShHIARTS (&)

(i)  Document management (Continued) () XHESEHE)
The Group recognises revenue from the REH IR R BB REIR
provision of outsourced document management NI EIBARFS A
services at a point in time because the customer W THERELRNE
will only receive and consume the benefits until AT R & W EY &
the document is delivered to its customers. BB

(i)  Insurance marketing i) fREEEDY
The Group recognises revenue from the REBRRSEIBIER
provision of outsourced insurance marketing NFERRERRER
services at a point in time when the report 5 37 B ) B PR SR 4R b
or data is delivered to and accepted by its H) 1R B & B AR 75 M U
customers. Ho

(iii)  Insurance risk analysis (iii)  1REZEBR T
The Group enters into contracts with customers KEE IR MR R S
for the provision of insurance risk analysis AMIRFEERETIILA

154

services. The insurance risk analysis services
are performed after receipt of job orders from
the customers. The insurance risk analysis
services include producing a report of insurance
related ratios to insurance companies. The

Ko R AR D TR
REERERIIIE
BRET-REREARD
REBBEREARBRRABE
BE R B% A8 B tE R B9 R

Group recognises revenue from the provision of Lo REBRBERN
outsourced insurance risk analysis services at a IEARER R IEME

point in time when the report is delivered to and
accepted by its customers.

The Group provides datas for customer’s
telemarketing purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.18 Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(b) Enterprise software solutions

@

(i)

Customised software

The Group provides customised software which
is significantly modified to suit the requirements
of a customer. The modification, testing and
installation of the software are carried out in the
customer’s computer system.

The Group recognises revenue from the
provision of customised software over time by
the reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the service, because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.

Electronic document warehouse services

The Group enters into contracts with customers
for the provision of electronic document
warehouse services which include:

= Storing customers’ document in electronic
document warehouse

- Enabling unlimited direct document
retrieval by customers

EXEHHEREN @
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘l-F j- ?ﬂ #E%B{jﬂhi

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. BEAEHHREH®
INFORMATION (Continued)
2.18 Revenue from contracts with customers 218 KHEE RIIITISHMNNES
(Continued) (€:59)
(b) Enterprise software solutions (Continued) (b) DEHREBARAE (B)
(i)  Electronic document warehouse services (i) BFXMHFERE (48)

(Continued)
Such contracts comprise of a single ZEANOTTE—RBY
performance obligation because the Group’s SF REE A EBRK
promise to store and enable direct document FEEHEAERRPEER
retrieval to the customer is not separately BB EBHR
identifiable as they are highly interdependent and TTHPREBMRKEBERN
highly interrelated to each other, i.e., the Group =S ERE BlA&AE
will not be able to provide the direct document MR HEIEEERT
retrieval service without having to provide the B RERE B HiE
document storage services. HHRFE o
The Group recognises revenue from the KNEBE VRSN
provision of electronic document warehouse EFXHEFEEREHW
services over time because the customers W REAREANEBNER
receive and consume the benefits as and when RIS F R E
the Group provides the access to the electronic EEEA S IWE K E
document warehouse over time. BHIZE -

(c) Distribution and sales of medical equipment (c) EEREDHKRHE

The Group enters into a new contract for each
transaction with customers for the distribution and
sales of medical equipment as a principal. Medical
equipment sold includes cardioverter-defibrillators
and anesthesia laryngoscope. The Group recognises
revenue from distribution and sales of medical
equipment at point in time when the control of the
medical equipment is transferred to the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n-F j?*ﬁ%l‘fj*I

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.18 Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

U]

Distribution and sales of pharmaceutical
products

The Group enters into a new contract for each
transaction with customers for the distribution and
sales of pharmaceutical products as a principal. The
Group recognises revenue from distribution and sales
of pharmaceutical products at a point in time when the
control of the pharmaceutical products is transferred to
the customer.

Internet hospital and brick-and-mortar clinical
services

The Group recognises revenue from the provision of
internet hospital and brick-and-mortar clinical services
at a point in time when the clinical services is provided
to and accepted by its customers.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in
exchange for services transferred to the customer.
If the Group performs by transferring services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or
before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised
for the earned consideration that is conditional.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR MR M EE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. EAGHEEREN@®
INFORMATION (Continued)
2.18 Revenue from contracts with customers 218 FHEE BT 49U
(Continued) #&)
(9) Trade receivables (9) EBEZREWRIE

A receivable represents the Group’s right to an amount
of consideration that is unconditional (i.e., only the
passage of time is required before payment of the
consideration is due).

& WRR TR 45 7 £ B W ER (B
RIS AR BNACEEIHAN
A2 R I A RS o

(h) Contract liabilities (hy BHEaRE
A contract liability is the obligation to transfer services EHNEBEALNEERE R E
to a customer for which the Group has received ZEHORE L WERE (8
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) BRI WIREHWET-
from the customer. If a customer pays consideration HWERRAEERHEEZERD
before the Group transfers goods or services to the BRSBTS TE B E
customer, a contract liability is recognised when the AT s = E HA A (U R
payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is EAE)BIASHNEE &Y
earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue BERAEERESNBY
when the Group performs under the contract. s AU o

219 Taxes 2.19 RIE

Current income tax ENHAFRIER

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured BIERFFEM B ER B EHTEIRER

at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to MW E SN FTREER

the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used NS E HEZTHENRER

to compute the amount are those that are enacted or MEEEANRSHEBEEMRE

substantively enacted, at the reporting date. BEEMNIRE RIS LR

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in HEENEGZANRIINIEEEBAN

equity is recognised in equity and not in profit or loss. BIEAFR S MM ERENESE  MIEE

B ST o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n-F j?#&%l‘fjéi

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. FEAGHEEEHR®
INFORMATION (Continued)
2.19 Taxes (Continued) 2.19 I8 (@)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on
temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and
liabilites and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes at the reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

S where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

- in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:

- where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

BIEMIE
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HEERBENREREFMBER
HRARNREEZ BN EREER
TR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘l-F j- ?ﬂ #E%B{jﬂhi

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. FEAGHEEEHR®
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.19 Taxes (Continued) 2.19 I8 (@)

160

Deferred tax (Continued)

- in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each
reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that future taxable profits will allow the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax items are
recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current income tax
assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred
taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.

C-Link Squared Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.19

2.20

2.21

Taxes (Continued)
Sales tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the
amount of sales tax, except:

o when the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or
services is not recoverable from the taxation authority,
in which case, the sales tax is recognised as part of
the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the
expense item, as applicable; and

o receivables and payables that are stated with the
amount of sales tax included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable
to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or
payables in the statement of financial position.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds.

Related parties

A related party is defined as follows:

(8 A person or a close member or that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:
(1) Has control or joint control over the Group;

(2)  Has significant influence over the Group; or

(8) Is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M HRRMEE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.21 Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
condition applies:

Q)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same Group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a Group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
any entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(1) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\7|'\

BMBHwRMIEE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the reporting
date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to
the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future.

3.1 Ciritical judgements made in applying
accounting policies

3.2

There were no critical judgements made by management in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies that
have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements during the current financial year.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are set out below:

(a)

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the VIU of the CGU to which goodwill
has been allocated. The VIU calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from the CGU and an appropriate discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. Where the actual
cash flows are less than expected, or changes in facts
and circumstances which result in downward revision
of future cash flows, additional impairment loss may
arise.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of
goodwill is approximately RM191,911,000. Impairment
loss on goodwill amounted to approximately
RM23,323,000 was recognised in respect of the
current year. The information about the impairment of
goodwill is disclosed in Note 17.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘l-F j- ?ﬂ #E%B{jﬂhi

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3. EXGiHHIET R4t @

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 32 (M THRERRNEERIR

164

(Continued) #®)

(b) Impairment of intangible assets (b) EFEERE
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators REBRZSRE BRI
of impairment for intangible assets at the end of each ERTLEERS Hj IR AE 7] Rk
reporting period. Intangible assets are tested for ERR-BENRKEAREE
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying ENREEEAEEEZWE
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment B @HEETRENR B
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash- BEXNREELEMNERA
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which BEBEEAKEEEE BNER
is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and TEALERAKREREE
its VIU. The calculation of the fair value less costs to MEBNRSE) K BEE
sell is based on past binding sales transactions in an BE AFERBHERATHR
arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable BERAFRAIETAORSN
market prices less incremental costs for disposing HNEUEEHERZEN
of the asset. When VIU calculations are undertaken, i o EEmERLER
management must estimate the expected future cash ENEENAFESL &
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and FREGR BEEBEAMGE
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate EFREELEBMUNETER
the present value of those cash flows. The information RRERE MERABESH
about the impairment of intangible assets is disclosed BEAEZSHESRENIER
in Note 16. B-FRABEEERBENER

U EE16IREE o

(c) Provision for expected credit losses on trade () HBREKEIENTERESEE
receivables BeiE
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs AEBEFRAREERTEY

for trade receivables. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by
geography, product type, customer type and rating,
and coverage by letters of credit and other forms of
credit insurance).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(c)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables (Continued)

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. For
instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross
domestic products) are expected to deteriorate over
the next year which can lead to an increased number
of defaults in the financial sector, the historical default
rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of
ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and
forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical
credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of
customer‘s actual default in the future. The information
about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is
disclosed in Note 30(a).

(c)
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024412/531 H LF BT F/E

4.

166

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group has only one reportable
operating segment, which is the provision of outsourced services.
The Group is also involved in the distribution and sales of medical
equipment and pharmaceutical products, and the provision of
internet hospital and brick-and-mortar clinical services.

Since over 90% of the Group’s revenue is generated by its
provision of outsourced services, no operating segments have been
aggregated to form the above reportable operating segment.

The Group’s revenue from external customers was derived mainly
from its operations in Malaysia, Singapore and the PRC for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023; and the non-current
assets of the Group were mainly located in Malaysia and the PRC
as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

(@) Geographical information

4,

DEEH

RERMES FEEEA EITREEE
80> BRI HIRTS - SEBMA U FIR
B8 R 15 R T ) 7 0 9 T 8 5 DA e
R E BEE I R BRI IR o

P 25 42 I BABO0%% O i 5 TR E 4R 191 1)
BR TS - L A HAE S B LR AL L3 AT
BECEHE

B E2024FE K2023FE12B31HIEEE >
NEBREIFZENRBZETEREH
AERFEIE N R P E RIS > Mt
20244125310 K2023%FE12831H > &
%ElﬂgF/)lL@jé}zjﬁszJﬁ /%%EEEEZ
FRET o

(a) HHER

2024 2023
20244 20234
Group RM’000 RM’000
& FoEHE RER
Geographical markets iz i 15

Malaysia BRI 71,603 76,727
Singapore s 2,398 2,512
PRC =s 22,989 14,524

Total revenue from contracts with REHRFFIIL SRS
customers 96,990 93,763

(b) Non-current assets (b) IFEREEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RM’000 RM’000
EH RER
Malaysia g 31,488 33,952
PRC h 192,667 55
Total 45t 224,155 34,007
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4. DEER @
(b) Non-current assets (Continued) (b) FEREIEE @
Non-current assets for this purpose consist of property, plant MIEMENFERBEEBTEYZE
and equipment, right-of-use assets, prepayments, intangible MERZE FREEE AR
assets and goodwill but do not include deferred tax assets. B -BREEEREEETEEIRILE
MIBEE o
(c) Information about major customers (o) FRXERFRHNER
Revenue from top 5 customer groups of the Group’s revenue RERESHREBAEEBAAEFA
for each reporting period is set out below: MR EFIAT

Representing

% of total Sales
revenue amount
Al =)
Bt HELE
Group RM’000
#%EH FoEH
For the financial year ended HE2024F 12831 H LM BEE
31 December 2024
Bank Group A RITEBEA 22.94% 22,252
Bank Group B RITEEB 15.99% 15,506
Bank Group C RITEEC 8.47% 8,216
Retail Customer D (Note) ZEZAD (fizh) 5.61% 5,440
Insurance Group E (Note) RIEBE () 5.49% 5,328
Total “act 58.50% 56,742
For the financial year ended H E2023F 12831 H LM BEE
31 December 2023
Bank Group A RITEBEA 23.09% 21,653
Bank Group B RITEEB 16.15% 15,147
Bank Group C RITEEC 10.56% 9,900
Insurance Group D REEED 6.44% 6,034
Bank Group E IRITEEE 4.15% 3,894
Total “act 60.39% 56,628

Note: The revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023 did not
contribute over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for that
year.

Wizt : # E2023F12B31BIEEE I

HEAEARZFEHERZAE
B10% e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

5. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 5. REHARFIIIAHNKE
CUSTOMERS
5.1 Disaggregated revenue information 51 WA EER
Set out below is the disaggregation of the Group’s revenue TX#HAEBERBERERITILE
from contracts with customers: AR D48
2024 2023
20244 20234
Group RM’000 RM’000
TER FLEE ToaH
Type of services BRFEEEEY
Outsourced services: NIRRT -
— Document management —XHEE 67,322 73,682
— Insurance marketing —1RiEEH 17,227 12,889
— Insurance risk analysis —RBER R B o AT 111 473
— Enterprise software solutions: —EERGRRTE
— Customised software — B8 5,181 4,479
— Electronic document warehouse —BFXHFHEIRD
services 1,498 1,078
Others: Hith :
— Distribution and sales of medical — DRI E BERE
equipment 1,032 1,162
— Sales of pharmaceutical products —IHE BT E M 2,555 =
— Internet hospital and brick-and- —EERRE BRI R
mortar clinical services 2,064 -

Total revenue from contracts with KEEERFTIIEHEKE

customers 96,990 93,763
Timing of revenue recognition Ut 25 FE 2R B BRF R

At a point in time R E R 90,311 88,206

Over time 1 — R 6,679 5,557

Total revenue from contracts with KEHEERIILANNERE
customers 96,990 93,763
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

5. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

5.2

5.3

REREFIILSHNE @

Contract balances 5.2 BHEERR
2024 2023
20245 20234
RM’000 RM’000
FoEH  ToEE
Trade receivables (Note 19) B 5 EEIE (izE19) 19,211 19,675
Contract liabilities (Note 22) aHaE| (s22) 3,694 1,535
Performance obligations 53 EBHEME

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Outsourced document management services

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time and
payment is generally due upon completion of the service.

Outsourced insurance risk analysis services and
insurance marketing services

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time
when the report or data is delivered to and accepted by its
customers and payment is generally due upon completion of
the service.

Customised software

The performance obligation is satisfied over-time and
payment is generally due upon achieving pre-agreed billing
milestones.

Electronic document warehouse services

The performance obligation is satisfied over-time and
payment is generally due in advance at the beginning of the
service period.

Distribution and sales of medical equipment and
pharmaceutical products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon acceptance
of goods by the customer and payment is generally due in
advance before delivery.

Internet hospital and brick-and-mortar clinical services

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time and
payment is generally due upon completion of the service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR MR M EE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

5. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 5. RBHEEFRITIAHNNNE @
CUSTOMERS (Continued)
5.3 Performance obligations (Continued) 53 BHEE®
The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance R2024F K 2023F 12831 H DB F
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 FRBENEE KRBT RE
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: 7 HIRZEROT :
2024 2023
20244 20234
RM’000 RM’000
CEH SEH
Expected to be recognised: FEHAR A T EFRIFERD
Within one year —FRN 1,969 2,238
More than one year —FELE 151 115
2,120 2,353
The Group applies the practical expedient on the exemption AEEMBRIEERARARS —
to disclose the information on the remaining performance FHRUANRGFRENETEENERE
obligations that have original expected durations of one year BERER -
or less.
The remaining performance obligations expected to be R2024F12A31HFEBAR —F U £
recognised in more than one year as at 31 December 2024 RNFFRENEEERBERMENRN
relate to the enterprise software solutions to be satisfied U E (20235 RMEATMU )
within or more than two years (2023: within or more than two BTN EERGBRFERR-
years).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

6. OTHER INCOME 6. HMUA
2024 2023
20244 20234
Group RM’000 RM’000
TEE FoEHE TR
Interest income F B A 1,124 1,068
Others Hih 24 156
1,148 1,224

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. REERZE
2024 2023
20244 20234
Group RM’000 RM’000
TEE FoEHE LEH

Interest expenses on: THIEENHIERE

— term loan —TEHEM 271 374
— overdraft —FEY - 1
— lease liabilities (Note 24) —HES8E (Et24) 45 13
Amortisation of transaction costs (Note 23) LR (MffsE23) - 71
316 459
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘l-F j- ?ﬂ #E%B{jﬂhi

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

8. LOSS BEFORE TAX 8. MMAIEIE
The following items have been included in arriving at loss before THEIBEE s ARIRAIEEIS
tax:
2024 2023
20244 20234
Group RM’000 RM’000
wER FLEHE ToaH
Auditors’ remuneration: ZE M =
— statutory —EE 603 582
- others —H A 102 102
Cost of services recognised as expenses WERBARZ ZREB A 62,762 63,145
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses BaAREZEEMA 1,677 545
Staff costs* (Note 11) BT A (fisk11) 11,793 16,884
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment*  #12 k= KRR HiTE" (izE14)
(Note 14) 1,158 1,147
Depreciation of right-of-use assets™ (Note 15)  EREE EITE (f5£15) 610 215
Amortisation of intangible assets** (Note 16) EREEBHE ([HE16) 1,647 771
Impairment loss on goodwill*(Note 17) E R EEE (HE17) 23,323 =
Allowance for expected credit losses on trade B 5 ERFIETAHIEEE51E
receivables (Note 19) B (5119) 47 245
Bad debts written off: IRARES
— trade receivables —B S EWRIE - 590
(Reversal of)/allowance for unutilised leave FREVERAR (B E]) B (66) 35
Net unrealised foreign currency exchange losses k&35 91 M B 2 B5 485 58 38 253
Research cost AN 1,786 917
Legal and other professional fees FEREMBEEER 3,750 3,833
# Staff costs of approximately RM6,308,000 (2023: approximately E #46,308,0009 F 4 (2023F | &
RM5,855,000), RM138,000 (2023: Nil) and RM5,347,000 (2023: 5,855,0009 & 4%) » 138,0009 H14¥F (2023
approximately RM11,029,000) have been included in cost of sales, F 1) 5,347,000 F45 (20234 | 49
selling and distribution expenses and administrative expenses 11,029,000 F45) 2 BT RABS 735t
respectively. ABERS HERDHBAZ RITHH
E30

* Depreciation of property, plant and equipment of approximately * #9264,000% F 45 (20234 : 49540,000
RM264,000 (2023: approximately RM540,000) and RM894,000 < HH) &894,000% HHF (2023%F 1 49
(2023: approximately RM607,000) have been included in cost of sales 607,0009 E4%5) Z2¥E -BERKHITE
and administrative expenses respectively. ENRIst AHEM A KRITHMAS

** Included in administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of ** Bt AGRERRRNITEESZA -
comprehensive income.

“* Included in cost of sales in the consolidated statement of o BRI ARSI ERNEERAR -

comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

9. FRSMHAX

2024 2023

20244 20234

Group RM’000 RM’000

TEE FLEE TL5H

Current income tax: BIHERFTEHR

— Malaysia — Bk 2,505 2,505

—the PRC —HhE 96 263
Under/(over) provision in prior years BEVREERE

TR/ (BEEREH)

— Malaysia — Bk 31 (137)

- the PRC —r (236) (554)

2,396 2,077

Deferred tax (Note 25): IRIEFRIE (M95E25) ! 173 (124)

Income tax expense TSt 2,569 1,953

Domestic income tax is calculated at the Malaysian statutory tax
rate of 24% (2023: 24%), Hong Kong statutory tax rate of 16.5%
(2023: 16.5%) and the PRC statutory tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%)

of the estimated assessable profit for the year.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands, the
Company is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands.

WFTEMR b ER G ERRER =
BARFELEERE24% (20234 : 24%) »
ERETEMRNE16.5% (20234F : 16.5%) K&
R EFRER25% (20234 : 25%) 5t&

RERSHFSHNRAURER  *RBHA
RHRSESEMERPIER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR MR M EE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 9. FRiSHB> @

A recongiliation of income tax expense applicable to loss before BRARBAEMERMEAENGRA

tax at the statutory income tax rates to income tax expense at the BEIENMEREZARAERBERME

effective income tax rate of the Group is as follows: MREAENFESREZNHERDOT

2024 2023

20244 20234

Group RM’000 RM’000

EE FLEE TLEE

Loss before tax FRINBIES 18 (18,541) (1,465)

Tax at a rate of: MES

— Malaysia at 24% (2023: 24%) — B RFEEE24% (20234 © 24%) 1,834 1,662

— Hong Kong at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) —&#16.5% (20234 : 16.5%) (4,122) (1,576)

— People’s Republic of China at —rhEE N RHEME25%

25% (2023: 25%) (20234F : 25%) (301) 290
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for MMIEM S AR 2
tax purposes MEEE 5,390 2,358
Tax effect of income not taxable for REM S BAEZRERW G Z
tax purposes MBeE (27) -

Tax deduction nia = (90)

Over provision of income tax in prior years BEFEFRSRBRERE (205) (691)

Income tax expense for the year FAMMERES 2,569 1,953

The above reconciliation is prepared by aggregating separate THHENERAEASERRE LEE

reconciliations for each national jurisdiction and eliminating intra- MR R HIEERRNABBR Z MRS

group transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

10. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY 10. FAFRIRERFE AELSIREE

HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the Group’s net loss
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial
year.

The following reflects the income and share data used in the
computations for basic and diluted loss per share attributable to
equity holders of the Company:

SRELABENDBREADREREAE
HAEEBEEFERUMBFEERET
SN E BRI T I HEE -

TERRBREADREFEABLESRE
rRBEBEFAEMAZRARRNG#
B

2024 2023
20244 20234
RM’000 RM’000
SER RER
Loss for the year attributable to equity holders of =t EE AR # EEER A AT
the Company for the purposes of basic and R B AB L EREE
diluted loss per share (21,430) (4,249)

Number of shares

e 8
2024 2023
20244 20234
‘000 ‘000
TR TFhE
Weighted average number of shares for the STESREARREEEERNEFE
purposes of basic and diluted loss per share HRHEE 2,841,857 2,400,000

The weighted average numbers of ordinary shares adopted for the
year ended 31 December 2023 have been calculated to take into
account the share subdivision of the Company from 1 issued and
unissued ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each subdivided into the 3
ordinary shares of HK$0.003 each on 13 June 2023 (Note 26).

The Group had no potential dilutive ordinary shares in issue during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

H ZE2023F12B31HIEEEFRFRBNE
BRINEFEHHEETEREEE2023
FH1SHEMNAABRMITMBER
E{EA0.01B T RB BT RAETR
T BRI A3 S E E 50.00378 7TTH
ZiEmR (fisee) o

B E2024F K2023F 12831 HIEFE » K
EEWECRTEEREZER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘l-F j- ?ﬂ #E%B{jﬂhi

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

11. STAFF COSTS 1. BITEA
2024 2023
20244 20234
Group RM’000 RM’000
TEE FLEE TLEH
Salaries and performance related bonuses e KB RIFERITEAL 10,408 15,724
Pension scheme contributions BIASEHEIHR 1,353 1,137
Other employee benefits Hitg8EF] 32 23
11,793 16,884
Included in staff costs are Executive Directors’ remuneration as ETMASIERFI2IRENNTESH
disclosed in Note 12. [
The five highest paid employees during the year included FRELRGBHFNEECE —RESE
one director (2023: three directors). The details of directors’ (2023%F : = EF) - EEH MBI
remuneration are disclosed in Note 12. Details of the remaining four BERME12- FREREE (20234F /M
(2023: two) highest paid employees whom are non-directors during ) MIFEEN RS HMEENFBUT
the years are as follows:
2024 2023
20244 20234
Group RM’000 RM’000
TEH FoEH FTLEH
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RMEEYH & 1,121 798
Performance related bonuses PR IFAARIITEAL 195 331
Pension scheme contributions BRIREEEHR 89 20
1,405 1,149
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

11. STAFF COSTS (Continued) 11.

The number of four (2023: two) highest paid employees of the
Group (excluding executive directors) whose total remuneration

ST @

FRHMAERNTFUTBEN TSRS
(2023%F : M%) RE#HMES (FEER

during the year fell within the following bands are analysed below: TES) BESWUWT :

Group 2024 2023
rE 20245 20234
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z%=1,000,00078 7T 3 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7t E 1,500,000 AT 1 1

During the year, no (2023: Nil) remuneration was paid by the Group
to, or receivable by, the directors or past directors or any of the five
highest paid employees as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

rEE AERMERNEFAAEESTH
ERLLERSHFMNESMHM JREF
EE AR UGN (20234 @ ) > 1E& /M
A2 5 B B 7E 0 A 7 £ [ B 9 22 B 3 1

C-Link Squared Limited
2024 F 3R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR MR M EE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 12. EFHM
The details of remuneration received/receivable by the Directors of ARBEERMBEEE W B
the Company for the financial year are as follows: [HEES
Salaries,
allowances, Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees inkind contributions Bonus remuneration
e EER il
g BN HEE TE4 by ek

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
TeER  TeER  TeER  TeER TOER

31 December 2024 2024F12H31H
Executive Directors: BITEE .
Mr. F Ling (Note (i) F Lingc 4 (2H() - S S - s
Mr. W Ling (Note (i) W Ling%c 4 (HF2K() - - - - -
Mr. Ma Shengcong BaELs 70 - - - 70
Ms. Zhang Ying (Note (i) RE 7L (3G 70 - - - 70
140 - - - 140
Non-executive Directors; FRTES:
Mr. S Ling Slingt% 17 480 67 40 704
Dr. Wu Xianyi REREL 70 - - - 70
187 480 67 40 774
Independent Non-executive Directors: BIUFFRTES
Mr. Yang Junhui REERE 70 - - - 70
Mr. Qian Jianguang #ERE 70 - - - 70
Dr. Zeng Jianhua (Note () BERL (1Y) 23 - - - 2
Mr. Xie Yaozu (Note (vi) BRRRE () 48 - - 5 48
211 - - - 211
538 480 67 40 1,125
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 12. EHFM @

Salaries,
allowances, Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees inkind  contributions Bonus  remuneration
e 2R bty
g Ll BEE fE4 HiaE
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
TLER TLER TLER TLER TLER
31 December 2023 2023F12H31H
Executive Directors: HITEE.
Mr. F Ling (Note (i) F Ling7c 4 (BzH() 39 420 120 2,191 2,770
Mr. W Ling (Note (i) W Lingse 4 (HIZH() 39 420 120 2,191 2,770
Mr. Ma Shengcong BEERE 70 - - - 70
Ms. Zhang Ying (Note (i) RE L () 47 - - - 47
195 840 240 4,382 5,657
Non-executive Directors: FHTESE.
Mr. S Ling Sling% 116 320 38 40 514
Dr. Wu Xianyi REREL 70 - - - 70
186 320 38 40 584
Independent Non-executive Directors: BIUFFRTES
Mr. Yang Junhui RERLE 70 = = = 70
Mr. Lee Yan Kit (Note (i) ZRERE (W) 28 - - - 28
Mr. Qian Jianguang #ELRE 70 - - - 70
Dr. Zeng Jianhua (Note (v) BERL (i) 70 - - - 70
Mr. Xie Yaozu (Note (v) RRALE () - - 5 = =
238 - - - 238
619 1,160 278 4,422 6,479
Notes: et

(i

(i)

(V)

Mr. Ling Sheng Hwang (“Mr. F Ling”) ceased as executive director of
the Company with effect from 1 May 2023.

Mr. Ling Sheng Chung (“Mr. W Ling”) ceased as executive director of
the Company with effect from 1 May 2023.

Ms. Zhang Ying was appointed as executive director of the Company
with effect from 1 May 2023.

Mr. Lee Yan Kit ceased as independent non-executive director of the
Company with effect from 27 March 2023.

Dr. Zeng Jianhua resigned as independent non-executive director of
the Company with effect from 25 April 2024.

Mr. Xie Yaozu was appointed as independent non-executive director
of the Company with effect from 25 April 2024.

(i)

(V)

(V)

Ling Sheng Hwang#c 4 (TF Ling#t &%)
BETAABBITES > B§2023F581H
REAERL o

Ling Sheng Chung?t 4 (TW Ling%t41) 1
BECTALNSHITES  52023F551H
REAERK o

REZTEZEALXRTNITES B
2023FE5F1HEBER ©

ERGRETNBETAABBIIERT
B B2023FE3827HREEM -

BEREFETHIAATBIIIENTES
BH202454 825 B4 o

REBEEERZERAREBILIFNT

EE > B2024F 48250 -EM
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘l-F j- ?ﬂ *E%B{Téi

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 12. EFHMN @
All the above benefits in the Directors’ remuneration consist of cash EEHFMNPNME LA R ERIERE
benefits only. ol

180

There was no arrangement under which a Director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the financial year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

The remuneration for the Executive Directors shown above were for
their services as directors of the Company and for their services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and
the Group. The remuneration for the Non-executive Director shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company and its
subsidiary. The remuneration for the Independent Non-Executive
Directors shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company only.

No remuneration was paid or receivable in respect of a person
accepting office as a director during the financial year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil).

No remuneration was recognised or paid by the Group to the
directors or past directors as compensation for loss of office
as a director or loss of any other office in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Group during the financial year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

No consideration was provided to or receivable by any third party
for making available the services of a person as a director of a
company, or in any other capacity while a director during the
financial year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

There was no arrangement in relation to loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings between the Group and the directors (including any
entities controlled by or connected with such directors) during the
financial year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

The Company has not entered into any authorised loans which
include outstanding loans made under the authority of sections
280 and 281 of the Companies Ordinance during the financial year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

13. DIVIDEND 13.

The Board does not recommend the distribution of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: No final dividend).

a2
EEEFEZRNVEE2024F12H31H
IEEERNRPRE (2023F : ERAR
8)o

i =
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. ME - -BERRE
Computer
Data centre Factory Renovation Plant and and Motor Furniture Office
in progress building Shop lot  of building hinery ft: hicll and fittings  equipment Total
AREERL  IREF [kt BFERE  RBEREW TERHH RE REREE AR &5t
Group RM'00  RM'00  RMO00  RM000  RMO000  RMO00  RMO00  RMO000  RM000  RM000
F&M@ FEES FEER FEER FEER FLES FEER FEER FEE FEER FEER
31 December 2024 20245128318
Cost 22
At 1 January 2024 120241818 15,299 1,487 3,505 4,549 4,726 5,448 972 521 1,431 37,938
Additions HE 2,217 - - - 89 62 4 1 261 2,644
Acquisition of a subsidiary WK B AT
(Note 32) (Ff§5£32) - - - 100 8 807 - - - 915
Written-off e - - S S (281) (39) S s = (320)
Currency translation difference  FER £ 28 - - - (y] (1) (54) - 1) - (63)
At 31 December 2024 120245128310 17,516 1,487 3,505 4,642 4,541 6,224 976 531 1,692 41,114
Accumulated depreciation B iHiTE
At 1 January 2024 120241818 - 527 730 3,830 4,726 5,054 738 500 1,105 17,210
Charge for the year (Note 8)  ERREX (Hi58) - 30 70 375 20 400 57 12 124 1,158
Acquisition of a subsidiary WK B AT
(Note 32) (Ff§5£32) - - - - 5 404 - - - 409
Written-off e - - S S (280) @7) S s = 817)
Currency translation difference  FER Z%8 - - - 3) - (35) - 1) - (39)
At 31 December 2024 120245128310 - 557 800 4,202 4,541 5,786 795 511 1,229 18,421
Net carrying amount REFE 17,516 930 2,705 440 - 438 181 20 463 22,693
31 December 2023 20235128310
Cost 52
At 1 January 2023 12023F1 818 14,112 1,487 3,505 4,549 4,726 5373 740 521 1,264 36,277
Additions HE 1,187 o S > S 7% 255 S 167 1,684
Written-off 6| - - - - - - (9 - = (@3
At 31 December 2023 120235128310 15,299 1,487 3,505 4,549 4,726 5,448 972 521 1,431 37,938
Accumulated depreciation B iHiTE
At 1 January 2023 12023515 1H - 497 660 3,469 4,554 4,722 713 450 1,021 16,086
Charge for the year (Note 8)  ERREX (Hi:8) - 30 70 361 172 332 48 50 84 1,147
Written-off b6 - - - - - - (3 - - 9
At 31 December 2023 12023F12831H S 521 730 3,830 4,726 5,054 738 500 1,105 17,210
Net carrying amount IREFE 15,299 960 2,775 719 S 3% 234 21 326 20,728
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘l-F j- ?ﬂ #E%B{jﬂhi

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% -BRERRE @

182

(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group entered
into a provisional agreement with an independent third party to
acquire a building in Malaysia at the consideration of approximately
RM12 million (equivalent to approximately HK$22 million), of which
RM10 million (equivalent to approximately HK$20 million) were
paid out of the net proceeds of the Company’s share offer and
placing (the “Share Offer”). The Group began the conversion of
the building into the Data Centre in June 2022. As at 31 December
2024, the conversion work was still in progress and it is expected
that the Data Centre will be ready for use by the year ended 31
December 2025. The conversion work was delayed mainly due to
the unexpected longer time required for the application for approval
for the building, renovation and construction plans from the local
authorities regarding the conversion of building usage.

The Group estimates that the carrying amount of the property, plant
and equipment does not exceed the recoverable amount and no
impairment has been recognised.

As at 31 December 2024, factory building with carrying amounts
of approximately RM930,000 (2023: RM960,000) and shop lot
with carrying amounts of approximately RM2,705,000 (2023:
RM2,775,000) are pledged as security for banking facilities of the
Group as disclosed in Note 23.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The Group has lease contracts for leasehold land, office premise,
motor vehicle and data centre used in its operations, which
generally have lease terms between 85 and 97 years, between 2

15. FREEE
FEEBESEFBRAS LT BRAZY
% RERHBETOTURAEAL A
— MR BB TE5EITLE N FOE5E < 4

and 5 years, 4 years and 2 years respectively. F 2% o
Leasehold Office Motor Leased
land premise vehicle data centre Totfl

HELH  WAEYE RE HEEHERD st
Group RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
KE@ T2E TeE T2eE T¢& TLER
31 December 2024 2024F12831H
Cost iy
As at 1 January 2024 R2024FE1R1H 3,621 923 430 616 5,590
Additions HE - 699 - 2 701
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 32) WEKB AR (H32) - 476 - - 476
Written-off isH - (459) - - (459)
Currency translation differences ERER - (49) & o (49)
As at 31 December 2024 R2024&12831H 3,621 1,590 430 618 6,259
Accumulated depreciation REHE
A1 January 2024 7202451518 643 578 57 493 1,771
Charge for the year (Note 8) FEREEY (58) 4 368 86 115 610
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 32) IEsM @A E (EEs2) - 383 - - 383
Written-off i - (459) - - (459)
Currency translation differences EREER - (22 - - (22
As at 31 December 2024 120245128310 684 848 143 608 2,283
Net carrying amount IREEE 2,937 742 287 10 3,976
31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H
Cost oy
As at 1 January 2023 120231 81H 3,621 611 - 465 4,697
Additions RE = 293 430 151 874
Currency translation differences ERESR - 19 - = 19
As at 31 December 2023 1#2023&12831H 3,621 923 430 616 5,590
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE
At 1 January 2023 12023F1 A1H 602 480 - 465 1,647
Charge for the year (Note 8) FART ([E8) 41 89 57 28 215
Currency translation differences ERER - 9 - - 9
As at 31 December 2023 12003125318 643 578 57 493 1,771
Net carrying amount IREFE 2,078 345 373 123 3,819

As at 31 December 2024, leasehold land with carrying amounts of
approximately RM2,937,000 (2023: RM2,978,000) is pledged as
security for banking facilities of the Group as disclosed in Note 23.

R2024F12831H  REEES
2,937,000 F4F (20234 : 2,978,000%
) NHEE LM B ERIEAM 23T
BERNAEERTRENIKR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘l-F j- ?ﬂ #E%B{jﬂhi

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. BICEE
Software development expenditure LR e
Streamline Streamline Streamline
output Streamline document document
management  electronic data ~ management  management
system warehouse  system phase | system phase I
Source code (“OMS”) (‘EDW”) (“DMS phase I”) (‘DMS phase II") Total

X X
EEAG EBAA
REEH REEF ZIRE B,
EEAM HiEE ("oms ("oms

BRE (roms)) (TEDW)) B1RE) ELE)] fact
Group RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
~E[ LER LER LER LER LER ER
31 December 2024 2024128318
Cost S
At 1 January 2024 1202451818 5,162 848 1,354 1,185 3,072 11,621
Addtions e = = - - - -
At 31 December 2024 12024128318 5,162 848 1,354 1,185 3,072 11,621
Accumulated amortisation 54
At 1 January 2024 20241818 - 848 1,354 1,185 1,842 5,229
Charge for the year (Note 8) FABEZ (fEs) 1,083 - - - 614 1,647
At 31 December 2024 12024127318 1,033 848 1,354 1,185 2,456 6,876
Net carrying amount REFE 4,129 - - - 616 4,745
31 December 2023 2023128310
Cost B
At 1 January 2023 120231818 2,305 848 1,354 1,185 3,072 8,764
Additions hE 2,857 - - - - 2,857
At 31 December 2023 1R2023E12531H 5,162 848 1,354 1,185 3,072 11,621
Accumulated amortisation RitEH
At 1 January 2023 1202351518 - 848 1,304 1,028 1,228 4,458
Charge for the year (Note 8) FRREZ (M58 - - - 157 614 m
At 31 December 2023 120235128318 - 848 1,354 1,185 1,842 5,229
Net carrying amount IREFE 5,162 - - - 1,230 6,392
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BMBHwRMIEE

n-F

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
Amortisation

Amortisation of software development expenditure is included
in the “Cost of sales” line item in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Impairment testing

The carrying value of the intangible assets is expected to be
recovered from probable future economic benefits that are
expected to be generated from the commercial exploitation of these
intangible assets. The remaining amortisation period at the financial
year end is less than 5 years.

The recoverable amounts of the intangible assets have been
determined based on VIU calculations using projected cash flows
from financial budgets approved by management covering the
useful lives of each of the intangible assets, including intangible
asset which is not yet available for use. The discount rates and the
forecast gross profit margin applied to the cash flow projections are
as follows:

16.

BI.EE @

BN ERE S
MHEMAIBEA -

AGEEEEWRERN

RAE A
EBREENEEERTRUEEENZSE
EEENBEMERELENRELE
F 2 F U [E] o A B IBRCAE B Ok B9 TR Ak 340 6 A
DFABEE o

BICEEMNWEZECREEREE
SEEE EREAKEERSERES
BLEE (BREHRAHEAETLEE 7
FRFRNPEEENTEARESRE B

ARRERERANEREREER
=M

Key assumptions: 2024 2023
RS - 20244 20234
Forecast gross profit margin FERIEFE 85.2% 86.8%
Pre tax discount rate MATARIR X 28.8% 29.4%

Forecast gross profit margin — budgeted gross margin represents
the past performance of the Group and expected market
development.

RAENXR-BREEMNXIEAEENBERE
RERBHTHER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR MR M EE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

186

Impairment testing (Continued)

Discount rate — Discount rate represents the current market
assessment of the risks specific to each CGU, regarding the
time value of money and individual risks of the underlying assets
which have not been incorporated in the cash flow estimates. The
discount rate calculation is based on the specific circumstances
of the Group and its operating segments and derived from its
weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”). The WACC takes
into account both cost of debt and cost of equity. The cost of
equity is derived from the expected return on investment by the
Group’s investors. The cost of debt is based on the interest-bearing
borrowings the Group is obliged to service. Segment-specific risk
is incorporated by applying individual beta factors. The beta factors
are evaluated annually based on publicly available market data.

Business development — there will be no major changes in the
existing political, legal and economic conditions in Malaysia.

C-Link Squared Limited
Annual Report 2024
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BIME R E R - BRIREA B ERAER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

17. GOODWILL

17. HE

Provision of
internet hospital
and brick-and-
mortar clinical
services business

R E AN P R
BREMZIRBEERS
RM’000
FTLEH
Cost D%
As at 1 January 2024 K2024F181H L
Additions through acquisition of a subsidiary ERWEKBABRE (M5E32)

(Note 32) 215,234
As at 31 December 2024 §220245128531H 215,234
Accumulated impairment losses BitmEsE
As at 1 January 2024 R2024F181H =
Impairment loss recognised in the year (Note 8) FAEDREEIE (158) 23,323
As at 31 December 2024 §#2024%F12831H 23,323
Carrying amount IREE
As at 31 December 2024 1#2024%12831H 191,911

As at 31 December 2023

2023 12H31H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘l-F j- ?ﬂ #E%B{jﬂhi

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

17. GOODWILL (Continued) EE @
Impairment testing AR
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the recoverable amount B ZE2024F 12831 HILFE » ik BG4
of the above CGU of internet hospital and brick-and-mortar clinical BRAEBREMYREER 2 HeELS
services business has been determined based on a VIU calculation. iz A WElEELIREFEREETEE
That calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial EoZstBERARBEEEEHERERTF
budgets approved by management covering a five-year period at a B 2 M5 TR B IR AT RE IR ZR26 % EH 2
pre-tax discount rate of 26%. The cash flows are forecasted to be HEREBEA - RERERAETAFIM
increased by 10% in average per annum for a five-year period and FEFEILMNI10% > Mz AFABEE 2R
the cash flows beyond this 5-year period are extrapolated using a EREWRA2RZIEREEHE FIHAZ
2% growth rate. The growth rates used are based on the estimated BEXNRBERESEFEMZGHIIER
growth rate of the CGU taking into account the past performance XEFT KRERREEFBUZBERIR
and management expectation of future business performance MEBEHAKRERRRERIEZ2TEE -
and prospect of the CGU. In view of the operating results of the ENIREELBAZKEES B E2024
CGU, an impairment loss on goodwill amounted to approximately F1I2A3BELEERIBERERBEY
RM23,323,000 is recognised for the year ended 31 December 23,323,000% F4F o
2024.
18. INVENTORIES 18. F&
2024 2023

20244 20234
Group RM'000 RM’000
EME FLEE Fo&F
Finished goods ECS e 2,089 617
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial

recognition.

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES B 5 KREMEKRIEA
2024 2023
20245 20234
Group RM'000 RM’000
TEH TER LER
Trade receivables & 5 EKRIE
Third parties T= 19,759 20,176
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses B TBHAEEEEERE (548) (501)
Trade receivables, net B EWERIEFER 19,211 19,675
Other receivables HihpEYzRIE
Non-current JETED
Prepayments AR 830 3,068
Current B
Deposits & 1,326 1,211
Sundry receivables H U RIa 795 397
Prepayments SEENEOE] 3,386 3,381
Amounts due from related parties 7 Wit FE Bt 5 =R 1B 39 37
5,546 5,026
Total prepayments, deposits and other FENRmE SR
receivables HAFEU R IE4E %R 6,376 8,094
Total trade and other receivables B 5 REMEKRIEEEE 25,587 27,769
Less: Prepayments B TR I (4,216) (6,449)
Add: Cash and bank balances (Note 20) 0 IRERIRITAERR (EE20) 59,723 42,673
Total debt instruments carried R A RNEE T AL
at amortised costs 81,094 63,993
Trade receivables B S EWmRIE
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on BSEWTIERSTE  BHREAEE A30K
30 days (2023: 30 days) terms. They are recognised at their (20234 : 30K) ° E&F‘?_ BESRAMR

ERSEARERYIERBFHNATE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR MR M EE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 19. B 5 KR HMFEWTRIE @)
Trade receivables (Continued) B 5 EURIE (48)

RREARRERB BT NREIRER
BB 5 BRI IRE DT ¢

An aging analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss

190

allowance, is as follows:

2024 2023

20245 20234

Group RM'000 RM’000
TEHE FoEH SER
Within 1 month RENER 10,521 10,340
1 to 2 months 1ZE2{8H 3,636 2,705
2 to 3 months 2E3E A 2,752 2,635
Over 3 months 3MEB UL 2,302 3,995
19,211 19,675

Set out below is the movement in the allowance for expected credit

TXHINEZEBEWRERRAEEHIEE

losses of trade receivables: BIEE) .
2024 2023
20244 20234
Group RM'000 RM’'000
EME FLEHE FL£EH
At beginning of the year REH) 501 256
Allowance during the year (Note 8) FEpEE (EEs) 47 245
At end of the year REXR 548 501

The information about the credit exposures are disclosed in Note

30(a).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

19.

20.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 19. 85 KR HMEWTIE @)
Prepayments FE(TRRIE
Included in year-end balance under current assets was an amount FARMBEEFRHGEHRN TR
of approximately RM2,286,000 (2023: approximately RM2,583,000) 2,286,000 4% (20234 : £92,583,000%
relating to the prepayment to suppliers for the purchase of =) EmHERSOEMREBEUEER
inventories. I=p=1:E
Included in year-end balance under non-current assets was FAETHEEFARBERNESEN
an amount of approximately RM830,000 (2023: approximately 830,000% F4F (20234 : £93,068,000% F
RM3,068,000) relating to the prepayment for data centre 1) BB OEBRFNEATIESR
consultancy services.
Amounts due from related parties FEYK B 75 7R I8
These amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are ZEFBEABIEB A ERBREXK
repayable on demand. (=b=g
CASH AND BANK BALANCES 20. RERIRITAER
2024 2023
20244 20234
Group RM’000 RM’000
EME TLEH TLEH
Cash on hand and at banks FRERELIFITER 29,992 13,465
Deposits with licensed banks RIFHEIBITHER 29,731 29,208
59,723 42,673

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Deposits with licensed banks are made for varying
periods between one day and three months (2023: one day and
three months) depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interests at the respective deposit rates.
During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the interest
rates of the deposits range from 3.40% to 3.70% (2023: from
2.60% to 4.25%) per annum.

ETEARRESHRTERMNEXRHNE
B2 SR RBEEA B - RIFREIBITHE
THHREEE NFE—RKE=MEA (2023
F—XRE=Z@ER) AL RELEEW
R RSERME THREEZERF
KHEA B o 5 E2024F12H31H LB
BEE > ERNEMZENF3.40%E3.70%
(20234 : 2.60%%E4.25%) ©
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. B REME[TRIE

2024 2023
20244 20234

Group RM’000 RM’000
EM FLEE TR
Trade payables B EMARIE
Third parties F=hH 1,340 4,821
Amount due to a related party FE{ — 2 BE Bt 5 =B 65 43

1,405 4,864
Other payables HihfE{IRIE
Accruals FEETE A 2,230 2,425
Sundry payables (Note (i) IR RRIE (B 5E) 2,840 632
Sales and Service Tax (“SST’) payable FETIHE RRRTS (THHE BRFER) 331 245
Amounts due to related parties FE{S RE Bt 5 =R 391 14

5,792 3,316
Total trade and other payables B REHMEIRIEEEE 7,197 8,180
Add: Loans and borrowings (Note 23) i B ERR (EE23) 4,290 6,895
Add: Lease liabilities (Note 24) o EEaE (MsEo4) 948 677
Less: SST payable B FE(T I E EARFER (331) (245)
Total financial liabilities carried E ¥ 188 84 A4S A BRAY

at amortised cost ERBEEEE 12,104 15,507

Note: fisE -

HERCNHEQERNTE=Z1REH
1,839,000% FH4F (2023 : #) UIEHE
AEEERAR 2RBEAEIRE T8
K BREREE -

(i) Included in sundry payables is an amount due to a third party (i)
amounted to approximately RM1,839,000 (2023: Nil) for the daily
operation purpose in the PRC. This amount is unsecured, non-
interest bearing and repayable on demand.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 21. B RHEMEMARIE @

An aging analysis of the trade payables at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

REESHAREZEBIRNBENEZLN
BRREC DA ¢

2024 2023

20244 20234

Group RM’000 RM’000
TEH <TER SEH
Within 1 month 1MER A 1,151 4,581
1 to 2 months 1ZE2(8H 254 283
2 to 3 months 2F3EH - =
Over 3 months BB ML - -
1,405 4,864

Trade payables

These amounts are non-interest bearing and the normal trade terms
are 30 days (2023: 30 days).

Sundry payables

These amounts are non-interest bearing. Other payables are
normally settled on an average term of 6 months (2023: 6 months).

Amounts due to related parties

These amounts are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on
an average term of 6 months (2023: 6 months).

B BRI

ZEREAFE EENEZHEA30K
(2023% : 30K)

IR (I TRIA

ZERIEANE c H BT RIRRE ¥ 126
878 (2023% : 6f87) B FHIMIRER -

FE{TRABS S FRIE
ZERBEATHE  — RN FHHARESE A
(20234 : 6@ B) NE(T -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 2. aHN8aE
2024 2023
20245 20234
Group RM’000 RM’000
KER TEH ToaH
Contract liabilities sHaE
Advance enterprise software solutions TR TR =R AR R TS 52 1,292 1,272
Advance outsourced services AN R AR TS 2,400 263
Advance distribution and sales of medical TEW D e tH E B R
equipment 2 _
3,694 1,635
Contract liabilities include enterprise software solutions billed in SHEaEEERNERBNEEWANTE
advance for which revenue will be recognised over the contractual FERUNEERGBRT R AR—FRN
period, advanced billing to customers for the provision of MIBBEINHINRERLEEE PRI E
outsourced services that is to be satisfied within one year and ERBBRESENENERTER Bﬂ@
advance biling to customers for the distribution and sales of the W ERMIBLAE P FAILINDHERIEE
medical equipment for which revenue will be recognised upon the R BEE.
transfer of the rights of medical equipment to the customer.
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised TRITEERN S P EEESNEENE
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and how much relates RN EBEUREBTHREEETENETE
to performance obligations that were satisfied in prior periods. BRENEEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RM’000 RM’000
FLEHE TLaH
As at 1 January M1B1H 1,535 1,574
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of REAREENTAZ
recognising revenue during the year that BB ERIBIA
was included in the contract liabilities at the aRanasmEl
beginning of the year (1,535) (1,574)
Increase of receipts in advance from customers & /5 FEWERIEIE AN 1,469 1,535
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 32) H&%Mﬂ% N E) (FFE32) 2,384 -
Currency translation difference PERERE (159) -
As at 31 December ®12831H 3,694 1,535

C-Link Squared Limited
194 Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

23. LOANS AND BORROWINGS 23. ERRER

2024 2023

20244 20234
Group RM’000 RM’000
TEE FSEE FLEH
Current REh
Secured: BigE
Term loan 1 THEET 2,731 2,605
Non-current T ED
Secured: BigHE
Term loan 1 THET 1,559 4,290
Total loans and borrowings Bk fE4a%E 4,290 6,895
Unamortised transaction costs KRB Z DS
At beginning of the year REH] - 71
Amortisation for the year (Note 7) FEREHE (H5E7) - (71)

At end of the year

RER

C-Link Squared Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR MR M EE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

23. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (Continued) 23.

The remaining maturities of the loans and borrowings at year end
are as follows:

BRRER @
RERERREROF THEMT :

2024 2023

20244 20234

Group RM’000 RM’000
wER CEH SEHE
Within 1 year 1ER 2,731 2,605
Later than 1 year but not later than 2 years B EBRER2E 1,559 2,731
Later than 2 years but not later than 5 years BR2EBRNERSE - 1,559
4,290 6,895

Term loan 1 (floating rate), bank overdraft
(floating rate) and FlexiLoan (floating rate)

These borrowings are secured by the followings:

(i) first party open charge over the leasehold land (Note 15) and
factory building (Note 14) of the Group;

(i) first party open charge over shop lot (Note 14) of the Group;
and

(i)  corporate guarantee by the Company.

The interest rate per annum at the reporting date for the loans and
borrowings is as follows:

EHEM (FBAE) (RTEX (F
BHER) REFER (FEFXR)

ZEERAT ISR

() HEAEEBEEIH WH5E15) RIRK
BT (H5E14) BB - RRFRE ;

(i) HEEBEHGEH (HE14) BOE—
VNN

(i)  AABZEFEER

ERMKRERIRES BMVERNROT

Group 2024 2023
TEH 20245 20234

% %
Term loan 1 EHRE 4.75 4.75
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

24. LEASE LIABILITIES 24. HE&R
2024 2023
20245 20234
Group RM’000 RM’000
TEH SER TLaH
Current B
Lease payment on data centre IR OBENR 9 104
Lease payment on motor vehicles ABEBEENR 81 77
Lease payment on office premise MAEYEBENR 367 143
457 324
Non-current JETRE
Lease payment on data centre P OB - 9
Lease payment on motor vehicles ARERENR 113 194
Lease payment on office premise MAEYEHRENTR 378 150
Total lease liabilities HEaEREE 948 677
Set out below is the movement in lease liabilities: TXHEIEEEBENES !
2024 2023
20244 20234
Group RM’000 RM’000
wEE FLEHE FToEH
At beginning of the year REH] 677 82
Addition AE 701 764
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 32) B B AT (FzE32) 99 =
Accretion of interest (Note 7) FEIEM GEEE7) 45 13
Payment of lease liabilities TNEESE (549) (182)
Currency translation difference PE R Z%E (25) -
At end of the year REX 948 677
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

24. LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued) 24. HEBE®
The remaining maturities of the lease liabilities at year end are as REXREESENF TIHEAT !
follows:
2024 2023
20245 20234
Group RM’000 RM’000
wER FLEHE FToTH
Within 1 year 1R 457 324
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years B EBRERSE 491 353
948 677
The interest rates per annum at the reporting date for the lease AEaBRBRSHBENENRTNT
liabilities are as follows:
Group 2024 2023
TEE 20244 20234
% %
Lease payment on data centre FEPOMHEENR 4.75 4.90
Lease payment on motor vehicles SRERENR 4.55 4.55
Lease payment on office premise MAEYERENR 5.87 4.75

C-Link Squared Limited
198 Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

25. DEFERRED TAXATION

25. JEIEMIIA

2024 2023
20244 20234
Group RM’000 RM’000
KER FLEH ToEH
At beginning of the year REA) (484) (360)
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 9) R8s (H5F9) 173 (124)
At end of the year REXR (311) (484)
Presented after appropriate offsetting as follows: RBEZIRHEBRYTAOT
2024 2023
20244 20234
Group RM’000 RM’000
EME FLEHE SEH
Deferred tax assets RERIEEE 575 736
Deferred tax liabilities IEIERIEAE (264) (252)
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024412/531 H LF BT F/E

25. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued) 25. IRIEMRISE (@
The components and movements of deferred tax liabilities and RIBHEAVREEANELERESER
assets during the financial years prior to offsetting are as follows: BEMNAMS D REBWT
Deferred tax liabilities of the Group: AEBIRERESE
Property,
plant and Intangible Right-of-use
equipment assets assets Total
BE R E BREE FRESE st
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
FToER TER FoEH ToER
At 1 January 2024 7202451818 . 185 67 052
Recognised in profit or loss PRERNER 9 (38) 41 12
At 31 December 2024 120245128318 9 147 108 264
At 1 January 2023 120231 81H 21 480 14 705
Recognised in profit or loss PERNER @211) (295) 53 (453)
At 31 December 2023 120235128311 - 185 67 252
Deferred tax assets of the Group: FEBIRERBEESE
Provision for
Allowance  unrealised Other
Provision for expected foreign Contract  temporary
forbonus  creditloss  exchange liabilities  differences Total
BHEE FER Hth

TakeR  BERE  NERE  GhRR  UREE st
RM'000  RM'000  RM'000  RM000  RM000  RM'000

FLER  TOER  TYER TEER &R ER
At 1 January 2024 202451818 (240) (39 - (368) (89) (736)
Recognised in proftt or loss PEmRED 25 (64) (38) 126 12 161
At 31 December 2024 120245128311 (215) (103) (38) (242) 23 (575)
At 1 January 2023 120231818 (484) (40) (268) (241) (32) (1,089)
Recognised in proftt or loss RERER 244 1 268 (127) (7) 329
At 31 December 2023 120235128311 (240) (39 - (368) (89) (736)
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. &7
Number of
shares (‘000) HK’000
e E
(FB) FAET
Ordinary shares of one third SEREE=22Z—8WUHN

Hong Kong cent each BBk

Authorised: EE -
At 1 January 2023 2023F181H 1,500,000 15,000
Share subdivision (Note (i) B AR Al (B5EG) 3,000,000 =
At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 7220235128310 ~20245F181H

and 31 December 2024 K2024%12831H 4,500,000 15,000

Number
of shares
(‘000) HK’000 RM’000
& E
(FR2) FAT FLEH
Issued and fully paid: BETRHERE :
At 1 January 2023 720235 181H 800,000 8,000 4,233
Share subdivision (Note (i) AR 44 (Y 5E()) 1,600,000 - -
At 31 December 2023 and 2023E128318 &

1 January 2024 2024F181H 2,400,000 8,000 4,233
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note (ii)) Y EERt @~ = (MT5E(i) 474,251 1,581 956
At 31 December 2024 #42024FE12831H 2,874,251 9,581 5,189
Notes: FysE

0

Pursuant to a resolution passed by the Shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 9 June 2023, every one issued
and unissued ordinary share of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of
the Company was subdivided into three ordinary shares of one third
Hong Kong cent each. The share subdivision became effective on 13
June 2023.

On 26 January 2024, the Group acquired the entire equity interest in
Sun Join Investment Limited (“Sun Join”) for the consideration which
was satisfied by the issue of 474,251,497 shares of the Company
of an issue price of HK$1 per share. The issue of 474,251,497
shares of par value of one third Hong Kong cent each amounted to
approximately HK$ 1,580,838 had been accounted as share capital of
the Company and the remaining balance had been accounted as part
of the share premium of the Company.

0

(i

RIBREN2023FE6 90 RITHIREE
AAE LEBRRER AABRETS
REE.OIETHNE —REFITRAKHE
TEERERMAA=ZREREE=22
—BALAYE AR © BR 17 7 4B 72202346 4
13E %M e

R20245 18260  ZEBRBETES
BR13BT 8 1T474,251,497 R A< A B R 19
WERELRERRAR (MK (2
BERE LB U8 0 3517474,251 49718 &
BEE=2Z—8BLzZRMD «BAK
1,580,838 70 BIEAA A B R AT R -
MGRBEEIEARRBRMEEN—BD

FiR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR MR M EE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

27. RESERVE 27. {#fE
(a) Share premium (@) BDiEE
RM’000
°ER
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and 7R2023F 1810 ~2023%F 128310 &
1 January 2024 2024F181H 47,227
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 26(ii)) Y BE T B 2 =) (B 5F26(i)) 231,393
At 31 December 2024 #22024512H31H 278,620
(b) Merger reserve (b) BEftEEE
Merger reserve represents the excess of the aggregate of EHFEEENB A NEER
the paid-up capital of the subsidiaries over the consideration KiBFEBE M Coeus Systems
paid to effect the transfer of shares in Coeus Systems, Compugraphic MediakC-Link
Compugraphic Media and C-Link Malaysia. Malaysiab9 i (7 8 :2 Z FHCERN
i
(c) Exchange reserve (c) ERGHE
Exchange reserve represents the exchange differences on EREEHEERESINEENERE
translation of foreign operations. Ko
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n-F j?*ﬁ%l‘fj*I

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

28. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY 28. EARAMHAERS
TRANSACTIONS
Sale and purchase of goods and services BEEmmA R
In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere PREAFS IR R A Mt 5 IR R RA B 5 B
in the financial statements, the following significant transactions Hh > A S [ B H R 5 2 S E’J‘F?Lf%j(i‘é
between the Group and its related parties took place at terms SR EFEERE T HENERE

agreed between the parties during the financial years:

2024 2023

20244 20234

Group RM’000 RM’000

EME °ER LEH
Purchase of consumable from a related B B8 2 BlCompugraphic Forms

company, Compugraphic Forms Sdn. Bhd. Sdn. Bhd.BE B HFER (BEE()

(Note () 564 536
Rental payable to a director FENEERE - 84
Note: sk -

[0) It is a related party of the Group as a director of the Company is a [0) HR A& A B —%EE ACompugraphic
shareholder of Compugraphic Forms Sdn. Bhd.. Forms Sdn. Bhd BV R » iR AR EEH
REHG T ©
Information regarding outstanding balances arising from related E R REBPEBM A EENERE
party transactions as at reporting date are disclosed in Notes 19 BAERINE R BRI EE19k21
and 21.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

nv'F

BMBHwRMEE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

28. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY 28. EARMA RS @
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Compensation of key management personnel FTEEBEASHM
Key management personnel are those persons having the authority EEBAEEENEEEERETME
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities BRE - BEREFARERGTHNAS
of the Group either directly or indirectly including any directors. BiEEMES-
2024 2023
20244 20234
Group RM’000 RM’000
EME FLEE Fo&F
Fees wE 538 619
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e VERMEEYH = 520 5,923
Pension scheme contributions BAREEEHR 67 282
1,125 6,824
Included in total key management personnel TESEAESFHFWEBEEIE
compensation are:
Directors’ remuneration (Note 12) BB (rs12) 1,125 6,479
The related party transactions above fall under the definition of LA A R AN TR A E14AZEFR

204

connected transactions or continuing connected transactions in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and they are fully exempted
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with the requirements, where applicable, under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in respect of these transactions.

C-Link Squared Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

29.

30.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 20. ERTAENAFE
Financial instruments that are not carried at WIFRAFEFREHREAEAR
fair value and whose carrying amounts are TENSEALENESMIA
reasonable approximation of fair value
The following are classes of financial instruments that are not UTRUIFEATEINREEREEBER
carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are reasonable NEENGELMUEN SR TANER !
approximation of fair value:
Note
Fi s
Trade and other receivables B 5 Kk H MBI 19
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENTIE 21
Loans and borrowings BRI ER 23
Lease liabilities HEaE 24
The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities ZETHMEEREENRAEAATE
are reasonable approximation of fair values, either due to their HNEEAMUE RRAEGHAEE  HH
short-term nature or that they are floating rate instruments that are ABRREDPIARENEELTHF
re-priced to market interest rates on or near the reporting date or EREHFET A RARMNE BT R E
the impact of discounting is insignificant. Ko
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  30. Bi#RAMEEEIERER

AND POLICIES

The Group’s financial risk management policy is to ensure that
adequate financial resources are available for the development of
the Group’s operations whilst managing its financial risks, including
credit risk, interest risk and liquidity risk.

The Group operates within clearly defined guidelines that are
approved by the Board and the Group’s policy is not to engage in
speculative transactions.

The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s
exposure to the above-mentioned financial risks and the objectives,
policies and processes for the management of these risks.

AEENYHRABREEBRRSEERA
RUNVHEERTARETEBNERE
BR-AREEAMBZER QEEFEER
o FBRRKRABEZER -

FERRREF TR ENRRTERNIE
SIETERE BAEENBREIMER
W25 e

DU & B0 5 2t 7 = [ | 7 B 755 JEL B B9 i
ORkEEZFRBHER BRKERF-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR MR M EE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 30. BiF RS EIEBEREE @)

206

AND POLICIES (Continued)
(@) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss to the Group if a
customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to
meet its contractual obligations. The Group’s exposure
to credit risk arises principally from its receivables from
customers and deposits with banks and financial institutions.

The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with
creditworthy counterparties. Management has a credit policy
in place to control credit risk by dealing with creditworthy
counterparties and deposit with banks and financial
institutions with good credit rating. The exposure to credit risk
is monitored on an ongoing basis and action will be taken for
long outstanding debts.

Exposure to credit risk

At the reporting date, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each
class of financial assets recognised in the statements of
financial position.

Credit risk concentration profile

The Group’s customers are financial institutions which include
banks and insurance companies.

As at 31 December 2024, there was one customer (2023:
two customers) accounted for 24% (2023: 35%) of the total
net trade receivables.

C-Link Squared Limited
Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 30. B RS EIEEEREE @)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued) (@ EERE®

Credit risk concentration profile (Continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.

For the outsourced services, as the customers are mainly
financial institutions and insurance companies in Malaysia
with similar loss patterns, the provision rates are based on
days past due of the overall trade receivables relevant to
the outsourced services business. The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.

For the internet hospital and brick-and-mortar clinical
services, as the trade receivables are mainly the subsidies
to be received from the local government authorities for the
completed clinical services provided to patients, the provision
rates are based on the days past due of those receivables
when the clinical services provided to patients. The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions. The Management
is in their view that, the provision of trade receivables for the
internet hospital and brick-and-mortar clinical services is
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements.

EERBRERRR ()
BRSAMEERBFEERETR
B UGt BRAEEBE

MOMHRBMS  HREREES
BRAEADNEHEBERREAS
BEERHELNERER  WEBX
BERNRBEZERNEREES
WA ERRBFE - ZAE
REREE R MRS R URERSEH
MO SERBESFH - EFBERK
HRREHERTBANSERKE
Bife

MEBMEBRERBREPFZRHEM
SOHRESRRREIERLA
Bream R E R HFIZ REME M
75 BUF B U EN RO Rl BB R X
DERBBERHEFIZRBEEZS
BRUWHRIBENERRYTE Lt E
RERBERMEER > URERSH
MO SERBESFH - ERBERIK
HRREERRBEANSER KB
BR-EEERR DMEERKE
RFIZRBENEZEBYGRIRERE
HEEMBRROFBLFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘l-F j- ?ﬂ #E%B{jﬂhi

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 30. BiF RS EIEBEREE @)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued) (@) EERK @

208

Credit risk concentration profile (Continued)

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix
to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. For instance, if forecast economic
conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to
deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased
number of defaults in the financial IT services sector, the
historical default rates are adjusted. At every reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed. The
assessment of the correlation between historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
an estimate. The Group’s historical credit loss experience
and forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of customer’s actual default in the future.

Generally, trade receivables are written-off if past due for
more than two years and are not subject to enforcement
activity. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets
disclosed in Note 19. The Group does not hold collateral as
security.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 30. B RS EIEEEREE @)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued) (@ EERE®
Credit risk concentration profile (Continued) EERAKEFRR (@)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk UTHEHINBEAAEERE S EINERIE
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision EREBERENEERBNEN :
matrix:
Estimated Expected credit losses
total gross liEEEE
Expected  carrying amount Collectively Individually
credit loss rate at default assessed assessed Net balance

RHEE fhstiEs
BRE  HRESELE L3 o {ARISFHE BiPE

Group % RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
pie-30] SER LER ER EH
31 December 2024 2024E12A318

Neither past due nor impaired ERABTLAE 0.68% 10,602 7 5 10530
11030 days past due not impaired BEIZ0RELHE 117% 3603 4 - 3561
31 10 60 days past due not impaired AENE0RERRE 188% 2810 54 5 2816
6110 90 ays past due not impaired A1 20X BAAE 373% 95 3 = 929
More than 90 days past due not impaied B0 EEKHE 2001% 1,719 344 - 1,375
Total L 27.47% 19,759 548 - 19,211
31 December 2023 2023F12A318

Neither past due nor impafed RRABTRAE 057% 10277 5 - 10,218
1030 days past due not impaired BFEORELXAE 1.26% 2,85 3% 5 2819
31 10 60 days past due not impaired BENE0RERAE 2.00% 2,608 60 5 2638
61 t0 90 days past due not impaired A1 Z0RERRAE 2.96% 1282 3 5 1,244
More than 90 days past due not impaied AR HERFME 10.05% 3,064 308 5 2756
Total & 17.08% 20,176 501 - 19,675
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR MR M EE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 30. BiF R EIEBEREE @)

AND POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of the Group’s financial instruments will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk arising from
bank borrowings. The Group does not use derivative
financial instruments to hedge its exposure to interest rate
fluctuations. However, it is the Group’s policy to obtain the
most favourable interest rates available whenever the Group
obtains additional financing through bank borrowings.

The information on maturity dates and effective interest rates
of financial liabilities is disclosed in their respective notes.

Interest rate sensitivity

The Group’s term loans at floating rates were denominated
in Ringgit Malaysia. At the reporting date, if interest rates
had been 50 basis point higher/lower with all other variables
held constant, the Group’s loss before tax would have been
higher/lower, as follows:

(b)

IS

MEEBRAEEEEMTANAY
BERRKBEERERETH B RE
B MR BN P A SR BY R IRR ©

NEBMBARERTERNELENFE

Al RERITEMFRITESMT
Eﬁﬁﬁﬂ%&@ﬂwﬁﬁﬁ$$
EHBERE BRITHENESEEIN R

BN ESREBENER.
EHEsRafifERERMNEN
ERNEBHNEPKE-
FIEHRE
FERZIBINEABHERE
RBUERBDLERHENR

SHE EFREHMEERTTE
MIBERT  MFERLEHA TFES0
B £ & A A< & B B9 BR 70 A 5 1517
1®n, BT

2024 2023

20245 20234

Group RM’000 RM’000
TEE FoEH FLEH
Effect on loss before tax HERAEEZ 2 21 34

The assumed movement in basis points for the interest
rate sensitivity analysis is based on the currently observable
market environment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 30. B RS EIEEEREE @)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk € FEBEEK

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Group will encounter
difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they fall due.
The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from
mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities.

The Group’s funding requirements and liquidity risk are
managed with the objective of meeting business obligations
on a timely basis. The Group finances its liquidity through
internally generated cash flows and minimises liquidity risk by
keeping committed credit lines available.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the
Group’s liabilities at the reporting date based on contractual
undiscounted repayment obligations.

nBETRRIEAEEBLUETH
M BEFNRR AEEEY
ARSI ETRAREIERETMEE
RE@ERAHER -

FEBNESBERRADES AR
NEEEEKRFETEBES &
EEBEBNBELENRERERH
RBPETREES TEBRREH
R EEEERENRKREEHMEF
BRBEZRRK-

TREAN RS BHERSLRRM
REBETNAEEARINE
e

On demand
or within Two to
one year five years Total
BERH
B—EA “EREF st
Group RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
#%EH FoEH  TeEH  TeEH
At 31 December 2024 142024%12H31H
Financial liabilities ERAR
Trade payables and other payables B 5 EI R IE R H At
FETRIE 6,866 - 6,866
Loans and borrowings SRR ER 2,875 1,583 4,458
Lease liabilities GEN =S 498 515 1,013
10,239 2,098 12,337
At 31 December 2023 #20235F12831H
Financial liabilities EREE
Trade payables and other payables B Z R IE R HAM
FE(TFRIB 7,935 - 7,935
Loans and borrowings B ER 2,875 4,458 7,333
Lease liabilities HEaE 348 367 715
11,158 4,825 15,983
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR MR M EE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

31. CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 31. MEEHEENERES
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Total
liabilities
from
Lease Loans and financing
liabilities borrowings activities
BLEES
EEN
HEAaRA BRRER =Rk
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
TEH TEH TEH
Group (Note 24) (Note 23)
HEE (FizE24) (M$zE23)
1 January 2023 2023F1H1H 82 13,383 13,465
Interest paid [SYNEISS - 375) (375)
Repayment of loans and borrowings &8 & PR & - (6,559) (6,559)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEARE (182) - (182)
Additions AE 764 - 764
Interest expense FMERX 13 375 388
Amortisation of transaction costs R 5 A - 71 71
31 December 2023 2023F12H31H 677 6,895 7,572
1 January 2024 2024%F181H 677 6,895 7,572
Interest paid BAHE (45) 271) (316)
Repayment of loans and borrowings BB K& - (2,605) (2,605)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAa®R (504) - (504)
Additions RE 701 - 701
Interest expense FMEME 45 271 316
Acquisition of a subsidiary BT B ) 99 - 99
Currency translation difference FERERE (25) - (25)
31 December 2024 2024F12HA31H 948 4,290 5,238
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

32. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 32. WEHMEAR

2024 2023
20245 20234
RM’000 RM’000
TLEHE FToEE
Net cash inflow arising from WU TS EBEE Y
acquisition of: HEMAEEE -
— Sun Join Investment Limited - BBELEBRAA 176 -

Notes:

Details of the acquisition of Sun Join Investment Limited during the year
ended 31 December 2024 are as follows:

On 28 December 2023, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Ms. Zou Cheng (“Ms. Zou”) and Ms. Le Xian (“Ms. Le”") for
the acquisition of 100% equity interest in Sun Join Investment Limited (“Sun
Join”) for a consideration of HK$284,550,898 (equivalent to approximately
RM172,111,000) to Ms. Zou and for a consideration of HK$189,700,599
(equivalent to RM114,741,000) to Ms. Le. Completion of the acquisition took
place on 26 January 2024.

Sun Join is principally engaged in investment holding in the PRC and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in provision of internet hospital and
brick-and-mortar clinical services in the PRC. The acquisition of Sun Join
would allow the Group to diversify its businesses in the PRC.

In the opinion of the directors, the acquisition of Sun Join is considered
as a business combination as it further diversifies the Group’s business by
entering into the businesses of internet hospital and providing brick-and-
mortar clinical services. Through the acquisition of Sun Join, the Group has
gained access to a comprehensive range of services that encompass both
the digital and physical aspects of healthcare, and a ready-made platform is
provided to the Group to enter into the internet hospital market which allows
the Company to capitalize its growth potential in the PRC. Accordingly,
the directors concluded that the acquisition of Sun Join generated more
economic benefits to diversify the operating activities of the Group and
hence, has been accounted for using the acquisition method.

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Sun Join because the cost of
combination included a control premium addition, the consideration for the
acquisition effectively included amounts in relation to benefit of expected
synergies, revenue growth and future market development. These benefits
are not recognised separately from goodwill because they do not meet the
recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

Acquisition related costs are insignificant. Such costs have been excluded
from the consideration transferred and have been recognised as expense in
the current year and are included in “administrative expenses” line item in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

i}

ol

HZE2024F12831HILEE > BREWERER
BEERATNFEBNOT !

R20235F 128280  AEEEAPRE L+ (T§«
+)) Rérut (M4t )T UBEHE
MR ERERRAE (TE&HEI) B9100%
patE B M E%A284,550,898% 7T (IHE
R#H172,111,0009 F4) RELZTHRES
189,700,599 75 (FAE 114,741,000 F45)
IR BE S TE 2202441 H26H 5T A

BEFENTEREREER MENBEAF
TENTEREREDMERRRERFIZR
BoWBEERSAERSTICERPENE
}%0

EEIn BEBRERGAA—REBEH BB
HEBESEHPEBREF LR HERFIZR
BE—SZACERFEMER -BERE
BERER AEECESHEEFREREE
RENEZERE LA EREHR—ERMB
Ta UEABKERITTS  RAEEENF]
AERPENERE] - Fit > EEBRUER
BREELEBSEENGEUZ T EERAEEDN
REES BURBWEEEARR.

HEflAaEEfEEaE MR EEE
e Itih WEREEREERBGE N
WG R R 2R T 45 3 R & 4 BUABRAF) a2 BIRR
R ZENEIW TR E DR ERER 1A
HAR G RIEp B & ERRESRE

WHEEBM AL TER ZEMEACRDEE
REFHR LERAFEED B Wt A
FEEERERNMTHANIER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR MR M EE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

32. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

32. WEEKMEAE @

BT @ (48)

Assets and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition: RWERAREIACEEREE
RM’000
FoH
Assets BE
Properties, plant and equipment (Note 14) M BB R (EE14) 506
Right-of-use assets (Note 15) ERAEEE (fH:E15) 93
Inventories =78 423
Other receivables HhpEW I 20,400
Prepayment SEINENE] 459
Deposits e 48
Cash and bank balances RE& K IRTTAEER 176
Liabilities &aEEE
Other payables HpE(I I (2,507)
Contract liabilities (Note 22) BaE (Mst22) (2,384)
Lease liabilities (Note 24) HEaE (W5E24) (99)
Total identifiable net assets acquired FrUR BB AV BT 33 Bl 2B R SR (B AR 5 17,115

The other receivables acquired with a fair value of approximately
RM20,400,000 at the date of acquisition had gross contractual amount
of approximately RM20,400,000. No contractual cash flows from other
receivables are expected to be irrecoverable.

U B B EBA F{E4920,400,000% F 435 Z Fr UK
B E MU 2 A2 5 4 884 420,400,000
LERF - MERBHEMERTENEGNRER
il RN

214

Goodwill arising on acquisition WEREENES
RM’000
SEH
Consideration transferred, at fair value BAFEEERE
— Shares issued - BTN 232,349
Recognised amount of identifiable net assets acquired P r R EEFEZ ERRBTRE 17,115
Goodwill arising on acquisition (Note 17) R EENEE (fsE17) 215,234
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

32.

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
Net inflow on acquisition of Sun Join

An analysis of cash flows in respect of the acquisition of Sun Join is as
follows:

32. WHBMEB AT @)
EREC)

W B BT YR A R 8
ERWEERENRESREDNOT

RM’000

FoEH

Consideration paid in cash MREZAHRE &
Cash and bank balances acquired W BE 2 I & R SR T 4G BR 176
Net inflow of cash and bank balances RERIBITEFRAEER 176

Included in loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 is profit
of RM398,000 attributable to the additional business generated by Sun
Join. The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024 includes
RM4,619,000 generated from Sun Join.

Had the acquisition of Sun Join been completed on 1 January 2024, revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2024 of the Group would have been
RM96,990,000 and loss for the year ended 31 December 2024 of the Group
would have been RM23,102,000. The pro forma information is for illustrative
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results
of operations of the Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 January 2024, nor is it intended to be a
projection of future results.

IR B B A EE AR RO RB S £ FE R0 E F/898,0009 F
R AREEBEHE2024F12831HIEEEW
E518 o AEBE E2024F 12831 HIEFE WG
IR P EE 4 V4,619,000 HHF o

MWW EE R B EN2024F1B1B M Bl A
EBEEE2024F 1B 1HLEEENKRGDZE S
96,990,000% F 4 MAE BB E£20245F128
1B I FEME B A23,102,0009 - B
BEERMEERBRAR RO EMEALMHBER
2024F1B1H M AEEESHREINRE K&
BN A RBIEH B EENTER -
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BMBHwRMEE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

33. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

216

The Group’s capital management is to maintain a strong capital
base and safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and maintains an optimal capital structure, so as to
maximise shareholders value. Management reviews the capital
structure by considering the cost of capital and the risks associated
with the capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividend paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is the total
loans and borrowings as a percentage of total equity attributable
to the equity holders of the Company at the financial year end.
The Group’s policy is to maintain a prudent level of gearing ratio

33.

B EE
FEENEFAEESEERFRRNES
B REFAEERFEEENESD L
RRENBERRE UERREERAK
E-BEEBEBREREFTRETKRAERIE
BB R RS B AR -

REFNRABELARE 2ERHEHE
KN TFTRENREEE RARRFESE
T BTHRIHEEELUR D ER -

rERTREERRLEXREEELR A8
RRERBRGTRFEFEGERFEEAF

REFAABGZEDEENE DL &
EENBREEREENEESRBLE

that complies with debt covenant and regulatory requirement. The UREaEBEEMNGEERTE - RIREHR
gearing ratios at end of the reporting period are as follows: NEEBBLEERNT :

2024 2023

20244 20234

Group RM’000 RM’000

EM TER LEH

Loans and borrowings (Note 23) SR RER (H:E23) 4,290 6,895

Equity attributable to the equity holders of NABRERE ARG ER
the Company 290,485 81,222
Gearing ratio BESBELR 1.5% 8.5%

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital
management during the financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

34. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY 34. BAERNHBLR
Financial information of a subsidiary that the Company has material BEEARFEREGNARANBAR
non-controlling interests is provided below. BRI T o
Proportion of equity interest held by non- EERIFERERIFENREN
controlling interests el
Name Country of incorporation and operation 2024 2023
E2E SEMBEY I R E FRTE R R 20244 20234
Qingdao Yongbao People’s Republic of China 48.7805% 48.7805%
BFEKF FhE AR HEME
2024 2023
20245 20234
RM’000 RM’000
TEH S5
Accumulated balances of material BAIEIERERE N RHEEER
non-controlling interest
Qingdao Yongbao B BKIR 4,691 4,616
Profit allocated to material PEEERIEIZERERAEF
non-controlling interest
Qingdao Yongbao FEBKfR 320 831
The summarised financial information of the Group’s subsidiary AEEBEEAFEEREG ZNBRATZ
that has material non-controlling interests is set out below. This MHEERBEHRN T LEBERTBERA
information is presented based on amounts before inter-company Sl IHRTSREET ©
eliminations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BMBHwRMEE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

34. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 34. BRHEENMHEALRE @
Qingdao Yongbao BEXR
2024 2023
20245 20234
RM’000 RM’000
FLEH Fo5
Current assets MENE E 11,809 13,380
Non-current assets FERBEE 32 55
Current liabilities mENEE (2,225) (3,973)
Non-current liabilities FERBERE = =
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KRB B AELER 4,925 4,846
Non-controlling interests JEE R I = 4,691 4,616
Revenue W & 18,411 14,074
Expenses 53 (17,756) (12,371)
Profit for the year FRaH 655 1,703
Profit attributable to owners of the Company RNBER NELER 335 872
Profit attributable to the non-controlling interests ~ JF4% A& %5 FE (L & 7l 320 831
Profit for the year FRRH 655 1,703
Other comprehensive (loss)/income RABEEANEGEMEE
attributable to owners of the Company (B518) Wiz (256) 512
Other comprehensive (loss)/income 3!5}’“52*4*#%15 Hh2m
attributable to the non-controlling interests (B518) /& (245) 487
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year R EMEE (HE) /Wi (501) 999
Total comprehensive income attributable to ENUNSIEZ Z =N S R G b
owners of the Company 79 1,384
Total comprehensive income attributable to JFERERE MmN R AEEE
the non-controlling interests 75 1,318
Total comprehensive income for the year FRE2EWmIEEE 154 2,702
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests BIFERERSZORE - =
Net cash inflow from operating activities REEES 2 IREMAZEEE 275 391
Net cash inflow from investing activities REFBZIREMAFE 1 13
Net cash outflow from financing activities MEEH RS R FEE (133) =
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents RERIFASEEEEILMNFEE 143 404
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

35. COMMITMENTS 35. ik
2024 2023
20244 20234
RM’000 RM’000
LTEH To5E
Contracted for but not provided for in the BRINERRGERERE
consolidated financial statements: VEREE
In relation to the conversion of ERBRBEEFREAZEF L
an existing building to data centre - 1,282
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR MR M EE

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H I F/E

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 36. Z"AREFEIRRER

COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the REBEESEERBEAARATERRTEN
Company at the end of the reporting year is as follows: B
2024 2023
20245 20234
RM’000 RM’000
FLEHE TLEH
Assets BE
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBABNRE 235,597 16,440
Current assets REEE
Prepayments and other receivables BT RE M H A EUERIE 1,138 2,861
Cash and bank balances RS R IBITHEER 28 225
1,166 3,086
Total assets BELE 236,763 19,526
Equity and liabilities EmkalE
Current liabilities mEAaRE
Other payables and accruals HiEIE R Est &R 972 1,199
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEI I B ABRIE 3,548 2,411
Amounts due to holding companies B R ABRIE 11 11
4,531 3,621
Net current liabilities mEAaERE (3,365) (535)
Net assets BERE 232,232 15,905
Equity gy
Share capital [N 5,189 4,233
Reserve (Note) B (sH) 227,043 11,672
Total equity TR 4EER 232,232 15,905
Total equity and liabilities HE KR aEEE 236,763 19,526
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR E M IE RN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #4Z20244 12531 H IF BT FE/Z

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 36. Z=ARMEIRRAER @

COMPANY (Continued)
Note: P 5E
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RABMEBENHEZNT
Accumulated Share Exchange Total
losses premium reserve reserves
REtESE B E ER#E AR
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
FLEH FLEH SER SER
At 1 January 2024 #20245FE181H (38,886) 47,227 3,331 11,672
Total comprehensive loss SHEEEEE (4,880) 231,393 (11,142) 215,371
At 31 December 2024 §£2024%12831H (43,766) 278,620 (7,811) 227,043
At 1 January 2023 #2023FE181H (27,911) 47,227 2,321 21,637
Total comprehensive loss ERSIBEEE (10,975) - 1,010 (9,965)
At 31 December 2023 2023128318 (38,886) 47,227 3,331 11,672
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
RA TS 22

A summary of the audited consolidated results and assets and liabilities of A% B R F A EM B EE MK BIZIES 28

the Group for the past five financial years is set out below: REEREBEHENT .
RESULTS E$ 5
For the year ended 31 December
BE12831ALEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20234 20224 20214 20204F
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
FLEE TLEH ToEH FLEH ToEH
Revenue Wz 96,990 93,763 105,680 111,901 76,719
(Loss)/profit before tax FRFRRT (B518) &R (18,541) (1,465) 2,697 9,106 704
Income tax expense FRiSiRBZ (2,569) (1,953) (2,417) (4,561) (5,769)
(Loss)/profit for the year ER (F8) EF (21,110) (3,418) 280 4,545 (5,065)
(Loss)/profit for the year FEMEF A (B518)
attributable to: A
Equity holders of the RABREFEAN
Company (21,430) (4,249) (807) 2,726 (5,065)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREGE
At 31 December
#12831H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 20234 20224 20214 20204
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
FE5H FLEH FToTH FLEH FLoTH

Total assets HMEE 311,662 103,620 111,760 117,162 106,321
Total liabilities e s (16,486)  (17,782) (23,901) (29,288)  (25,404)
Total equity e 295,176 85,838 87,859 87,874 80,917
Total equity attributable to: FE(L AR
Equity holders of the RABREFEAN
Company 290,485 81,222 84,561 85,147 80,917
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DEFINITIONS
Ex

The following expressions shall, unless the content otherwise states, have X ZEFB BTSN U THAEREE TR ©

the following meanings:

“2021 Announcement”
M2021F A

“2022 Announcement”
F2022F A

“2023 Announcement”
F2023FE A

“2025 AGM”

F2025F B ERBERNE

“Acquisition”

¢ Eacl

NG

FAL

“Articles”

TR

“Audit Committee”

ZEnEEg)

“Board” or “Board of Directors”
g

“CG Code”

MEER AL

“Chief Executive Officer”
MTEABEL

the announcement of the Company dated 4 November 2021
AT HEA021FI11B4HZASE

the announcement of the Company dated 10 January 2022
AT HERA2022FE1 B10B 2 A%

the announcement of the Company dated 28 July 2023
AT HEAA20235F7H28B 2 Ay

the 2025 annual general meeting of the company to be held on Friday, 27
June 2025 at 20/F, Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong
Kong or any adjournment thereof

B it2025F6H27H (28 H) RSB E % (583358 B — 2018 42
THARAB2026FERRBFAEREAMEMES

the acquisition of 100% of the issued shares of Sun Join through the
Company'’s direct wholly-owned subsidiary, Core Squared Limited
BBRANTNEEEEWRB /AT Core Squared Limited! i B 2% 75100% B2 3%
TR

artificial intelligence
ATERE

the third amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of
the Company adopted on 9 June 2023, as amended from time to time
RBIN20235F6 A9 MBI 8 = RAIE ST RS B 5 AR B =5 72 KA K2 AR Bl
(BERBFHEET)

the audit committee of the Board
EERERZEEY

the board of Directors

Bxg

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules, as amended from time to time

EHRRIMERCIFF R X Ea TR (ETEES])

the chief executive officer of the Company
RRBUTIAER

C-Link Squared Limited
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DEFINITIONS
Ex

“Code Provision(s)”
I<FAMESZ

“Company” or “our Company”
TR AT

“Companies Act”
TABIA

“Companies Ordinance”
IVASIECCIN

“controlling shareholders”
MERG RS BR

“COVID-19 Pandemic” or
“COVID-19 Outbreak”

rCOVID-19 & 1E 18k
FCOVID-19 822

“Data Centre”

B¢ etV

“Directors”

&%)

“EPF”
MEEATRE

“Executive Director(s)”

MITESR)

“Flash Dragon”
I Flash Dragon |

C-Link Squared Limited
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the code provisions set out in the CG Code
B ASTRIPTEST AR

C-Link Squared Limited, an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability, the issued shares of which are listed and traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1463)

C-Link Squared Limited > NS EFMMIINEREERAS > HBE %
TROEBIMER ITREE MR 1463)

the Companies Act (2025 Revision) of the Cayman lIslands, as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

HEBERTEE (20255 E5THR) » T EHERT ~ i m U E 5 B
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BBERIBE22E R EHFRA SR REHERT ~ T LAE M7 TEL

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

BB EHRBIPEFRE
COVID-19 pandemic outbreak
COVID-19%& IB)R 3

the tier 3 compliant data centre
FE=RRENBIER O

the director(s) of the Company
KRBESR

Employees Provident Fund

EEREE

the executive director(s) of the Company

TRABRITES

Flash Dragon Company Limited, a company wholly-owned by Mr. F Ling
Flash Dragon Company Limited » —fBEF Lingft £ 2 EHE AN A F



DEFINITIONS
Ex

n o« » o«

“Group”, “our Group”,
s

We”,

M S R TR AP

“Hong Kong”
r&548)

“HK$”, “HKD” or “Hong Kong
Dollar(s)”

M7t

“Independent Non-Executive
Director(s)”

MBI IFRITES)

‘e
M7 s & AR

“Latest Practicable Date”
=% rl1THEA

“Jupiter Rain”
I Jupiter Rain |

“Listing Date”
rEmAE
“Listing Rules”
FE#RA

“Main Board”

MMy

the Company and its subsidiaries (or the Company and any one or more of
its subsidiaries, as the content may require) or, where the context so requires,
in respect of the period before the Company became the holding company
of its present subsidiaries, the present subsidiaries of the Company and the
businesses carried on by such subsidiaries or (as the case may be) their
respective predecessors

KRB REMBAS (HARDREEMN—KEAZHRWELF BFEANS
BEME) NN EME RARARAHRBAERBABNZER AR ZH]
A BEAABNRENB AR ZEWB LS ENESH R
BERME) REESBNRIZAE

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
REFERITHE

Hong Kong dollar(s), the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BRLEEEEHBET

the independent non-executive director(s) of the Company
KATVBIUIFRITES

information technologies

EGIYREs

22 April 2025, being the latest practicable date for the purpose of ascertaining
certain information contained in this annual report prior to its publication
202554 H22H > BIAFRTIEFIHEE SPFrEE TERNRER 1T HH

Jupiter Rain Company Limited, a company wholly-owned by Mr. W Ling
Jupiter Rain Company Limited > —f W Lingf/t £ 2 EH AN AE]

27 March 2020, the date on which dealings in the Shares on the Main Board

first commence
2020538270 BIRMERAHBEEREBN A

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

THREH EHRA EFEHERT AR st U EH th 5 e

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operating in parallel with GEM of
the Stock Exchange

R FTEFNR SR (T EERETS) - B P H A PAGEMIL 8 2
WATENE
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DEFINITIONS

E&

“MCO”
MTEEs <

“MICR Cheque”
TMICRY £

“Model Code”

ME#E PR

“MPF Scheme”

MRfES T8

“MPF Schemes Ordinance”

Rt st BIR A

“Mr. F Ling”
IF Lingdt 4

“Mr. S Ling”
'S Lingst4 |

“Mr. W Ling”
TW Ling#t 4 |

“Nomination Committee”
MESEEg)

»

“Non-Executive Director(s)

BDERITEE]

“PRC”
TR

“Prospectus”
AR =R

C-Link Squared Limited
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Movement Control Order
TEEm

magnetic ink character recognition cheque
WEKFRTHZE

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time

L HRAIMERCIFTE L BT AERETHES X ZWIRESTR (EREHE
ST TR E M R E2)

mandatory provident fund scheme

‘bt ATEEETE

MPF Scheme Ordinance, Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong, as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BBEG B4 RER T BRG] (EARHERT AR E M5 HEH)

Mr. Ling Sheng Hwang, the brother of Mr. W Ling and Mr. S Ling
Ling Sheng Hwang4t 4 » W Ling#E £ F1S Ling4c £ B9 77 28

Mr. Ling Sheng Shyan, a Non-Executive Director and the brother of Mr. W
Ling and Mr. F Ling
Ling Sheng Shyanst 4 » A IEBTTE ELARW Lingc £ FF Lingfc £ 72 5%

Mr. Ling Sheng Chung, the brother of Mr. F Ling and Mr. S Ling
Ling Sheng Chung?c 4 » F Ling#E 2 H1S LingZc 4RI 2 28

the nomination committee of the Board

EFERYEEY

the non-executive director(s) of the Company

ERBIFRTES

the People’s Republic of China
REARHEM

the prospectus of the Company dated 17 March 2020
AT HE#2020F3817 A BIRIRER



DEFINITIONS

FE
“Qingdao Yongbao”

5 &X1R]

“Remuneration Committee’
FNEE g

“Reporting Period”
MR EHA)

“RM” or “RM sen”

MeER < ER

“RMB”
TARYE)

“SaaS”
['SaaS |

“Senior Management”
EREERRE]

“SFO”
EcE=ySE iy 0N

“SGD”
)ik o

“Share Offer”
MR EEE

“Share Option Scheme”
MR T2

“Share(s)”
TRE15

“Shareholder(s)”
MR ER

Qingdao Yongbao Cloud Technology Co., Ltd.* (B BXxkREREBRAF),
a limited liability company established in the PRC on 22 September 2020, and
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company

BEXKRERFEARAE > —RIR202059822HEFE M I A REE
RED RAABINIEEENBRE

the remuneration committee of the Board

ExgFMEES

the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024512831HIEEE

Ringgit and Ringgit cents, the lawful currency of Malaysia
BRADEEEELETRH RS SR

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
FEEE G AR

Software as a service

RN AR S

the senior management of the Company
KRFIERERE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BRERIBSEBH KRG RG (EFEHERT RSB M A R ER)

Singapore dollar(s), the lawful currency of Singapore

FINBGEE G N TT

the Company’s share offer and placing
KRABRNBEKREE

the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 11 March 2020
AN BIFR20205E3 8 11 B ERANAY RE B 1 51 3|

ordinary shares of par value of one third Hong Kong cent each in the share
capital of the Company

KRBRAFEREE= 272 —BLNEER

the holder(s) of the Shares
aEST=DN
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DEFINITIONS
Ex

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

T A2 P 5 BBBERZMEBERAE

“subsidiary” has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 15 of the Companies Ordinance

=PI 1 BBEREEGIE15EE T AN ESE

“substantial shareholder(s)” has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

(FERER] 5 BB LmRETZANRE

“Sun Join” Sun Join Investment Limited

TR 7 #H REREARAR

“United States” the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas
subject to its jurisdiction

ESE] 5 ENREFRE HETABHEZHEAZEENMAME

“%” per cent

(% 5 B2t

* For identification purposes only
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